
 

Page 1 

 

 
AGENDA  
 
Meeting: Standards Committee 

Place: Kennet Room - County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, BA14 8JN 

Date: Thursday 18 April 2024 

Time: 10.30 am 
 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Lisa Alexander of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01722 434560 or email 
lisa.alexander@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines 01225 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
   Membership 
Cllr Paul Oatway QPM (Chairman) 
Cllr Allison Bucknell (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Andrew Davis 
Cllr Matthew Dean 
Cllr Ruth Hopkinson 

Cllr Bill Parks 
Cllr Sam Pearce-Kearney 
Cllr Pip Ridout 
Cllr Mike Sankey 
Cllr Derek Walters 

 

 
  Substitutes: 
Cllr Trevor Carbin 
Cllr Ernie Clark 
Cllr Howard Greenman 
Cllr Jon Hubbard 
Cllr Mel Jacob  

 

 

Cllr Gordon King 
Cllr Kathryn Macdermid 
Cllr Dr Nick Murry 
Cllr Graham Wright  

 

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


 

Page 2 

 

Recording and Broadcasting Information 
 

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast. At the 
start of the meeting, the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
recorded. The images and sound recordings may also be used for training purposes 
within the Council.  
 
By submitting a statement or question for a meeting you are consenting that you may be 
recorded presenting this and that in any case your name will be made available on the 
public record. The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public.  
 
Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they 
accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 
relation to any such claims or liabilities.  
 
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 
available on request. Our privacy policy can be found here.  

 
Parking 

 
To find car parks by area follow this link. The three Wiltshire Council Hubs where most 
meetings will be held are as follows: 
 
County Hall, Trowbridge 
Bourne Hill, Salisbury 
Monkton Park, Chippenham 
 
County Hall and Monkton Park have some limited visitor parking. Please note for 
meetings at County Hall you will need to log your car’s registration details upon your 
arrival in reception using the tablet provided. If you may be attending a meeting for more 
than 2 hours, please provide your registration details to the Democratic Services Officer, 
who will arrange for your stay to be extended. 
 

Public Participation 
 

Please see the agenda list on following pages for details of deadlines for submission of 
questions and statements for this meeting. 
 
For extended details on meeting procedure, submission and scope of questions and 
other matters, please consult Part 4 of the council’s constitution. 
 
The full constitution can be found at this link.  
 
Our privacy policy is found here. 
 
For assistance on these and other matters please contact the officer named above for 
details 
 

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2FecCatDisplay.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D14031&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634060435%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=tgq%2B75eqKuPDwzwOo%2BRqU%2FLEEQ0ORz31mA2irGc07Mw%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Fparking-car-parks&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634060435%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=FK5U7igUosMzWIp1%2BhQp%2F2Z7Wx%2BDt9qgP62wwLMlqFE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Fecsddisplayclassic.aspx%3Fname%3Dpart4rulesofprocedurecouncil%26id%3D630%26rpid%3D24804339%26path%3D13386&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634070387%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=dYUgbzCKyoh6zLt%2BWs%2F%2B6%2BZcyNNeW%2BN%2BagqSpoOeFaY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Feccatdisplayclassic.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D13386%26path%3D0&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634070387%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=VAosAsVP2frvb%2FDFxP34NHzWIUH60iC2lObaISYA3Pk%3D&reserved=0
https://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/democracy-privacy-policy


 

Page 3 

 

AGENDA 

 Part 1  

 Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public 

1   Apologies for Absence  

2   Minutes (Pages 5 - 8) 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 3 October 2023. 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee or Monitoring Officer. 

4   Chairman's  Announcements  

 To receive any announcements through the Chair. 

5   Public Participation  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. 
 
Statements 
If you would like to make a statement at this meeting on any item on this 
agenda, please register to do so at least 10 minutes prior to the meeting. Up to 3 
speakers are permitted to speak for up to 3 minutes each on any agenda item. 
Please contact the officer named on the front of the agenda for any further 
clarification. 
 
Questions  
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council 
received in accordance with the constitution. 
 
Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such 
questions in writing to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later than 
5pm on Thursday 11 April 2024, in order to be guaranteed of a written 
response. In order to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no 
later than 5pm on Monday 15 April 2024. Please contact the officer named on 
the front of this agenda for further advice. Questions may be asked without 
notice if the Chairman decides that the matter is urgent. 
 
Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 
 

6   Status Report on Code of Conduct Complaints (Pages 9 - 16) 

 To note the Status Report on the current position on Code of Conduct 
Complaints. 



 

Page 4 

 

7   New Complaint Handling Codes from the Local Government and Social 
Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) and Housing Ombudsman (HO) (Pages 17 - 84) 

 An overview on the implications of the two Ombudsmen’s new Complaint 
Handling Codes on the processes followed by the council when handling 
relevant complaints. 

8   Constitutional Changes (Pages 85 - 142) 

 The Committee is asked to consider the recommendations of the Constitution 
Focus Group relating to: 
 

 Part 11A – Corporate Parenting Panel 

 Part 5 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

 Part 7 – Cabinet Procedure Rules 

 Part 8 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
 

9   Annual Update (Pages 143 - 146) 

 To consider delegating authority to the Director, Legal and Governance, after 
consultation with the Chairman, to prepare an annual update to Full Council. 

10   Urgent Items  

 Any other items which the Chairman agrees to consider as a matter of urgency. 

 Part II  

 Item(s) during consideration of which it is recommended that the public should be 
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed 



 
 
 

 
 
Standards Committee 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 3 OCTOBER 
2023 AT KENNET ROOM - COUNTY HALL, BYTHESEA ROAD, TROWBRIDGE, 
BA14 8JN. 
 
Present: 
Cllr Paul Oatway QPM (Chairman), Cllr Allison Bucknell (Vice-Chairman), 
Cllr Andrew Davis, Cllr Matthew Dean, Cllr Ruth Hopkinson, Cllr Bill Parks, 
Cllr Pip Ridout, Cllr Mike Sankey, Cllr Iain Wallis, Cllr Derek Walters, Gordon Ball and 
Julie Phillips 
  

 
78 Apologies for Absence 

 
There were no apologies. 
 

79 Minutes 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 20 June 2023 were presented for 
consideration. 
 
It was; 
 
Resolved 
 
To approve and sign the minutes as a true and correct record.  
 

80 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

81 Chairman's Announcements 
 
The Chairman noted that two Standards Hearing Sub Committees were due to 
take place in the coming months.  
 

82 Public Participation 
 
The Chairman noted a request for information which had been submitted by Mr 
Gantlett which related to questions asked at the previous Standards meeting 
and an informal meeting the Chairman had attended earlier in the year. A 
response would be provided following the meeting.   
 

83 Wiltshire Council Annual Report Complaints 2022-23 
 
The Committee received the Annual Report on Complaints for the period of 
2022-23 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Key points regarding complaints activity compared with 2021-22: 
 

 12% increase in formal complaints on the previous year 

 Rise in complaints relating to the SEND and Inclusion Service 

 35% rise in complaints resolved as ‘service requests’. 

 A decrease in the percentage complaints resolved at Stage 1 

 43% increase in complaints resolved at Stage 2. 
 
The Committee noted the LGSCO’s Annual Review Letter 2022-23, provided as 
Appendix 1 to the report. There had been a 2% reduction in complaints upheld 
by the Ombudsman. A breakdown of all Ombudsman’s investigations and 
findings for the year were set out in the Letter.  
 
If a service area showed a sudden spike in complaints, the Director would be 
made aware.    
 
A number of actions would be put in place to improve the complaint handling 
procedure, including wider training across multiple service areas. In addition, a 
new IT system for complaints was currently being developed in house which 
would enable a wider range of data to be collated and used to analyse 
performance and speed the process up.  
 
Stage 1 complaints were responded to by the relevant service area. Stage 2 
was managed and responded to by the Complaints Team. 
 
The Committee commended the work of the Complaints team for the progress 
in dealing with complaints.  
 
It was; 
 
Resolved: 
 
To note the Wiltshire Council Annual Complaints Report 2022-23, and  
 
To note the actions to further improve the council’s complaints handling 
function over the next 12 months. 
 

84 Status Report on Code of Conduct Complaints 
 
The Committee received the status report, updating on the number and 
outcome of Code of Conduct complaints received since the last meeting on 20 
June 2023 and providing a summary of the complaints considered by the 
Assessment Sub-Committee (ASC). 
 
There had been 15 Code of Conduct complaints received by the Monitoring 
Officer during the period of 12 June – 22 September 2023. Of these, 3 were 
determined No Further Action (NFA) by the Monitoring Officer, 2 were 
determined NFA by the ASC, 1 was dismissed as ‘out of time’ by the Monitoring 
Officer, 9 were assessed by the ASC at its next meeting on 28 September 

Page 6



 
 
 

 
 
 

2023, 7 (linked complaints) of those were referred to Investigation and 2 were 
dismissed as no further action. There have been a further 5 complaints received 
since the publication of this agenda.  
 
The report included a new section which detailed the speed of the investigation 
process. An Investigation Report was aimed to be completed with 35 days, with 
a further 10 days allowed for the parties to comment.  
 
Previously the team had one officer to write Code of Conduct investigation 
reports, now all Complaints Officers had been trained to carry out the 
investigations, which it was believed would result in improved timescales.   
 
A table of current cases had been provided to the Chairman on 14 June, 12 
July, 8 August and 13 September 2023 for a dip sample of cases to be 
undertaken to enable oversight. 
 
The Monitoring Officer noted that as the Complaints team was relatively small, 
he had taken the judgement to give priority to complaints submitted by 
members of the public about council services over those submitted about 
elected members.  
 
It was noted that one complaint which had exceeded the target timescales for 
completion was being investigated externally, which showed that additional 
external resources did not always quicken the procedure and incurred a cost to 
the council. It was also recognised that many of the Complaints received were 
complex in nature and therefore it was not possible to process every complaint 
in line with set timescales.  
 
After a discussion, it was, 
 
Resolved: 
 
To note the position on Code of Conduct Complaints. 
 

85 Urgent Items 
 
There were no urgent items.  
 

 
 
 

(Duration of meeting:  2.00 - 2.40 pm) 
 

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Lisa Alexander of Democratic 
Services, direct line 01722 434560, e-mail lisa.alexander@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
Press enquiries to Communications, direct line 01225 713114 or email 

communications@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 

Page 7

mailto:communications@wiltshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

 

Wiltshire Council 
 
Standards Committee 
 
18 April 2024 
 

 
Code of Conduct Complaints –  

Status Report 
 

Purpose 
 
1. To provide an update on the Code of Conduct complaints received by the council since 

the Committee’s last meeting. 
 
Statutory background 

 
2. All local authorities are required, by s.28 Localism Act 2011, to adopt a code of 

conduct for their members. All such codes are required to cover the following: 

 The principles of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, 
openness, honesty and leadership 

 The registration and disclosure of pecuniary and other interests. 
 

3. Wiltshire Council, as a principal authority, is required to have in place arrangements 
for investigating and determining allegations that a member of the Council, or a 
member of a town or parish council within the council area, has failed to comply with 
the relevant code of conduct. 

 
Council Code of Conduct procedures 
 
4. Wiltshire Council’s arrangements for considering complaints about alleged code of 

conduct breaches are set out in Protocol 11 to the Constitution, the procedure having 
changed with effect from 1 January 2020.  

  
5. On receipt of such a complaint the Monitoring Officer will consider the complaint and, 

if appropriate, prepare a report for the Assessment Sub-Committee (ASC). The 
Monitoring Officer (MO) may at this point decide not to take any further action on a 
complaint where, on the available information, it appears to be trivial, vexations, 
malicious, politically motivated or ‘tit for tat’, and it would not be in the public interest, 
including particularly the efficient use of resources, to proceed. 

 
6. Where the Monitoring Officer determines that there is sufficient evidence to suggest 

that a breach may have occurred, code of conduct complaints are determined by the 
Assessment Sub-Committee, following receipt of the report from the Monitoring 
Officer. The Assessment Sub-Committee may conclude that no further action should 
be taken, it may refer the complaint for investigation, or it may recommend that an 
alternative resolution be explored with the parties. 

 
7. If the Assessment Sub-Committee determines that a formal investigation should be 

undertaken, an Investigating Officer is appointed by the Monitoring Officer. If the 
recommendation of the Investigating Officer is that there has been a substantial 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 

 

breach of the Code of Conduct, and that alternative resolution is not appropriate, then 
the Monitoring Officer, after consultation with the Independent Person, will refer the 
matter to a Standards Hearing Sub-Committee.  

 
8. The Standards Hearing Sub-Committee will conduct a hearing into the complaint to 

determine whether there has been a breach of the Code and, if so, what sanctions, if 
any, should be applied to the Subject Member (the councillor who is the subject of the 
complaint). If the Subject Member is a member of a town or parish council, the Hearing 
Sub-Committee’s decision regarding sanctions will be in the form of a 
recommendation to the relevant council.    

 
9. There is no right of appeal of the decision of the Assessment Sub-Committee or the 

Hearing Sub-Committee. However, parties are able to ask the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman to review whether the council has followed its procedures 
correctly.  

 
10. The Standards Committee has oversight of the operation of the procedures for dealing 

with Code of Conduct complaints as well as a general responsibility to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct by elected and co-opted members and officers. 

 
Summary of committee meetings 
 
11. The last Standards Committee meeting took place on 3 October 2023.  Since that 

meeting (and at the time of publication) there have been: 

 3 meetings of the Standards Assessment Sub-Committee; 

 3 meetings of the Standards Hearing Sub-Committee.   
 

12. The next meeting of the Standards Assessment Sub-Committee is scheduled for 14 
May 2023. 
 

Summary of complaints received since 23 September 2023 (following 
publication of the 3 October 2023 meeting agenda) 
 
13. Between 23 September 2023 and 8 April 2024, the Monitoring Officer received 

44 complaints under codes of conduct: 

 4 were unable to proceed due to insufficient information being provided 
by the Complainant; 

 2 were withdrawn by the Complainant; 

 31 were determined as requiring No Further Action by the Monitoring 
Officer; 

 1 was dismissed as ‘out of time’ by the Monitoring Officer; 

 1 was resolved through Informal Resolution; 

 2 were determined as requiring No Further Action by the Assessment 
Sub-Committee; 

 3 were referred to the Monitoring Officer for Investigation, by the 
Assessment Sub-Committee. 

 
14. The Monitoring Officer can determine No Further Action under paragraph 4.6 of 

Protocol 11 – Arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct Complaints. This 
is applied where the Monitoring Officer determines that, on the information 

Page 10



 

 

available, the complaint appears to be trivial, vexatious, malicious, politically 
motivated or ‘tit for tat’, and it would not be in the public interest for further action 
to be taken, including particularly the efficient use of resources. 
 

15. Chart 1 shows the code of conduct complaints received since 2019: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Types of complaint 

 
14. The 44 code of conduct complaints received during the reported timeframe can be 

broken down as follows (some containing multiple allegations):  
 

 15 were against parish councillors: 

 9 x conduct on social media  

 3 x lying 

 3 x comments in an email/message  

 3 x non-disclosure of interests 

9

5

18

10

13

26

13

20

8

12

17

16

6

8

6

16

9

11

15

24

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24

Chart 1 - Code of Conduct complaints received 2019-24

Quarterly avg: 11 
2019-20 total: 42 

Quarterly avg: 18 
2020-21 total: 72
  

Quarterly avg: 13 
2021-22 total: 52 

Quarterly avg: 9 
2022-23 total: 36 
 
 

Quarterly avg: 15 
2023-24 total: 59 

Page 11



 

 

 3 x making derogatory remarks 

 Disclosure of personal data 

 Trespass 

 Not replying to emails 

 Refusing to address parishioner concerns 

 Making threats 

 Bullying a fellow councillor 
 

 

 12 were against town councillors 

 6 x conduct on social media 

 2 x inappropriate comments in a meeting  

 Physical altercation 

 Refusing to address parishioner concerns 

 Self-referral complaint 

 Non-disclosure of interests 
 

 7 were against city councillors 

 6 x conduct on social media 

 Inappropriate comments in an email 
 

 10 were against unitary councillors 

 4 x inappropriate comments on internet 

 Inappropriate comments in a local newsletter 

 Non-disclosure of an interest 

 Bad-mouthing complainant to a neighbour 

 Leaving a meeting early 

 Slander 
 

15. Of the three complaints referred by the Assessment Sub-Committee for investigation, 
all three related to comments made on social media. 

 
Breaches of the Code of Conduct  
 
16. Of the three complaints where the Investigating Officer concluded that a breach of the 

Code of Conduct had occurred, the Hearing Sub-Committee reached the findings and 
recommended the sanctions below. Minutes of Hearing Sub-Committee meetings are 
available to view on the council website here. 

 
Hearing 1 
 
Findings: 
 
2.1 I do not bully any person – BREACH  
 
5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute – BREACH 
 
8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or determination – NO 
BREACH 

 

Page 12

https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=1142


 

 

 Recommended sanctions: 
 

a) That the Parish Council arrange training for the Subject Member regarding Code 
of Conduct matters, in particular relating to the role of a Councillor and when they 
could be considered acting in an official capacity, and regarding interactions with 
the media. 

b) That the Subject Member not be appointed to or remain on any planning related 
sub-committees or working groups established by the Parish Council, until such 
training has taken place. 

c) That the Parish Council publish the findings of the Hearing Sub-Committee, in the 
form of the decision notice, in the minutes of the next Parish Council meeting. 

 
Hearing 2 

 
Findings: 

 
5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute – BREACH 

 
Recommended sanctions: 

 
Noting the mitigating factors in this case, the Sub-Committee recommended no 
sanctions.  

 
  Hearing 3 
 

Findings: 
 

1.1 He/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person would regard as 
respectful – BREACH 

 
2.1 He/she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard as bullying 
or intimidatory – BREACH  

 
Recommended sanctions: 

 
a) To recommend the Censure of the Subject Member. 
b) To recommend the Hearing Sub-Committee minutes be published for information 

on the next Parish Council meeting agenda. 
 

Complaint resolution speed 
 
16. Under Protocol 11 – Arrangements for Dealing with Code of Conduct Complaints, the 

council aims to assess all such complaints within 5 working days of receiving the 
subject member’s response. This is a challenging target as complaints can be 
complex, require legal input and include a large amount of background information 
that must be reviewed.  
 

17. During the period reported, 32 complaints were assessed by or on behalf of the 
Monitoring Officer (excluding those where insufficient evidence was provided) and 
this took an average of 5.8 working days. 

 

Page 13



 

 

18. Complaints referred to Assessment Sub-Committee cannot usually meet the 5 
working day timescale for assessment due to the need for a scheduled meeting. 
However, the council endeavours to inform complainants and subject members that 
the complaint will be assessed in this way, and of the Sub-Committee meeting date, 
as quickly as possible. During the period reported, 5 complaints have been assessed 
or allocated for assessment by the Assessment Sub-Committee, with the parties 
informed of the Assessment Sub-Committee meeting date after an average of 1.6 
working days from the Subject Member’s response being received or from the expiry 
of the deadline for providing one. 

 
19. All of the complaints assessed by Assessment Sub-Committee were considered at 

the next scheduled meeting after the Subject Member’s response was received 
(taking into account the required notice period regarding agenda publication). 
 

20. 3 complaints were referred for investigation by the Assessment Sub-Committee 
during this period.  

 
21. Under Protocol 11, the council aims to complete Code of Conduct investigations 

within a total of 45 working days. This comprises 35 working days for the investigation 
report and a further 10 working days for the parties to submit their comments on it. 
The table below sets out the time taken for investigations commenced or completed 
since the last meeting: 

 
Complaint 
reference 
(completion 
date) 

Investigator 
assigned 
 
Target: 5 
working days 
 

Investigator’s 
report sent to 
parties   
 
Target: 35 
working days 
 

Investigator’s 
report sent to 
Monitoring 
Officer 
 
Target: 10 further 
working days 
 

Investigator’s 
report 
completed – 
total 
 
Target: 45 
working days 

COC144873 
(27 Sep 2023) 
 

6 82 9 91 

COC145647 
(19 Sep 2023) 
 

6 48 5 53 

COC146700 
(9 Jan 2024) 
 

3 37 10 47 

COC149256 
(5 April 2024) 
 

4 42 6 48 

COC150777 
(in progress) 
 

6 In progress - - 

 

 
22. The Committee will note that completing investigations within the prescribed timescales 

has been challenging. This is due to their complexity, together with wider work 
pressures. Overall, the trajectory is positive with timescales for completion gradually 
reducing. As reported to the previous meeting, the Complaints team has significantly 
improved performance in completing corporate complaint investigations within set 
timescales, rising from 60% completed on time in 2021-22 to 92% in 2023-24.  

 

Page 14



 

 

Dip Sampling 
 

17. A table of current cases was provided to the Chairman of Standards Committee on 
15 January 2024. The next session is scheduled for 8 May 2024. 

 
Proposal 

 
18. The Committee are asked to note the current position on code of conduct complaints. 

 
 

Perry Holmes, Director of Legal & Governance and Monitoring Officer 

 
 
Report Author: Henry Powell, Democracy and Complaints Manager, 
complaints@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Appendices 
 
None. 

Page 15

mailto:henry.powell@wiltshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

       
Wiltshire Council 
 
Standards Committee 
 
18 April 2024 
 

 
New Complaint Handling Codes from the Local Government and Social 

Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) and Housing Ombudsman (HO) 
 
Purpose 
 
1. To set out the implications of the two Ombudsmen’s new Complaint Handling 

Codes on the processes followed by the council when handling relevant 
complaints.  

 
Background 
 
2. In February 2024, the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

(LGSCO) and the Housing Ombudsman (HO) each published new Complaint 
Handling Codes. These are attached at Appendix 1 and 2 respectively. 

 
3. The two Ombudsman originally consulted on the introduction of a single joint 

complaint handling code. However, following feedback from consultees 
regarding the two Ombudsman’s different powers, they have introduced similar 
but separate Codes that share the same approaches in key areas such as 
response times, timeliness and oversight.  

 
4. The HO’s 2024 Code became statutory from 1 April 2024, meaning that 

member landlords are legally obliged to follow its requirements.  
 

5. The LGSCO’s 2024 Code is issued as “advice and guidance” for local councils 
in England under section 23(12A) of the Local Government Act 1974. This 
means that councils must consider the Code when developing complaint 
handling policies and procedures and when responding to complaints. If a 
council decides not to follow the Code, the LGSCO would expect it to provide 
a good reason for this. 

 
6. The LGSCO encourages councils to adopt the Code as soon as they are able 

to do so, but it will start considering the Code as part of its processes from April 
2026 at the earliest. This is to give councils the opportunity to adopt the Code 
into working practices following feedback from councils during the consultation. 

 
7. The new Codes do not apply to complaints processed under the statutory 

adult social care or statutory children’s complaints procedures, which have their 
own requirements set out in legislation. 

 
Main Considerations  
 
8. The council already has a single Complaints Procedure (Protocol 6) that covers 

complaints about the council’s actions as a local authority – which are overseen 
by the LGSCO – and the council’s actions as a landlord – which are overseen 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7

https://www.lgo.org.uk/
https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/


 

 

by the HO. This involves two stages, with a response to the complaint provided 
by the relevant service at Stage 1, and an independent investigation 
undertaken by the Complaints team at Stage 2. Following this, the complainant 
is able to request a review by the relevant Ombudsman if they remain 
dissatisfied. 
 

9. In 2022, the council’s Complaints Procedure was amended by Full Council to 
align with new requirements set out in the HO’s Complaint Handling Code at 
the time. The latest HO Code has changed relatively little since then. As such, 
by virtue of the changes made in 2022, the council is now in a strong position 
to meet the requirements of the new LGSCO and HO Codes.  

 

10. A table setting out the changes to this council’s complaints processes required 
for full compliance with the new Codes is included at Appendix 3. Most of the 
changes involve relatively small adjustments to our existing practices. 

 

11. The most significant change arrives in the LGSCO’s new Code and is a 
reduction in the time permitted for responding to complaints at both Stages 1 
and 2. This change provides new consistency between the LGSCO and HO 
Codes. The changes are set out below in bold: 
 
 

Complaint stage Wiltshire Council 
current practice 
 

New LGSCO Code 
time limit  

Complaint 
acknowledgement 
 

2 working days 5 working days 

Stage 1 response 
 

20 working days 10 working days 

Stage 1 extension 
(reasons required) 
 

10 working days 10 working days 

Stage 2 response 
  

30 working days 20 working days 

Stage 2 extension  
(reasons required) 

 

20 working days 20 working days 

 
12. Under the new LGSCO Code, services will therefore have 10 fewer working 

days to provide complaint responses at Stage 1. The Complaints team will see 
the same reduction for completing their independent investigations at Stage 2.  

 
13. Under the new Codes, the timescale for responding to complaints only 

commences once the complaint has been acknowledged, with 
acknowledgment required within 5 working days. At present, the council treats 
response timescales as commencing from the date of receipt. 

 

14. To give an indication of past performance, in 2023-24: 

 59% of the council’s Stage 1 responses were provided within the current 
total timescale of 30 working days (including extension).  

 92% of Stage 2 responses were provided within the current total 
timescale of 40 working days (including extension). 

Page 18



 

 

 
15. All of the more minor changes required under the new Codes can be 

implemented immediately.  However, the council must decide when it will 
reduce its timescales for responding to complaints falling under the LGSCO, as 
set out under paragraph 11. 
 

16. The LGSCO has indicated that there is no requirement to implement its new 
Code in full until April 2026 at the earliest, though it encourages councils to do 
so as early as possible. Once the timescales are “in force”, councils will be 
expected to comply with them or explain why they are not doing so. Examples 
provided by the LGSCO of when non-compliance is permissible relate to 
temporary situations such as industrial action or a cyber-attack. It will therefore 
not be feasible to be non-compliant with the LGSCO’s Code on a long-term 
basis. 

 
17. Having considered the operational impacts, the council’s Corporate Leadership 

Team (CLT) considers that implementation of the new timescales in Autumn 
2024 will allow appropriate time for the promotion of the changes across the 
council and for services to adapt their processes and resources accordingly. 
This lead-in time will maximise the council’s ability to meet the new timescales 
consistently once they are introduced, minimising unnecessary frustration for 
complainants. Services will be supported to meet the new requirements 
through guidance and training on good complaint handling practices. 
Implementing the change far in advance of it becoming a formal requirement 
(in April 2026) demonstrates best practice and reflects the council’s 
commitment to valuing complaints. It is therefore proposed that Standards 
Committee receives an amended Protocol 6 – Complaints Procedure, reflecting 
the new complaint response timescales, on 3 October 2024, and recommends 
its adoption by Full Council on 21 October 2024. 

 

18. The table below provides an indication of the current complaint response 
timescales in place at other local authorities. The number that meet the 
requirements set out in the new Codes will inevitably increase over the coming 
months and years. It is evident that this council’s current response timescales 
are slightly higher than average. However, anecdotal evidence suggests that 
many councils are further behind in achieving compliance with the new Codes 
more generally: 

 

Council 
 

Stage 1 Stage 2 
 

 (not including any extension) 

BANES 15 20 

Cornwall 10 20 

Devon 20 20 

Dorset 20 - 

Durham 10 unknown 

Gloucester 20 25 

Hampshire 
 

20 unknown 

Shropshire 6 weeks 16 weeks 

Somerset 10 20 

Wiltshire 20 30 

Page 19



 

 

 
19. The HO’s new Code requires the following complaint response timescales, with 

the single change required to this council’s procedure in bold: 
 

Complaint stage Wiltshire Council 
current practice 
 

New HO Code time 
limit  

Stage 1 response 
 

20 working days 10 working days 

Stage 1 extension 
(reasons required) 
 

10 working days 10 working days 

Stage 2 response 
  

20 working days 20 working days 

Stage 2 extension  
(reasons required) 

 

10 working days 20 working days 

 
20. There is therefore an increase to the extension permitted for responding to 

complaints under the HO at Stage 2. As with the changes required by the 
LGSCO’s Code, it is proposed that this change is made by Full Council in 
October 2024. 
 

Proposal 
 

21. To note the new Complaint Handling Codes published by the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) and Housing 
Ombudsman (HO) and the associated changes required to the council’s 
complaint handling practices. 
 

22. To note that the council’s current complaint handling processes are already 
largely compliant with the new Codes and that all the changes required – 
excepting those relating to complaint response timescales – are being actioned 
immediately. 

 
23. At its 3 October 2024 meeting, Standards Committee to consider an amended 

Protocol 6 – Complaints Procedure reflecting the complaint response 
timescales required under the new LGSCO and HO Codes (set out at 
paragraphs 11 and 19) and to recommend these for adoption by Full Council 
on 21 October 2024. 

 
 
Perry Holmes, Monitoring Officer and Director for Legal and Governance 
 

 
Report Author: Henry Powell, Democracy and Complaints Manager, 
complaints@wiltshire.gov.uk   
 
Date of report: 10 April 2024 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 LGSCO Complaint Handling Code 2024 

Page 20

mailto:complaints@wiltshire.gov.uk


 

 

 
Appendix 2 Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code 2024 
 
Appendix 3  Changes to the council’s processes required by the LGSCO and HO 

Complaint Handling Codes 2024 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Date published: February 2024
Date applicable: April 2024

Complaint Handling Code
Page 23



Complaints Handling Code v1.0Complaints Handling Code v1.0

Contents

Introduction	 3

The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s  
powers and approach	 4

The Complaint Handling Code	

1.  Definition of a service request and complaint	 5

2.  Exclusions	 6

3.  Accessibility and awareness 	 7

4.  Complaint handling resources	 8

5.  The complaint handling process	 9

6.  Complaints stages	 10

       Stage 1	 10

       Stage 2 	 11

7.  Putting things right 	 12

8.  Performance reporting and self-assessment	 13

9.  Scrutiny & oversight: continuous learning  
     and improvement 	 14

Appendix A: Self-assessment	 15

Page 24



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 1

Introduction

Good complaint handling requires effective 
procedures and well-trained staff alongside a 
positive complaints culture that enables those 
procedures to achieve maximum impact. This 
code sets out what an organisation should do 
procedurally to handle complaints. 

Organisations should embrace complaints 
through increased transparency, accessibility, 
and complaint handling governance. 
Demonstrating that individuals are at the heart 
of its service delivery and good complaint 
handling is central to that.

Some organisations see complaints as a form 
of negative feedback. However, there are many 
benefits to be gained from having an effective 
and efficient complaints process:

	> Good complaint handling promotes 
a positive relationship between an 
organisation and service users.

	> Complaints allow an issue to be resolved 
before it becomes worse. Those issues 
not resolved promptly can take significant 
resource and time to remedy.

	> Involvement in complaint resolution 
develops staff ownership, decision-making 
and engagement. 

	> Complaints provide senior staff with 
essential insight into day-to-day 
operations, allowing them to assess 
effectiveness and drive a positive 
complaint handling culture.

	> Data collected about complaints can be 
analysed and used to inform key business 
decisions to drive improvement in service 
provision. 

The Complaint Handling Code (‘the Code’), 
sets out a process for organisations that will 
allow them to respond to complaints effectively 
and fairly. The purpose of the Code is to enable 
organisations to resolve complaints raised 
by individuals promptly, and to use the data 
and learning from complaints to drive service 
improvements. It will also help to create a 

positive complaint handling culture amongst 
staff and individuals. 

The Code will act as a guide for individuals 
setting out what they may expect from an 
organisation when they make a complaint. 
Organisations should seek feedback from 
individuals in relation to their complaint handling 
as part of the drive to encourage a positive 
complaint and learning culture.

Organisations should have a single policy for 
dealing with complaints covered by the Code. 

The principles, process and timescales in this 
Code are aligned with the Complaint Handling 
Code issued by the Housing Ombudsman. This 
means that organisations who fall under the 
jurisdiction of both Ombudsmen should be able 
to provide a co-ordinated complaint handling 
process across services covered by both 
Codes. 

Page 25



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 2

The Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman’s powers and approach
The Code is issued under the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s 
powers to provide “guidance about good 
administrative practice” to organisations under 
section 23(12A) of the Local Government Act 
1974. For the Local Government and Social 
Care Ombudsman, this Code constitutes 
important advice and guidance to councils, 
rather than instructions. 

We have issued the Code for local councils 
in England. Other organisations in the 
Ombudsman’s jurisdiction may find the Code 
helpful in setting out good practice. 

We can recommend an organisation takes 
action to improve services or provide a 
personal remedy where it finds fault causing 
injustice to an individual or group of individuals. 
Unlike the Housing Ombudsman, we have 
no specific responsibility for monitoring 
compliance with the Code in addition to our role 
investigating complaints of maladministration 
and service failure.

Using the Code
We expect local councils to carefully consider 
the Code when developing policies and 
procedures. Where an organisation decides 
that it will depart from the Code, it should 
ensure local decision-making processes have 
been properly followed. 

We may make a finding of maladministration 
where local councils’ policies and procedures 
depart from the Code without sufficient 
explanation. We may also make a finding of 
maladministration where a local council, without 
good reason, does not meet the standards in 
the Code when responding to an individual 
complaint. 

Where an organisation is unable to comply with 
its policies and procedures when dealing with 
an individual complaint, the individual  should 
be provided with a suitable explanation and 
signposted to the Ombudsman. 

The Code should be considered along 
with other guidance issued by the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman.  

The Code does not replace any existing 
statutory complaint processes such as The 
Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure 
(England) Regulations 2006 or Local Authority 
Social Services and National Health Service 
Complaints (England) Regulations 2009.

Page 26



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 3

The Complaint Handling Code

1.	 Definition of a service request and complaint
1.1	 Effective complaint handling enables 

individuals to be heard and understood. 
The starting point for this is a shared 
understanding of what constitutes a 
service request and what constitutes a 
complaint. In most cases organisations 
should be able to put things right through 
normal service delivery processes.

1.2		 A service request may be defined as: 

		 ‘a request that the organisation provides 
or improves a service, fixes a problem or 
reconsiders a decision.’

1.3	 This provides organisations with 
opportunities to resolve matters to an 
individual’s satisfaction before they 
become a complaint. 

1.4	 A complaint may be defined as:

		 ‘an expression of dissatisfaction, 
however made, about the standard of 
service, actions or lack of action by the 
organisation, its own staff, or those acting 
on its behalf, affecting an individual or 
group of individuals.’ 

1.5	 An individual should not have to use the 
word ‘complaint’ for it to be treated as 
such. A complaint that is submitted via a 
third party or representative should still 
be handled in line with the organisation’s 
complaints policy.

1.6	 Organisations should recognise the 
difference between a service request and 
a complaint. This should be set out in their 
complaints policy.  

1.7	 Service requests are not complaints 
but may contain expressions of 
dissatisfaction. Organisations should have 
the opportunity to deal with a service 
request before a complaint is made. 
A complaint may be raised when the 
individual expresses dissatisfaction with 
the response to their service request, 
even if the handling of the service request 
remains ongoing. An organisation should 
not stop its efforts to address the service 
request if the individual complains. 

1.8	 Service requests should be recorded, 
monitored and reviewed regularly. 

Page 27



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 4

2.	 Exclusions
2.1	 An organisation should accept a complaint 

unless there is a valid reason not to do so. 
If the organisation decides not to accept 
a complaint, it should be able to evidence 
its reasoning. Each complaint should be 
considered on its own merits.

2.2	 Organisations should accept complaints 
referred to them within 12 months of 
the issue occurring, or the individual 
becoming aware of the issue. 
Organisations should consider whether 
to apply discretion to accept complaints 
made outside this time limit where there 
are good reasons to do so. 

2.3	 A complaints policy should set out the 
circumstances in which a matter might not 
be considered or escalated. Organisations 
should ensure that these are reasonable, 
and should not deny individuals access to 
redress. 

2.4	 If an organisation decides not to accept 
a complaint, an explanation should be 
provided to the individual setting out the 
reasons why the matter is not suitable for 
the complaints process and the right to 
take that decision to the Ombudsman. 

2.5	 Organisations should not take a blanket 
approach to excluding complaints; 
they should consider the individual 
circumstances of each complaint.

Page 28



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 5

3.	 Accessibility and awareness 
3.1	 Organisations should make it easy for 

individuals to complain by providing 
different channels through which they can 
make a complaint. Organisations must 
consider their duties under the Equality 
Act 2010 and anticipate the needs and 
reasonable adjustments of individuals 
who may need to access the complaints 
process. 

3.2	 Individuals should be able to raise their 
complaints in any way and with any 
member of staff. All staff should be 
aware of the complaints process and 
be able to pass details of the complaint 
to the appropriate person within the 
organisation.

3.3	 High volumes of complaints should not 
be seen as a negative, as they can 
be indicative of a well-publicised and 
accessible complaints process.  Low 
complaint volumes are potentially a sign 
that individuals are unable to complain.

3.4	 Organisations should make their 
complaint policy available in a clear and 
accessible format for all individuals. 
This should detail the  process, what will 
happen at each stage, and the timeframes 
for responding. The policy should also be 
published on the organisation’s website.

3.5	 The policy should explain how the 
organisation will publicise details of the 
complaints policy, including information 
about the Ombudsman and this Code.

3.6	 Organisations should give individuals 
the opportunity to have a suitable 
representative deal with their complaint 
on their behalf, and to be represented 
or accompanied at any meeting with the 
organisation. 

3.7	 Organisations should provide individuals 
with information on their right to access 
the Ombudsman service and how 
the individual can engage with the 
Ombudsman about their complaint.

3.8	 Where an organisation asks for feedback 
about its services through a survey, it 
should provide details of how individuals 
can complain so they can pursue any 
dissatisfaction if they so wish. 

Page 29



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 6

4.	 Complaint handling resources
4.1	 Organisations should have designated, 

sufficient resource assigned to take 
responsibility for complaint handling, 
including liaison with the relevant 
Ombudsman and ensuring complaints 
are reported to the governing body (or 
equivalent). 

4.2	 Anyone responding to a complaint 
should have access to staff at all levels 
to facilitate the prompt resolution of 
complaints. They should also have the 
authority and autonomy to act to resolve 
disputes promptly and fairly.

4.3	 Organisations are expected to prioritise 
complaint handling and a culture of 
learning from complaints. All relevant 
staff should be suitably trained in the 
importance of complaint handling. It is 
important that complaints are seen as a 
core service and resourced accordingly

Page 30



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 7

5.	 The complaint handling process
5.1	 Organisations should have a single policy 

for dealing with complaints covered by the 
Code. 

5.2	 The early and local resolution of issues 
between organisations and individuals 
is key to effective complaint handling. 
Organisations should not have extra 
named stages (such as ‘stage 0’ or 
‘informal complaint’) as this causes 
unnecessary confusion. 

5.3	 When an individual expresses 
dissatisfaction that could meet the criteria 
for a complaint as set out in section 
1 of the Code, they should be given 
the opportunity to make a complaint. 
Organisations should recognise that 
individuals may be reluctant to raise 
complaints out of fear it may impact 
services they receive in future. . 

5.4	 The person responding to the complaint 
should: 

a.	clarify with the individual any aspects of 
the complaint they are unclear about;

b.	deal with complaints on their merits, act 
independently, and have an open mind; 

c.	give the individual a fair chance to set 
out their position; 

d.	take measures to address any actual 
or perceived conflict of interest; and 

e.	consider all relevant information and 
evidence carefully. 

5.5	 Where a response to a complaint will 
fall outside the timescales set out in this 
Code the organisation should inform the 
individual of when the response will be 
provided and the reason(s) for the delay.

5.6	 Organisations must make reasonable 
adjustments for individuals where 
appropriate under the Equality Act 2010. 

Organisations should keep a record of 
any reasonable adjustments agreed. Any 
agreed reasonable adjustments should be 
kept under active review. 

5.7	 Organisations should not refuse to 
escalate a complaint through all stages 
of the complaints procedure unless there 
are valid reasons to do so. Organisations 
should clearly set out these reasons, and 
they should align with the approach to 
exclusions set out in section 2 of the Code.

5.8	 A full record should be kept of the 
complaint, and the outcomes at each 
stage. This should include the original 
complaint and the date received, all 
correspondence with the individual, 
correspondence with other parties, and any 
relevant supporting documentation such as 
reports. This should be retained in line with 
the organisation’s data retention policies. 

5.9	 Organisations should have systems in 
place to ensure that a complaint can be 
remedied at any stage of its complaints 
process. Organisations should ensure that 
appropriate remedies can be provided 
at any stage of the complaints process 
without the need for escalation to stage 2 
or the Ombudsman. 

5.10	Organisations should have policies 
and procedures in place for managing 
unacceptable behaviour from 
individuals and/or their representatives. 
Organisations should be able to evidence 
reasons for putting any restrictions in 
place and should keep an individual’s 
restrictions under regular review. 

5.11	Any restrictions placed on an individual’s 
contact due to unacceptable behaviour 
should be proportionate and demonstrate 
regard for the provisions of the Equality 
Act 2010.

Page 31



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 8

6.	 Complaints stages
Stage 1
6.1	 Organisations should have processes in 

place to consider which complaints can 
be responded to as early as possible, 
and which require further  consideration. 
Organisations should consider factors 
such as the complexity of the complaint 
and whether the individual is vulnerable 
or at risk. Most stage 1 complaints can be 
resolved promptly, and an explanation, 
apology or resolution provided to the 
individual.

6.2	 Complaints should be acknowledged, 
and logged at stage 1 of the complaints 
procedure within five working days of 
the complaint being received.  

6.3	 Organisations should provide a full 
response to stage 1 complaints within 
10 working days of the complaint being 
acknowledged.  

6.4	 Organisations should decide whether 
an extension to this timescale is needed 
when considering the complexity of the 
complaint and then inform individuals of 
the expected timescale for response. Any 
extension should be no more than 10 
working days without good reason, and 
the reason(s) should be clearly explained 
to the individual. 

6.5	 When an organisation informs an 
individual about an extension to these 
timescales, they should be provided with 
the details of the relevant Ombudsman. 

6.6	 A complaint response should be provided 
to the individual when the answer to 
the complaint is known, not when the 
outstanding actions required to address 
the issue are completed. Outstanding 
actions should still be tracked and 
actioned promptly, with appropriate 
updates provided to the individual.  

6.7	 Organisations should address all points 
raised in the complaint and provide clear 
reasons for any decisions, referencing 
the relevant policy, law and good practice 
where appropriate. Organisations should 
be clear which aspects of the complaint 
they are, and are not, responsible for and 
clarify any areas where this is not clear.

6.8	 At the conclusion of stage 1 organisations 
should provide details of how to escalate 
the matter to stage 2 if the individual is not 
satisfied with the response. 

6.9	 Where individuals raise additional 
complaints during stage 1, these should 
be incorporated into the stage 1 response 
if they are related, and the stage 1 
response has not been provided. Where 
the stage 1 response has been provided, 
the new issues are unrelated to the issues 
already being considered, or it would 
unreasonably delay the response, the 
new issues should be logged as a new 
complaint.

6.10	Organisations should have systems in 
place to ensure that a complaint can be 
remedied at any stage of its complaints 
process. Individuals should not have  to 
escalate a complaint in order to get an 
appropriate remedy.

Page 32



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 9

Stage 2 
6.11	 If all or part of the complaint is not 

resolved to the individual’s satisfaction at 
stage 1, it should be progressed to stage 
2 of the organisation’s procedure. Stage 2 
is the organisation’s final response..

6.12	Requests for stage 2 should be 
acknowledged and logged at stage 
2 of the complaints procedure within 
five working days of the escalation 
request being received. Within the 
acknowledgement, organisations should 
set out their understanding of any 
outstanding issues and the outcomes the 
individual is seeking. If any aspect of the 
complaint is unclear, the individual should 
be asked for clarification. 

6.13	  Individuals should not be required to 
explain their reasons for requesting a 
stage 2 consideration. Organisations 
should make reasonable efforts to 
understand why an individual remains 
unhappy as part of its stage 2 response.

6.14	The person considering the complaint at 
stage 2 should not be the same person 
that considered the complaint at stage 1.

6.15	Organisations should issue a final 
response to the stage 2 within 20 
working days of the complaint being 
acknowledged. 

6.16	Organisations should decide whether 
an extension to this timescale is needed 
when considering the complexity of the 
complaint and then inform individuals of 
the expected timescale for response. Any 
extension should be no more than 20 
working days without good reason, and 
the reason(s) should be clearly explained 
to the individual. 

6.17	When an organisation informs an 
individual about an extension to these 
timescales they  should be provided with 
the details of the relevant Ombudsman. 

6.18	Organisations should confirm the 
following in writing to the individual at 
the completion of stage 2 in clear, plain 
language: 

a.	the complaint stage; 
b.	the organisation’s understanding of the 

complaint;
c.	 the decision on the complaint;
d.	the reasons for any decisions made;
e.	the details of any remedy offered to put 

things right;
f.	 details of any outstanding actions; and
g.	details of how to escalate the matter 

to the Ombudsman if the individual 
remains dissatisfied.

6.19	Stage 2 should be the organisation’s final 
response and should involve all suitable 
staff members needed to issue such a 
response.

6.20	A process with more than two stages 
will make the complaint process unduly 
long and delay access to the relevant 
Ombudsman. A process with a single 
stage means the organisation may lack 
the ability to check its response before an 
individual comes to the Ombudsman. 

6.21	Where an organisation’s complaint 
response is handled by a third party (e.g. 
a contractor) or independent adjudicator 
at any stage, it should form part of the two 
stage complaints process set out in this 
Code. Individuals should not be expected 
to go through two complaints processes. 

6.22	Organisations are responsible for 
ensuring that any third parties handle 
complaints in line with the Code.

Page 33



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 10

7.	 Putting things right 
7.1	 Where something has gone wrong an 

organisation should acknowledge this and 
set out the actions it has already taken, or 
intends to take, to put things right. These 
can include:

	> Apologising;
	> Acknowledging where things have 

gone wrong;
	> Providing an explanation, assistance 

or reasons;
	> Taking action if there has been delay;
	> Reconsidering or changing a 

decision;
	> Amending a record or adding a 

correction or addendum;
	> Providing a financial remedy;
	> Changing policies, procedures or 

practices.
7.2	 Any remedy offered should reflect the 

impact on the individual as a result of any 
fault identified. 

7.3	 The remedy offer should clearly set 
out what will happen and by when, in 
agreement with the individual where 
appropriate. Any remedy proposed should 
be followed through to completion.

7.4	 If a proposed remedy cannot be delivered, 
the individual should be informed of the 
reasons for this, provided with details of 
any alternative remedy and reminded of 
their right to complain to the Ombudsman,

7.5	 Organisations should take account of 
the good practice guides issued by 
the Ombudsman when deciding on 
appropriate remedies. 

Page 34



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 11

8.	 Performance reporting and self-assessment
8.1	 Organisations should produce an annual 

complaints performance and service 
improvement report for scrutiny and 
challenge, which should include:

a.	an annual self-assessment against 
this Code to ensure its complaint 
handling policy remains in line with its 
requirements.

b.	a qualitative and quantitative analysis 
of the organisation’s complaint 
handling performance. This should 
also include a summary of the types 
of complaints the organisation has 
refused to accept;

c.	any findings of non-compliance with 
this Code;

d.	the service improvements made as a 
result of the learning from complaints;

e.	the annual letter about the 
organisation’s performance from the 
Ombudsman; and

f.	 any other relevant reports or 
publications produced by the 
Ombudsman in relation to the work of 
the organisation. 

8.2	 The annual complaints performance 
and service improvement report should 
be reported through the organisation’s 
governance arrangements and published 
on the section of its website relating 
to complaints. The response to the 
report from the relevant governance 
arrangement should be published 
alongside this.

8.3	 Organisations should also carry out a 
self-assessment following a significant 
restructure, merger and/or change in 
procedures.

Page 35



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 12

9.	 Scrutiny & oversight: continuous learning and improvement 
9.1	 Organisations should look beyond 

the circumstances of the individual 
complaint and consider whether service 
improvements can be made as a result of 
any learning from the complaint. 

9.2	 A positive complaint handling culture 
is important to the effectiveness with 
which organisations resolve disputes. 
Organisations should use complaints as 
a source of intelligence to identify issues 
and introduce positive changes in service 
delivery. 

9.3	 Accountability and transparency are 
also integral to a positive organisational 
culture. Organisations should report back 
on wider learning and improvements 
from complaints to stakeholders, such 
as citizens’ panels, staff and relevant 
committees. 

9.4	 The organisation should appoint a suitably 
senior person to oversee its complaint 
handling performance. This person should 
assess any themes or trends to identify 
potential systemic issues, serious risks, 
or policies and procedures that require 
revision. 

9.5	 In addition to this, organisations should 
assign lead responsibility for complaints 
in  governance arrangements to support 
a positive complaint handling culture. We 
refer to this as the ‘Member Responsible 
for Complaints”’(the Member). This role 
could be carried out by an individual or 
committee depending on the governance 
arrangements in place.

9.6	 The Member should receive regular 
information on complaints that provides 
insight on the organisation’s complaint 
handling performance. The Member 
should have access to suitable information 
and staff to perform this role and report on 
their findings.

9.7	 As a minimum, the Member should 
receive:

a.	regular updates on the volume, 
categories, and outcomes of 
complaints, alongside complaint 
handling performance 

b.	regular reviews of issues and trends 
arising from complaint handling; and 

c.	 the annual complaints performance 
and service improvement report. 

9.8	 Organisations should have a standard 
objective in relation to complaint handling 
for all relevant employees or third parties 
that reflects the need to:

	> have a collaborative and  
co-operative approach towards 
resolving complaints, working 
with colleagues across teams and 
departments;

	> take collective responsibility for 
any shortfalls identified through 
complaints, rather than blaming 
others; and

	> act within the professional standards 
for engaging with complaints as set 
by any relevant professional body.

Page 36



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 13

Appendix A: Self-assessment

A self-assessment should be completed and 
shared with the organisation’s governance 
arrangements as part of the complaints 
performance and service improvement report.  

Evidence should show how the organisation 
follows the Code and its own policies. It 
should also set out how well it is performing 
and provide information about service 
improvements which have been implemented 
following complaints. 

For example, this could include records 
of quality assurance checks on complaint 
responses, exclusions and feedback from 
relevant staff. If the failure to meet an 
expectation only relates to one service area 
or department this should be made clear.

When completing the self-assessment, 
organisations should not focus on the number 
of complaints received. Recording a high 
number of complaints may be an indication that 
the organisation welcomes complaints and that 
individuals are able to access the complaints 
process easily. Organisations should focus on 
timescales for responding to complaints and 
complaint outcomes.

A suggested self-assessment format is included 
here, but organisations may adopt their own 
version to meet local needs and reporting 
requirements. 

Page 37



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 14

Example:  Self-assessment against the requirements 
of the Code

Code section Action Do we follow 
the code
Yes/No

Explanations and 
Commentary

1: Definition of a 
service request 
and complaint

We recognise the 
difference between a 
service request and a 
complaint and these are 
defined in our policies and 
procedures.

2: Exclusions Our complaints policy sets 
out circumstances where 
we would not consider 
a complaint. These are 
reasonable and do not 
deny individuals access to 
redress.

3: Accessibility 
and awareness

We provide different 
channels through which 
individuals can make 
complaints. These are 
accessible and we are 
able to make reasonable 
adjustments where 
necessary.

4: Complaint 
handling resources

We have designated, 
sufficient resource 
assigned to take 
responsibility for 
complaint handling. 
Complaints are viewed 
as a core service and 
resourced accordingly.

Page 38



Complaint Handling Code v1.0Complaint Handling Code v1.0 15

Code section Action Do we follow 
the code
Yes/No

Explanations and 
Commentary

5: The complaint 
handling process

We have a single 
policy for dealing with 
complaints covered by the 
Code and individuals are 
given the option of raising 
a complaint where they 
express dissatisfaction 
that meets the definition 
of the complaint in our 
policy.

6: Complaints 
stages (Stage 1)

We process stage 1 
complaints in line with 
timescales and processes 
set out in the Code.

6: Complaints 
stages (Stage 2)

We process stage 2 
complaints in line with 
timescales and processes 
set out in the Code.

7: Putting things 
right

When something has 
gone wrong we take 
action to put things right.

8: Performance 
reporting and self-
assessment

We produce an annual 
complaints performance 
and service improvement 
report for scrutiny and 
challenge which includes 
a self-assessment against 
the Code.

9: Scrutiny & 
Oversight

We have appropriate 
senior leadership and 
governance oversight of 
the complaints process 
and performance.

Page 39



Local Government and Social Care Local Government and Social Care 
OmbudsmanOmbudsman
PO Box 4771
Coventry
CV4 0EH

Phone:	 0300 061 0614
Web: 	 www.lgo.org.uk
Twitter:	 @LGOmbudsman

Page 40

www.twitter.com/lgombudsman


1 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Complaint Handling Code 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date published: 08 February 2024 

Date applicable: 01 April 2024   

Page 41



2 
 
 

 

Contents 

Foreword .................................................................................................................... 3 

Introduction ................................................................................................................ 4 

Statutory powers .................................................................................................. 4 

Compliance with the Code ................................................................................... 4 

Monitoring compliance with the Code .................................................................. 4 

The Complaint Handling Code ................................................................................... 6 

1. Definition of a complaint ................................................................................... 6 

2. Exclusions ........................................................................................................ 6 

3. Accessibility and awareness ............................................................................. 7 

4. Complaint handling staff ................................................................................... 8 

5. The complaint handling process ....................................................................... 8 

6. Complaints stages ............................................................................................ 9 

Stage 1 ................................................................................................................ 9 

Stage 2 .............................................................................................................. 10 

7. Putting things right .......................................................................................... 11 

8. Self-assessment, reporting and compliance ................................................... 12 

9. Scrutiny & oversight: continuous learning and improvement .......................... 13 

Appendix A: Self-assessment form .......................................................................... 15 

Section 1: Definition of a complaint .......................................................................... 16 

Section 2: Exclusions ............................................................................................... 18 

Section 3: Accessibility and Awareness ................................................................... 20 

Section 4: Complaint Handling Staff ......................................................................... 22 

Section 5: The Complaint Handling Process ............................................................ 23 

Section 6: Complaints Stages .................................................................................. 27 

Section 7: Putting things right ................................................................................... 32 

Section 8: Putting things right ................................................................................... 34 

Section 9: Scrutiny & oversight: continuous learning and improvement ................... 36 

Appendix B – Service request or complaint – flow charts ......................................... 39 

 

 

  

Page 42



3 
 
 

Foreword  
The heartbeat of this Code is enabling a positive complaints culture across the social 
housing sector. 

This positive culture matters regardless of size or type of landlord. It supports strong 
resident-landlord relationships. It means things can be put right for residents when 
they have gone wrong. It helps organisations to develop and improve services. And, 
perhaps above all, it supports the values of justice and fairness that embodies so 
much of the sector’s social purpose. 

This Code considers complaints to be more than transactions. Nonetheless, good 
complaint handling requires effective procedures and well-trained staff alongside a 
positive complaints culture that enables those procedures to achieve maximum 
impact. This Code sets out what landlords must do procedurally to handle 
complaints. Compliance with the Code is most effective within landlords that operate 
within established dispute resolution principles: to be fair, puts things right, and learn 
from outcomes.  

Landlords must embrace complaints through increased transparency, accessibility, 
and complaint handling governance, demonstrating that residents are core to its 
service delivery and good complaint handling is central to that. 

This Code aims to support the earliest resolution of complaints while the matters are 
still within the landlord’s own procedure. This can avoid issues escalating with 
potentially prolonged detriment to the resident, as well as requiring significantly more 
time and resource by the landlord to remedy.  

This Code provides a guide to residents of what to expect if they make a complaint, 
as well as improving access and awareness to the procedure when they need it. The 
adoption of this statutory Code and associated duties ensures residents do not 
experience a postcode lottery in complaint handing.  

Embracing the Code can also empower staff. Involvement in complaint resolution 
develops staff ownership, decision-making and engagement, and should ensure 
appropriate resources and tools are deployed to handle complaints. It provides 
senior staff with essential insight into day-to-day operations, allowing them to assess 
effectiveness and identify any organisational risks or issues. Lastly, data collected 
about complaints can be analysed and used to inform key business decisions to 
drive improvement in service provision.  

Landlords are expected to annually self-assess against the Code, to engage its 
governance in that exercise and to publish the outcome. We also encourage 
landlords to see this exercise as an opportunity to engage residents in setting their 
approach to complaints to drive a positive complaints and learning culture. This 
approach must be captured by the landlord in a single policy for handling complaints.  

The positive engagement of landlords in the Code and its principles has brought 
focus on the importance of complaints and the advent of this statutory Code will drive 
further change to the benefit of both residents and landlords. 

Page 43



4 
 
 

Introduction  
 
Statutory powers 
 
The Social Housing (Regulation) Act 2023 empowered the Ombudsman to issue a 
code of practice about the procedures members of the Scheme should have in place 
for considering complaints against them following consultation on the code. 
 
It also placed a duty on the Ombudsman to monitor compliance with a code of 
practice that it has issued. 
 
The Ombudsman consulted on the code and its intended approach to the duty to 
monitor in late 2023. This is the first statutory Complaint Handling Code (‘the Code’) 
and it will take effect from 1 April 2024; the duty to monitor compliance will go-live at 
the same time.   
    
Compliance with the Code 
 
The Ombudsman believes all members should comply with all provisions in the Code 
as this represents best practice in complaint handling.   
 
We recognise, however, that there may be a small number of circumstances where 
landlords are unable to meet the requirements, for example, if they do not have a 
website. In these circumstances, we expect landlords to deliver the intentions of the 
Code in an alternative way, for example by publishing information in a public area so 
that it is easily accessible. We call this approach “comply or explain”.     
 
Where a landlord is unable to comply with the Code due to exceptional 
circumstances, such as a cyber incident, they must inform the Ombudsman and 
provide information to residents who may be affected, and publish this on their 
website. Landlords must provide a timescale for returning to compliance with the 
Code. 
 
Where a landlord is unable to comply with the Code when dealing with a resident’s 
complaint, the resident must be provided with a detailed explanation and signposted 
to the Ombudsman.  
 
Monitoring compliance with the Code 
 
The Ombudsman would like all landlords to have strong local complaint handling and 
a positive complaint handling culture – extending fairness to benefit all residents. 
These lead to better services and strengthen relationships with residents.  We will 
use the duty to monitor compliance to further these aims by supporting better 
practice and providing opportunities to demonstrate improvement.   
 

Page 44



5 
 
 

Support will be provided through our Centre for Learning, accessible via the website, 
which hosts an ever-growing range of tools targeted at complaints handlers, senior 
managers and governing bodies.   
 
We will monitor compliance in three ways. This will involve ensuring the landlord: 
 

• has scrutinised and challenged its compliance with the Code, complaints 
handling performance and learning from complaints at its governing body and 
published the outcome on its website;  

• complies with the Code in policy, and that any deviations are explained and 
are reasonable; and  

• complies with the Code in practice.   

Where a landlord does not meet the requirements in any of the areas and does not 
move into compliance within a reasonable timescale, the Ombudsman will issue a 
Complaint Handling Failure Order (CHFO) and publish this.   

  

Page 45



6 
 
 

The Complaint Handling Code 
1. Definition of a complaint 

1.1 Effective complaint handling enables residents to be heard and understood. 
The starting point for this is a shared understanding of what constitutes a 
complaint.  

1.2 A complaint must be defined as: 

‘an expression of dissatisfaction, however made, about the standard of service, 
actions or lack of action by the landlord, its own staff, or those acting on its 
behalf, affecting a resident or group of residents.’  

1.3 A resident does not have to use the word ‘complaint’ for it to be treated as 
such. Whenever a resident expresses dissatisfaction landlords must give them 
the choice to make complaint. A complaint that is submitted via a third party or 
representative must be handled in line with the landlord’s complaints policy. 

1.4 Landlords must recognise the difference between a service request and a 
complaint. This must be set out in their complaints policy. A service request is 
a request from a resident to the landlord requiring action to be taken to put 
something right. Service requests are not complaints, but must be recorded, 
monitored and reviewed regularly.  

1.5 A complaint must be raised when the resident expresses dissatisfaction with 
the response to their service request, even if the handling of the service request 
remains ongoing. Landlords must not stop their efforts to address the service 
request if the resident complains.  

1.6 An expression of dissatisfaction with services made through a survey is not 
defined as a complaint, though wherever possible, the person completing the 
survey should be made aware of how they can pursue a complaint if they wish 
to. Where landlords ask for wider feedback about their services, they also must 
provide details of how residents can complain.  

 

2. Exclusions 

2.1 Landlords must accept a complaint unless there is a valid reason not to do so. 
If landlords decide not to accept a complaint they must be able to evidence 
their reasoning. Each complaint must be considered on its own merits. 

2.2 A complaints policy must set out the circumstances in which a matter will not be 
considered as a complaint or escalated, and these circumstances must be fair 
and reasonable to residents. Acceptable exclusions include: 

• The issue giving rise to the complaint occurred over twelve months ago.  

• Legal proceedings have started. This is defined as details of the claim, 
such as the Claim Form and Particulars of Claim, having been filed at 
court. 

Page 46



7 
 
 

• Matters that have previously been considered under the complaints 
policy.  

2.3 Landlords must accept complaints referred to them within 12 months of the 
issue occurring or the resident becoming aware of the issue, unless they are 
excluded on other grounds. Landlords must consider whether to apply 
discretion to accept complaints made outside this time limit where there are 
good reasons to do so.  

2.4 If a landlord decides not to accept a complaint, an explanation must be 
provided to the resident setting out the reasons why the matter is not suitable 
for the complaints process and the right to take that decision to the 
Ombudsman. If the Ombudsman does not agree that the exclusion has been 
fairly applied, the Ombudsman may tell the landlord to take on the complaint.  

2.5 Landlords must not take a blanket approach to excluding complaints; they must 
consider the individual circumstances of each complaint. 

3. Accessibility and awareness  
3.1 Landlords must make it easy for residents to complain by providing different 

channels through which they can make a complaint. Landlords must consider 
their duties under the Equality Act 2010 and anticipate the needs and 
reasonable adjustments of residents who may need to access the complaints 
process.  

3.2 Residents must be able to raise their complaints in any way and with any 
member of staff. All staff must be aware of the complaints process and be able 
to pass details of the complaint to the appropriate person within the landlord. 

3.3 High volumes of complaints must not be seen as a negative, as they can be 
indicative of a well-publicised and accessible complaints process. Low 
complaint volumes are potentially a sign that residents are unable to complain. 

3.4 Landlords must make their complaint policy available in a clear and accessible 
format for all residents. This will detail the two stage process, what will happen 
at each stage, and the timeframes for responding. The policy must also be 
published on the landlord’s website. 

3.5 The policy must explain how the landlord will publicise details of the complaints 
policy, including information about the Ombudsman and this Code. 

3.6 Landlords must give residents the opportunity to have a representative deal 
with their complaint on their behalf, and to be represented or accompanied at 
any meeting with the landlord.  

3.7 Landlords must provide residents with information on their right to access the 
Ombudsman Service and how the individual can engage with the Ombudsman 
about their complaint. 

Page 47



8 
 
 

4. Complaint handling staff 

4.1 Landlords must have a person or team assigned to take responsibility for 
complaint handling, including liaison with the Ombudsman and ensuring 
complaints are reported to the governing body (or equivalent). This Code will 
refer to that person or team as the ‘complaints officer’. This role may be in 
addition to other duties.  

4.2 The complaints officer must have access to staff at all levels to facilitate the 
prompt resolution of complaints. They must also have the authority and 
autonomy to act to resolve disputes promptly and fairly. 

4.3 Landlords are expected to prioritise complaint handling and a culture of learning 
from complaints. All relevant staff must be suitably trained in the importance of 
complaint handling. It is important that complaints are seen as a core service 
and must be resourced to handle complaints effectively. 

5. The complaint handling process 

5.1 Landlords must have a single policy in place for dealing with complaints 
covered by this Code. Residents must not be treated differently if they 
complain.   

5.2 The early and local resolution of issues between landlords and residents is key 
to effective complaint handling. It is not appropriate to have extra named stages 
(such as ‘stage 0’ or ‘informal complaint’) as this causes unnecessary 
confusion.  

5.3 A process with more than two stages is not acceptable under any 
circumstances as this will make the complaint process unduly long and delay 
access to the Ombudsman.  

5.4 Where a landlord’s complaint response is handled by a third party (e.g. a 
contractor or independent adjudicator) at any stage, it must form part of the two 
stage complaints process set out in this Code. Residents must not be expected 
to go through two complaints processes. 

5.5 Landlords are responsible for ensuring that any third parties handle complaints 
in line with the Code.  

5.6 When a complaint is logged at Stage 1 or escalated to Stage 2, landlords must 
set out their understanding of the complaint and the outcomes the resident is 
seeking. The Code will refer to this as “the complaint definition”. If any aspect of 
the complaint is unclear, the resident must be asked for clarification. 

5.7 When a complaint is acknowledged at either stage, landlords must be clear 
which aspects of the complaint they are, and are not, responsible for and clarify 
any areas where this is not clear.  

5.8 At each stage of the complaints process, complaint handlers must:  

a) deal with complaints on their merits, act independently, and have an open 
mind;  

Page 48



9 
 
 

b) give the resident a fair chance to set out their position;  
c) take measures to address any actual or perceived conflict of interest; and  
d) consider all relevant information and evidence carefully.  
 

5.9 Where a response to a complaint will fall outside the timescales set out in this 
Code the landlord must agree with the resident suitable intervals for keeping 
them informed about their complaint.  

5.10 Landlords must make reasonable adjustments for residents where appropriate 
under the Equality Act 2010. Landlords must keep a record of any reasonable 
adjustments agreed, as well as a record of any disabilities a resident has 
disclosed. Any agreed reasonable adjustments must be kept under active 
review.  

5.11 Landlords must not refuse to escalate a complaint through all stages of the 
complaints procedure unless it has valid reasons to do so. Landlords must 
clearly set out these reasons, and they must comply with the provisions set out 
in section 2 of this Code. 

5.12 A full record must be kept of the complaint, and the outcomes at each stage. 
This must include the original complaint and the date received, all 
correspondence with the resident, correspondence with other parties, and any 
relevant supporting documentation such as reports or surveys.  

5.13 Landlords must have processes in place to ensure that a complaint can be 
remedied at any stage of its complaints process. Landlords must ensure that 
appropriate remedies can be provided at any stage of the complaints process 
without the need for escalation.  

5.14 Landlords must have policies and procedures in place for managing 
unacceptable behaviour from residents and/or their representatives. Landlords 
must be able to evidence reasons for putting any restrictions in place and must 
keep restrictions under regular review.  

5.15 Any restrictions placed on contact due to unacceptable behaviour must be 
proportionate and demonstrate regard for the provisions of the Equality Act 
2010. 

6. Complaints stages 

Stage 1 

6.1 Landlords must have processes in place to consider which complaints can be 
responded to as early as possible, and which require further investigation. 
Landlords must consider factors such as the complexity of the complaint and 
whether the resident is vulnerable or at risk. Most stage 1 complaints can be 
resolved promptly, and an explanation, apology or resolution provided to the 
resident. 

6.2 Complaints must be acknowledged, defined and logged at stage 1 of the 
complaints procedure within five working days of the complaint being 
received.   

Page 49



10 
 
 

6.3 Landlords must issue a full response to stage 1 complaints within 10 working 
days of the complaint being acknowledged.  

6.4 Landlords must decide whether an extension to this timescale is needed when 
considering the complexity of the complaint and then inform the resident of the 
expected timescale for response. Any extension must be no more than 10 
working days without good reason, and the reason(s) must be clearly explained 
to the resident.  

6.5 When an organisation informs a resident about an extension to these 
timescales, they must be provided with the contact details of the Ombudsman. 

6.6 A complaint response must be provided to the resident when the answer to the 
complaint is known, not when the outstanding actions required to address the 
issue are completed. Outstanding actions must still be tracked and actioned 
promptly with appropriate updates provided to the resident.   

6.7 Landlords must address all points raised in the complaint definition and provide 
clear reasons for any decisions, referencing the relevant policy, law and good 
practice where appropriate. 

6.8 Where residents raise additional complaints during the investigation, these 
must be incorporated into the stage 1 response if they are related and the stage 
1 response has not been issued. Where the stage 1 response has been issued, 
the new issues are unrelated to the issues already being investigated or it 
would unreasonably delay the response, the new issues must be logged as a 
new complaint. 

6.9 Landlords must confirm the following in writing to the resident at the completion 
of stage 1 in clear, plain language:  

a) the complaint stage; 

b) the complaint definition;  

c) the decision on the complaint; 

d) the reasons for any decisions made; 

e) the details of any remedy offered to put things right; 

f) details of any outstanding actions; and 

g) details of how to escalate the matter to stage 2 if the individual is not satisfied 
with the response. 

Stage 2  

6.10 If all or part of the complaint is not resolved to the resident’s satisfaction at 
stage 1, it must be progressed to stage 2 of the landlord’s procedure. Stage 2 is 
the landlord’s final response. 

6.11 Requests for stage 2 must be acknowledged, defined and logged at stage 2 of 
the complaints procedure within five working days of the escalation request 
being received.  

Page 50



11 
 
 

6.12  Residents must not be required to explain their reasons for requesting a stage 
2 consideration. Landlords are expected to make reasonable efforts to 
understand why a resident remains unhappy as part of its stage 2 response. 

6.13 The person considering the complaint at stage 2 must not be the same person 
that considered the complaint at stage 1. 

6.14 Landlords must issue a final response to the stage 2 within 20 working days 
of the complaint being acknowledged.  

6.15 Landlords must decide whether an extension to this timescale is needed when 
considering the complexity of the complaint and then inform the resident of the 
expected timescale for response. Any extension must be no more than 20 
working days without good reason, and the reason(s) must be clearly explained 
to the resident.  

6.16 When an organisation informs a resident about an extension to these 
timescales, they must be provided with the contact details of the Ombudsman. 

6.17 A complaint response must be provided to the resident when the answer to the 
complaint is known, not when the outstanding actions required to address the 
issue are completed. Outstanding actions must still be tracked and actioned 
promptly with appropriate updates provided to the resident.  

6.18 Landlords must address all points raised in the complaint definition and provide 
clear reasons for any decisions, referencing the relevant policy, law and good 
practice where appropriate.  

6.19 Landlords must confirm the following in writing to the resident at the completion 
of stage 2 in clear, plain language:  

a) the complaint stage;  

b) the complaint definition; 

c) the decision on the complaint; 

d) the reasons for any decisions made; 

e) the details of any remedy offered to put things right; 

f) details of any outstanding actions; and 

g) details of how to escalate the matter to the Ombudsman Service if the 
individual remains dissatisfied. 

6.20 Stage 2 is the landlord’s final response and must involve all suitable staff 
members needed to issue such a response. 

7. Putting things right  

7.1 Where something has gone wrong a landlord must acknowledge this and set 
out the actions it has already taken, or intends to take, to put things right. These 
can include: 

• Apologising; 

Page 51



12 
 
 

• Acknowledging where things have gone wrong; 

• Providing an explanation, assistance or reasons; 

• Taking action if there has been delay; 

• Reconsidering or changing a decision; 

• Amending a record or adding a correction or addendum; 

• Providing a financial remedy; 

• Changing policies, procedures or practices. 

7.2 Any remedy offered must reflect the impact on the resident as a result of any 
fault identified.  

7.3 The remedy offer must clearly set out what will happen and by when, in 
agreement with the resident where appropriate. Any remedy proposed must be 
followed through to completion. 

7.4 Landlords must take account of the guidance issued by the Ombudsman when 
deciding on appropriate remedies.  

8. Self-assessment, reporting and compliance  

8.1 Landlords must produce an annual complaints performance and service 
improvement report for scrutiny and challenge, which must include: 

a) the annual self-assessment against this Code to ensure their complaint 
handling policy remains in line with its requirements. 

b) a qualitative and quantitative analysis of the landlord’s complaint handling 
performance. This must also include a summary of the types of complaints the 
landlord has refused to accept; 

c) any findings of non-compliance with this Code by the Ombudsman; 
d) the service improvements made as a result of the learning from complaints; 
e) any annual report about the landlord’s performance from the Ombudsman; 

and 
f) any other relevant reports or publications produced by the Ombudsman in 

relation to the work of the landlord.  

8.2 The annual complaints performance and service improvement report must be 
reported to the landlord’s governing body (or equivalent) and published on the 
on the section of its website relating to complaints. The governing body’s 
response to the report must be published alongside this. 

8.3 Landlords must also carry out a self-assessment following a significant 
restructure, merger and/or change in procedures. 

8.4 Landlords may be asked to review and update the self-assessment following an 
Ombudsman investigation. 

8.5 If a landlord is unable to comply with the Code due to exceptional 
circumstances, such as a cyber incident, they must inform the Ombudsman, 
provide information to residents who may be affected, and publish this on their 

Page 52



13 
 
 

website. Landlords must provide a timescale for returning to compliance with 
the Code. 

9. Scrutiny & oversight: continuous learning and improvement  

9.1 Landlords must look beyond the circumstances of the individual complaint and 
consider whether service improvements can be made as a result of any 
learning from the complaint.  

9.2 A positive complaint handling culture is integral to the effectiveness with which 
landlords resolve disputes. Landlords must use complaints as a source of 
intelligence to identify issues and introduce positive changes in service delivery.  

9.3 Accountability and transparency are also integral to a positive complaint 
handling culture. Landlords must report back on wider learning and 
improvements from complaints to stakeholders, such as  residents’ panels, staff 
and relevant committees.  

9.4 Landlords must appoint a suitably senior lead person as accountable for their 
complaint handling. This person must assess any themes or trends to identify 
potential systemic issues, serious risks, or policies and procedures that require 
revision.  

9.5 In addition to this, a member of the governing body (or equivalent) must be 
appointed to have lead responsibility for complaints to support a positive 
complaint handling culture. This person is referred to as the Member 
Responsible for Complaints (‘the MRC’). 

9.6 The MRC will be responsible for ensuring the governing body receives regular 
information on complaints that provides insight on the landlord’s complaint 
handling performance. This person must have access to suitable information 
and staff to perform this role and report on their findings. 

9.7 As a minimum, the MRC and the governing body (or equivalent) must receive: 

a) regular updates on the volume, categories and outcomes of complaints, 
alongside complaint handling performance; 

b) regular reviews of issues and trends arising from complaint handling;   
c) regular updates on the outcomes of the Ombudsman’s investigations and 

progress made in complying with orders related to severe maladministration 
findings; and   

d) the annual complaints performance and service improvement report.  
 

9.8 Landlords must have a standard objective in relation to complaint handling for 
all relevant employees or third parties that reflects the need to: 

a) have a collaborative and co-operative approach towards resolving complaints, 
working with colleagues across teams and departments; 

b) take collective responsibility for any shortfalls identified through complaints, 
rather than blaming others; and 

Page 53



14 
 
 

c) act within the professional standards for engaging with complaints as set by 
any relevant professional body.

Page 54



15 
 
 

Appendix A: Self-assessment form 
This self-assessment form should be completed by the complaints officer and it must be reviewed and approved by the landlord’s 
governing body at least annually.  

Once approved, landlords must publish the self-assessment as part of the annual complaints performance and service 
improvement report on their website. The governing body’s response to the report must be published alongside this. 

Landlords are required to complete the self-assessment in full and support all statements with evidence, with additional 
commentary as necessary.  

We recognise that there may be a small number of circumstances where landlords are unable to meet the requirements, for 
example, if they do not have a website. In these circumstances, we expect landlords to deliver the intentions of the Code in an 
alternative way, for example by publishing information in a public area so that it is easily accessible. 

 

 

 

  

P
age 55



16 
 
 

 Section 1: Definition of a complaint 
 

Code 
provision Code requirement Comply: 

Yes / No Evidence Commentary / explanation 

1.2 

A complaint must be defined as: 
‘an expression of dissatisfaction, 
however made, about the 
standard of service, actions or 
lack of action by the landlord, its 
own staff, or those acting on its 
behalf, affecting a resident or 
group of residents.’  

 

   

1.3 

A resident does not have to use the 
word ‘complaint’ for it to be treated as 
such. Whenever a resident expresses 
dissatisfaction landlords must give them 
the choice to make complaint. A 
complaint that is submitted via a third 
party or representative must be handled 
in line with the landlord’s complaints 
policy. 

   

1.4 

Landlords must recognise the 
difference between a service request 
and a complaint. This must be set out in 
their complaints policy. A service 
request is a request from a resident to 
the landlord requiring action to be taken 
to put something right. Service requests 
are not complaints, but must be 

   

P
age 56



17 
 
 

recorded, monitored and reviewed 
regularly. 

1.5 

A complaint must be raised when the 
resident expresses dissatisfaction with 
the response to their service request, 
even if the handling of the service 
request remains ongoing. Landlords 
must not stop their efforts to address 
the service request if the resident 
complains.  

 

   

1.6 

An expression of dissatisfaction with 
services made through a survey is not 
defined as a complaint, though 
wherever possible, the person 
completing the survey should be made 
aware of how they can pursue a 
complaint if they wish to. Where 
landlords ask for wider feedback about 
their services, they also must provide 
details of how residents can complain.  

 

   

 

  

P
age 57



18 
 
 

 

Section 2: Exclusions 
 

Code 
provision Code requirement Comply: 

Yes / No Evidence Commentary / explanation 

2.1 

Landlords must accept a complaint 
unless there is a valid reason not to do 
so. If landlords decide not to accept a 
complaint they must be able to 
evidence their reasoning. Each 
complaint must be considered on its 
own merits 

   

2.2 

A complaints policy must set out the 
circumstances in which a matter will not 
be considered as a complaint or 
escalated, and these circumstances 
must be fair and reasonable to 
residents. Acceptable exclusions 
include: 

• The issue giving rise to the 
complaint occurred over twelve 
months ago.  

• Legal proceedings have started. 
This is defined as details of the 
claim, such as the Claim Form and 
Particulars of Claim, having been 
filed at court. 

   

P
age 58



19 
 
 

• Matters that have previously been 
considered under the complaints 
policy.  

2.3 

Landlords must accept complaints 
referred to them within 12 months of 
the issue occurring or the resident 
becoming aware of the issue, unless 
they are excluded on other grounds. 
Landlords must consider whether to 
apply discretion to accept complaints 
made outside this time limit where there 
are good reasons to do so.  

   

2.4 

If a landlord decides not to accept a 
complaint, an explanation must be 
provided to the resident setting out the 
reasons why the matter is not suitable 
for the complaints process and the right 
to take that decision to the 
Ombudsman. If the Ombudsman does 
not agree that the exclusion has been 
fairly applied, the Ombudsman may tell 
the landlord to take on the complaint.  

   

2.5 

Landlords must not take a blanket 
approach to excluding complaints; they 
must consider the individual 
circumstances of each complaint. 

   

 

 

P
age 59



20 
 
 

Section 3: Accessibility and Awareness 
 

Code 
provision Code requirement Comply: 

Yes / No Evidence Commentary / explanation 

3.1 

Landlords must make it easy for 
residents to complain by providing 
different channels through which they 
can make a complaint. Landlords must 
consider their duties under the Equality 
Act 2010 and anticipate the needs and 
reasonable adjustments of residents 
who may need to access the 
complaints process.  

   

3.2 

Residents must be able to raise their 
complaints in any way and with any 
member of staff. All staff must be aware 
of the complaints process and be able 
to pass details of the complaint to the 
appropriate person within the landlord. 

   

3.3 

High volumes of complaints must not 
be seen as a negative, as they can be 
indicative of a well-publicised and 
accessible complaints process.  Low 
complaint volumes are potentially a 
sign that residents are unable to 
complain. 

   

3.4 

Landlords must make their complaint 
policy available in a clear and 
accessible format for all residents. This 
will detail the two stage process, what 

   

P
age 60



21 
 
 

will happen at each stage, and the 
timeframes for responding. The policy 
must also be published on the 
landlord’s website. 

3.5 

The policy must explain how the 
landlord will publicise details of the 
complaints policy, including information 
about the Ombudsman and this Code. 

   

3.6 

Landlords must give residents the 
opportunity to have a representative 
deal with their complaint on their behalf, 
and to be represented or accompanied 
at any meeting with the landlord.  

   

3.7 

Landlords must provide residents with 
information on their right to access the 
Ombudsman service and how the 
individual can engage with the 
Ombudsman about their complaint. 

   

 

  

P
age 61



22 
 
 

Section 4: Complaint Handling Staff 
 

Code 
provision Code requirement Comply: 

Yes / No Evidence Commentary / explanation 

4.1 

Landlords must have a person or team 
assigned to take responsibility for 
complaint handling, including liaison 
with the Ombudsman and ensuring 
complaints are reported to the 
governing body (or equivalent). This 
Code will refer to that person or team 
as the ‘complaints officer’. This role 
may be in addition to other duties.  

   

4.2 

The complaints officer must have 
access to staff at all levels to facilitate 
the prompt resolution of complaints. 
They must also have the authority and 
autonomy to act to resolve disputes 
promptly and fairly. 

   

4.3 

Landlords are expected to prioritise 
complaint handling and a culture of 
learning from complaints. All relevant 
staff must be suitably trained in the 
importance of complaint handling. It is 
important that complaints are seen as a 
core service and must be resourced to 
handle complaints effectively. 

   

P
age 62



23 
 
 

 
Section 5: The Complaint Handling Process 
 

Code 
provision Code requirement Comply: 

Yes / No Evidence Commentary / explanation 

5.1 

Landlords must have a single policy in 
place for dealing with complaints 
covered by this Code. Residents must 
not be treated differently if they 
complain.   

   

5.2 

The early and local resolution of issues 
between landlords and residents is key 
to effective complaint handling. It is not 
appropriate to have extra named 
stages (such as ‘stage 0’ or ‘informal 
complaint’) as this causes unnecessary 
confusion.   

   

5.3 

A process with more than two stages is 
not acceptable under any 
circumstances as this will make the 
complaint process unduly long and 
delay access to the Ombudsman. 

   

5.4 

Where a landlord’s complaint response 
is handled by a third party (e.g. a 
contractor or independent adjudicator) 
at any stage, it must form part of the 
two stage complaints process set out in 
this Code. Residents must not be 

   

P
age 63



24 
 
 

expected to go through two complaints 
processes. 

5.5 
Landlords are responsible for ensuring 
that any third parties handle complaints 
in line with the Code.   

   

5.6 

When a complaint is logged at Stage 1 
or escalated to Stage 2, landlords must 
set out their understanding of the 
complaint and the outcomes the 
resident is seeking. The Code will refer 
to this as “the complaint definition”. If 
any aspect of the complaint is unclear, 
the resident must be asked for 
clarification.  

   

5.7 

When a complaint is acknowledged at 
either stage, landlords must be clear 
which aspects of the complaint they 
are, and are not, responsible for and 
clarify any areas where this is not 
clear.   

   

5.8 

At each stage of the complaints 
process, complaint handlers must:   

a. deal with complaints on their 
 merits, act independently, and 
 have an open mind;   

b. give the resident a fair chance to 
 set out their position;   

c. take measures to address any 
 actual or perceived conflict of 
 interest; and   

   

P
age 64



25 
 
 

d. consider all relevant information 
 and evidence carefully.   
 

5.9 

Where a response to a complaint will 
fall outside the timescales set out in this 
Code, the landlord must agree with the 
resident suitable intervals for keeping 
them informed about their complaint. 

   

5.10 

Landlords must make reasonable 
adjustments for residents where 
appropriate under the Equality Act 
2010. Landlords must keep a record of 
any reasonable adjustments agreed, as 
well as a record of any disabilities a 
resident has disclosed. Any agreed 
reasonable adjustments must be kept 
under active review.   

   

5.11 

Landlords must not refuse to escalate a 
complaint through all stages of the 
complaints procedure unless it has 
valid reasons to do so. Landlords must 
clearly set out these reasons, and they 
must comply with the provisions set out 
in section 2 of this Code.  

   

5.12 

A full record must be kept of the 
complaint, and the outcomes at each 
stage. This must include the original 
complaint and the date received, all 
correspondence with the resident, 
correspondence with other parties, and 

   

P
age 65



26 
 
 

any relevant supporting documentation 
such as reports or surveys.   

5.13 

Landlords must have processes in 
place to ensure a complaint can be 
remedied at any stage of its complaints 
process. Landlords must ensure 
appropriate remedies can be provided 
at any stage of the complaints process 
without the need for escalation.   

   

5.14 

Landlords must have policies and 
procedures in place for managing 
unacceptable behaviour from residents 
and/or their representatives. Landlords 
must be able to evidence reasons for 
putting any restrictions in place and 
must keep restrictions under regular 
review. 

   

5.15 

Any restrictions placed on contact due 
to unacceptable behaviour must be 
proportionate and demonstrate regard 
for the provisions of the Equality Act 
2010.  

   

 

  

P
age 66



27 
 
 

 

Section 6: Complaints Stages 
Stage 1 

Code 
provision Code requirement Comply: 

Yes / No Evidence Commentary / explanation 

6.1 

Landlords must have processes in 
place to consider which complaints can 
be responded to as early as possible, 
and which require further investigation. 
Landlords must consider factors such 
as the complexity of the complaint and 
whether the resident is vulnerable or at 
risk. Most stage 1 complaints can be 
resolved promptly, and an explanation, 
apology or resolution provided to the 
resident.  

   

6.2 

Complaints must be acknowledged, 
defined and logged at stage 1 of the 
complaints procedure within five 
working days of the complaint being 
received.  

   

6.3 

Landlords must issue a full response to 
stage 1 complaints within 10 working 
days of the complaint being 
acknowledged.   

   

6.4 

Landlords must decide whether an 
extension to this timescale is needed 
when considering the complexity of the 
complaint and then inform the resident 

   

P
age 67



28 
 
 

of the expected timescale for response. 
Any extension must be no more than 
10 working days without good reason, 
and the reason(s) must be clearly 
explained to the resident.   

6.5 

When an organisation informs a 
resident about an extension to these 
timescales, they must be provided with 
the contact details of the Ombudsman.  

   

6.6 

A complaint response must be provided 
to the resident when the answer to the 
complaint is known, not when the 
outstanding actions required to address 
the issue are completed. Outstanding 
actions must still be tracked and 
actioned promptly with appropriate 
updates provided to the resident.    

   

6.7 

Landlords must address all points 
raised in the complaint definition and 
provide clear reasons for any decisions, 
referencing the relevant policy, law and 
good practice where appropriate.  

   

6.8 

Where residents raise additional 
complaints during the investigation, 
these must be incorporated into the 
stage 1 response if they are related and 
the stage 1 response has not been 
issued. Where the stage 1 response 
has been issued, the new issues are 
unrelated to the issues already being 

   

P
age 68



29 
 
 

investigated or it would unreasonably 
delay the response, the new issues 
must be logged as a new complaint.  

6.9 

Landlords must confirm the following in 
writing to the resident at the completion 
of stage 1 in clear, plain language:   

a. the complaint stage;  
b. the complaint definition; 
c. the decision on the complaint; 
d. the reasons for any decisions 
made;  
e. the details of any remedy offered 
to put things right;  
f. details of any outstanding 
actions; and  
g. details of how to escalate the 
matter to stage 2 if the individual is 
not satisfied with the response.  

   

 

Stage 2 

Code 
provision Code requirement Comply: 

Yes / No Evidence Commentary / explanation 

6.10 

If all or part of the complaint is not 
resolved to the resident’s satisfaction at 
stage 1, it must be progressed to stage 
2 of the landlord’s procedure. Stage 2 is 
the landlord’s final response. 

   

6.11 
Requests for stage 2 must be 
acknowledged, defined and logged at 
stage 2 of the complaints procedure 

   

P
age 69



30 
 
 

within five working days of the 
escalation request being received.   

6.12 

Residents must not be required to 
explain their reasons for requesting a 
stage 2 consideration. Landlords are 
expected to make reasonable efforts to 
understand why a resident remains 
unhappy as part of its stage 2 
response. 

   

6.13 

The person considering the complaint 
at stage 2 must not be the same person 
that considered the complaint at stage 
1.  

   

6.14 
Landlords must issue a final response 
to the stage 2 within 20 working days 
of the complaint being acknowledged.   

   

6.15 

Landlords must decide whether an 
extension to this timescale is needed 
when considering the complexity of the 
complaint and then inform the resident 
of the expected timescale for response. 
Any extension must be no more than 20 
working days without good reason, and 
the reason(s) must be clearly explained 
to the resident.   

   

6.16 

When an organisation informs a 
resident about an extension to these 
timescales, they must be provided with 
the contact details of the Ombudsman.  

   

6.17 
A complaint response must be provided 
to the resident when the answer to the 
complaint is known, not when the 

   

P
age 70



31 
 
 

outstanding actions required to address 
the issue are completed. Outstanding 
actions must still be tracked and 
actioned promptly with appropriate 
updates provided to the resident.   

6.18 

Landlords must address all points 
raised in the complaint definition and 
provide clear reasons for any decisions, 
referencing the relevant policy, law and 
good practice where appropriate. 

   

6.19 

Landlords must confirm the following in 
writing to the resident at the completion 
of stage 2 in clear, plain language:   
a. the complaint stage;   
b. the complaint definition;  
c. the decision on the complaint;  
d. the reasons for any decisions 
 made;  
e. the details of any remedy offered 
 to put things right;  
f. details of any outstanding 
 actions; and  
g. details of how to escalate the 
 matter to the Ombudsman 
 Service if the individual remains 
 dissatisfied.  
 

   

6.20 

Stage 2 is the landlord’s final response 
and must involve all suitable staff 
members needed to issue such a 
response. 

   

 

P
age 71



32 
 
 

Section 7: Putting things right 
Code 

provision Code requirement Comply: 
Yes / No Evidence Commentary / explanation 

7.1 

Where something has gone wrong a 
landlord must acknowledge this and set 
out the actions it has already taken, or 
intends to take, to put things right. 
These can include:  
• Apologising;  
• Acknowledging where things 
 have gone wrong;  
• Providing an explanation, 
 assistance or reasons;  
• Taking action if there has been 
 delay;  
• Reconsidering or changing a 
 decision;  
• Amending a record or adding a 
 correction or addendum;  
• Providing a financial remedy;  
• Changing policies, procedures or 
 practices.  
 

   

7.2 
Any remedy offered must reflect the 
impact on the resident as a result of 
any fault identified.   

   

7.3 

The remedy offer must clearly set out 
what will happen and by when, in 
agreement with the resident where 
appropriate. Any remedy proposed 
must be followed through to completion. 

   

P
age 72



33 
 
 

7.4 

Landlords must take account of the 
guidance issued by the Ombudsman 
when deciding on appropriate 
remedies.   

   

 

  

P
age 73



34 
 
 

 

Section 8: Putting things right 
Code 

provision Code requirement Comply: 
Yes / No Evidence Commentary / explanation 

8.1 

Landlords must produce an annual 
complaints performance and service 
improvement report for scrutiny and 
challenge, which must include:  
a. the annual self-assessment 
against this Code to ensure their 
complaint handling policy remains in 
line with its requirements.  
b. a qualitative and quantitative 
analysis of the landlord’s complaint 
handling performance. This must also 
include a summary of the types of 
complaints the landlord has refused to 
accept;  
c. any findings of non-compliance 
with this Code by the Ombudsman;  
d. the service improvements made 
as a result of the learning from 
complaints;  
e. any annual report about the 
landlord’s performance from the 
Ombudsman; and  
f. any other relevant reports or 
publications produced by the 
Ombudsman in relation to the work of 
the landlord.   

   

P
age 74



35 
 
 

8.2 

The annual complaints performance 
and service improvement report must 
be reported to the landlord’s governing 
body (or equivalent) and published on 
the on the section of its website relating 
to complaints. The governing body’s 
response to the report must be 
published alongside this. 

   

8.3 

Landlords must also carry out a self-
assessment following a significant 
restructure, merger and/or change in 
procedures. 

   

8.4 
Landlords may be asked to review and 
update the self-assessment following 
an Ombudsman investigation. 

   

8.5 

If a landlord is unable to comply with 
the Code due to exceptional 
circumstances, such as a cyber 
incident, they must inform the 
Ombudsman, provide information to 
residents who may be affected, and 
publish this on their website Landlords 
must provide a timescale for returning 
to compliance with the Code. 

   

 

  

P
age 75



36 
 
 

 

Section 9: Scrutiny & oversight: continuous learning and improvement   
Code 

provision Code requirement Comply: 
Yes / No Evidence Commentary / explanation 

9.1 

Landlords must look beyond the 
circumstances of the individual 
complaint and consider whether service 
improvements can be made as a result 
of any learning from the complaint.   

   

9.2 

A positive complaint handling culture is 
integral to the effectiveness with which 
landlords resolve disputes. Landlords 
must use complaints as a source of 
intelligence to identify issues and 
introduce positive changes in service 
delivery.   

   

9.3 

Accountability and transparency are 
also integral to a positive complaint 
handling culture. Landlords must report 
back on wider learning and 
improvements from complaints to 
stakeholders, such as residents’ 
panels, staff and relevant committees.   

   

9.4 

Landlords must appoint a suitably 
senior lead person as accountable for 
their complaint handling. This person 
must assess any themes or trends to 
identify potential systemic issues, 
serious risks, or policies and 
procedures that require revision.   

   

P
age 76



37 
 
 

9.5 

In addition to this a member of the 
governing body (or equivalent) must be 
appointed to have lead responsibility for 
complaints to support a positive 
complaint handling culture. This person 
is referred to as the Member 
Responsible for Complaints (‘the 
MRC’). 

   

9.6 

The MRC will be responsible for 
ensuring the governing body receives 
regular information on complaints that 
provides insight on the landlord’s 
complaint handling performance. This 
person must have access to suitable 
information and staff to perform this role 
and report on their findings. 

   

9.7 

As a minimum, the MRC and the 
governing body (or equivalent) must 
receive:  
a. regular updates on the volume, 
categories and outcomes of complaints, 
alongside complaint handling 
performance;  
b. regular reviews of issues and 
trends arising from complaint 
handling;    
c. regular updates on the outcomes 
of the Ombudsman’s investigations and 
progress made in complying with orders 
related to severe maladministration 
findings; and    

   

P
age 77



38 
 
 

d. annual complaints performance 
and service improvement report.  

9.8 

Landlords must have a standard 
objective in relation to complaint 
handling for all relevant employees or 
third parties that reflects the need to:  
a. have a collaborative and co-
operative approach towards resolving 
complaints, working with colleagues 
across teams and departments;  
b. take collective responsibility for 
any shortfalls identified through 
complaints, rather than blaming others; 
and  
c. act within the professional 
standards for engaging with complaints 
as set by any relevant professional 
body.  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 78



39 
 
 

Appendix B – Service request or complaint – flow charts  
 

 

  

  

Resident calls landlord to 
report that the contractor 

has not arrived at the 
agreed time. 

Can an explanation and 
resolution (to the 

resident’s satisfaction) be 
given on the call? 

 

Log complaint and 
action as per 

complaint policy. 

No 

Provide explanation 
and resolution. 

Record details of call 
on system. 

Yes Does the matter require 
enquiries beyond a brief 

call to the contractor? 

Yes 

No 

P
age 79



40 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Resident calls landlord to 
report repair. 

Is this the first time the 
resident has reported 

this issue? 

Service request – log 
repair and follow 

repair policy. 
Yes 

Is the resident chasing 
up a missed 

appointment? 

No 

Can an explanation and 
resolution (to the 

resident’s satisfaction) 
be given on the call? 

Yes Yes 
Provide explanation 

and resolution. Record 
details of call on 

system. 

Is the resident 
dissatisfied with the 

handling of repairs / the 
repetitiveness of the 

issue? 

Log complaint and 
action as per 

complaint policy. 

Yes 

No 

No 
No 

P
age 80



41 
 
 

 

 

 

Is this the resident’s first 
report of nuisance / 

ASB? 

Log as report of 
nuisance/ASB and 
follow ASB policy. 

Is there an ongoing 
investigation / case? 

Is resident contacting 
landlord about previously 
reported nuisance/ASB? 

1. Log complaint and 
action as per 

complaint policy. 
2. Log report of 
nuisance/ASB and 
follow ASB policy. 

 

Resident calls landlord 
regarding ASB or 

complaint about another 
resident. 

Is the resident making a 
report of nuisance or 

ASB? 

No 

No Yes 

Yes 

Should a case have 
been opened earlier 

based on the information 
previously provided? 

Likely falls outside 
policy, provide 

explanation. Record 
details of call on 

system. 

Is resident complaining 
about the way that their 
case has been handled? 

No 

Yes 

Yes No 

Yes 
No 

No 

Yes 

P
age 81



42 
 
 

 

  

P
age 82



Appendix 3 – Changes required to the Council’s complaints handling 

processes under the LGSCO and HO Codes 2024 

1. Whenever a resident expresses dissatisfaction landlords must give them the 
choice to make complaint.  
 

2. A complaint must be raised when the complainant/resident expresses 
dissatisfaction with the response to their service request. 
 

3. All resident/customer surveys to include reference to the Complaints Procedure.  
 

4. All staff must be aware of the complaints process and be able to pass details of 
the complaint to the appropriate person.  

 

5. Complaints Procedure should explain how the organisation will publicise details 
of the complaints policy, including information about the Ombudsman and the 
Codes. 

 

6. Complaints must be acknowledged, defined and logged at stage 1 of the 
complaints procedure within five working days of the complaint being received. 
 

7. Landlords must issue a full response to stage 1 complaints within 10 working 
days of the complaint being acknowledged. 
 

8. Requests for stage 2 must be acknowledged, defined and logged at stage 2 of 
the complaints procedure within five working days of the escalation request 
being received. 
 
 

 

9. At Stage 2 of the Complaints Procedure, any extension must be no more than 20 
working days without good reason, and the reason(s) must be clearly explained 
to the resident. 

 

10. When an organisation informs a resident about an extension to these timescales, 
they must be provided with the contact details of the Ombudsman. 
 

11. Council to advise complainants of the intervals for updates, where the timescales 
for extension exceed those set out in the Codes. (HO requirement only). 

 

12. The annual complaints performance and service improvement report must be 
reported to the landlord’s governing body (or equivalent) and published on the on 
the section of its website relating to complaints. The governing body’s response 
to the report must be published alongside this. 
 

 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
Wiltshire Council 
 
Standards Committee 
 
18 April 2024 

 
Recommendations from the Constitution Focus Group on Proposed Changes to 

the Constitution 
  
Purpose of Report 
 

1. This report asks the Standards Committee to consider proposed changes to the 
following sections of the Constitution: 

 Part 11A – Corporate Parenting Panel (Appendix A) 

 Part 5 – Access to Information Procedure Rules (Appendix B) 

 Part 7 – Cabinet Procedure Rules (Appendix C) 

 Part 8 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules (Appendix D) 
 

2. The Standards Committee is asked to make recommendations as it considers 
appropriate to Full Council. 
 
Background 

 
3. The Standards Committee has responsibility for oversight of the Council’s constitution 

and making recommendations to Council. 
 

4. The Standards Committee has established the Constitution Focus Group to review 
sections of the Constitution and present it with proposals to consider.  

 
5. The Focus Group met on 13 September 2023, 11 January 2024, and 3 April 2024 to 

consider the above sections of the Constitution. 
 
Main Considerations  
 
Part 11A 
 

6. Following the adoption by Full Council of a revised Corporate Parenting Strategy on 17 
October 2023, it was proposed to amend Part 11A of the Constitution, which sets out 
procedural and other arrangements for the Corporate Parenting Panel. 
 

7. The proposed changes would be to align the constitution with the newly approved 
strategy, along with other minor changes to officer titles, panel membership, and 
lowering the necessary quorum for Panel meetings.  

 
8. The Focus Group was supportive of the proposed changes, subject to minor wording 

clarifications. 
 

9. The proposed revised Part 11A is set out at Appendix A. 
 

Page 85

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 

Part 5 
 

10. Part 5 of the Constitution provides details of procedural rules relating to publication of 
and access to committee papers and other information, as well as notification 
requirements, procedures relating to confidential and exempt information, and the rights 
of Members to access information. 
 

11. To a large extent Part 5 reflects relevant legislative requirements, for example relating 
to publication of Key Cabinet decisions on the Forward Plan, or when an Executive 
meeting may be conduct wholly or in part in Private session. 

 
12. The proposals considered and recommended by the Focus Group were to provide 

further clarification where required, as well as more closely mirroring legislative 
language where this was relevant, and to update sections in response to other 
constitutional changes such as in relation to dispensations. 
 

13. The proposed revised Part 5 is set out at Appendix B. 
 
Part 7 
 

14. Part 7 of the Constitutions sets out the procedural rules which relate specifically to the 
Cabinet and meetings of the Cabinet. The document had not been updated since 2010. 
 

15. A number of changes and clarifications were therefore proposed to update titles and 
posts, correct signposting to other relevant sections of the constitution, and other minor 
wording adjustments. 

 
16. The proposed revised Part 7 is set out at Appendix C. 

 
Part 8 
 

17. Part 8 of the Constitutions sets out the procedural rules which relate specifically to the 
Overview and Scrutiny meetings and other related scrutiny matters such as call-in of 
Executive decisions. The document had not been updated since 2014. 
 

18. The Focus Group reviewed the part in detail, reordering the document to improve the 
structure of the section. It proposed a series of changes including: 

 

 Additional detail on membership of committees and procedures for elections of 
chairmen; 

 Clarifications on development of the overview and scrutiny work programme; 

 Enhanced detail on referral of items for consideration by a scrutiny committee by 
individual members or others; 

 Updates relating to requiring senior officers and members to give account to 
scrutiny committees; 

 Increased detail on the process for submission of call-ins of executive decisions, 
and the process to be followed at a committee meeting, including if an item were 
referred further to Full Council. 

 
19. The proposed revised Part 8 is set out at Appendix D.  

 

Page 86



 

 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Engagement 

 

20. A representative from the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee is appointed 
to the Constitution Focus Group as a standing member. In addition, all scrutiny 
committee chairmen were invited to a meeting of the Focus Group to discuss the 
proposals at an early stage. 
 
Safeguarding Implications 
 

21. There are no safeguarding implications. 
 
Public Health Implications 
 

22. There are no public health implications. 
 
Procurement Implications 
 

23. There are no procurement implications at present. 
 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal  

 
24. There are no equalities implications. 

 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations  
 

25. There are no environmental or climate change implications. 
 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is not taken 
 

26. The Constitution would remain out of date or not as effective as it could be. 
 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken  
 

27. No risks have been identified. 
 
Finance Implications  
 

28. There are no financial implications arising from this report.  
 
Legal Implications 
 

29. There are no legal implications.  
 

Workforce Implications 
 

30. There are no workforce implications. 
 
Conclusions 
 

31. The Focus Group has engaged with officers and met on several occasions to propose 
changes to improve the effectiveness of the Constitution. 

Page 87



 

 

 

Proposal 
 

32. To recommend Full Council approve changes to the following sections of the 
Constitution: 
 

 Part 11A – Corporate Parenting Panel 

 Part 8 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

 Part 7 – Cabinet Procedure Rules 

 Part 8 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
 
Perry Holmes - Director, Legal and Governance 

Report Author: Kieran Elliott, Democracy Manager (Democratic Services)  
 

Appendices 
Appendix A – Proposed Part 11A of the Constitution 
Appendix B – Proposed Part 5 of the Constitution 
Appendix C – Proposed Part 7 of the Constitution 
Appendix D1 – Proposed Part 8 of the Constitution (clean version) 
Appendix D2 – Proposed Part 8 of the Constitution (tracked changes) 
 
Background Papers 
 
None 
 

Page 88



1 
Part 11A   
Last Updated 16 October 2018  17 October 202321 May 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wiltshire Council 
Constitution  

Part 11A 

Corporate Parenting Panel 

  
 

Page 89



2 
Part 11A   
Last Updated 16 October 2018  17 October 202321 May 2024 

Contents 

1. Functions          3 
2. Quorum           4 
3. Frequency          4 
4. Reporting          4 
5. Terms of Reference         4

      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



3 
Part 11A   
Last Updated 16 October 2018  17 October 202321 May 2024 

PART 11A - CORPORATE 
PARENTING PANEL 

1. Functions 
 

1.1 The Corporate Parenting Panel is the primary vehicle for Members to meet with key 
officers and to challenge and scrutinise the performance, quality and efficacy of 
Wiltshire Council’s services. 
 

1.2 The Corporate Parenting Panel will comprise up to 8 Core Members drawn from 
elected Members politically balanced and nominated by group leaders. Group 
leaders will ensure that they appoint substitute members to cover absences. 
Associate Members will include officers from the council and key partner agencies 
and comprise of: 
 

• Corporate Director – People/Director of Childrens Services 

• Director – Families and Children 

• Head of Children in Care and Young People Care, Placements and EDS 

• Voice and Participation Manager Senior Commissioning Officer – Children’s 
Social Care (Voice and Influence) 

• A Representative from the Children in Care Council 

• Cabinet Member for Children, Education and Skills 

• Chair Representatives of Wiltshire Fostering Association 

• Service Manager – Quality Outcomes Conference and Reviewing Service 
Manager 

• Designed Doctor and Nurse for Children Looked After Children 

• Virtual School Headteacher 
 

1.3 If any of the core members are unable to attend a meeting they will send a substitute 
representative. 

1.4 On behalf of all Members acting as Corporate Parents, the Corporate Parenting 
Panel will ensure delivery of the following seven five strategic priorities: 
 
1.4.1 That our children and young people  feel safe and happy in a stable home and in 

their local community Strengthen the Corporate Parenting Role and Corporate 
Parenting function across Wiltshire Council as a whole. 

1.4.2 To support our children and young people to be the best that they can be, to achieve 
personally and educationally throughout their life and be supported to engage with 

training and employment opportunities Continue to improve timeliness of 
permanency for looked after children across the range of permanency options. 

1.4.3  
1.4.3 Ensuring the physical and emotional wellbeing of our children and young people is 

supported and at a time and place that suits them Ensure that there is sufficient 
accommodation for looked after children within Wiltshire which meets the 
needs of those children. Prioritise placement within Wiltshire. 

  
1.4.4 To support our children and young people to have positive relationships with people 

who are important to them and for them to be part of their local community where 

Page 91



4 
Part 11A   
Last Updated 16 October 2018  17 October 202321 May 2024 

they am trusted, respected, accepted and feel included Improve care leavers 
journey by ensuring an enhanced offer to care leavers across all areas: 
education, employment and training, independent living, housing options and 
health. 

1.4.5 For the voices of our children and young people to be heard and for it to matter and 

influence decision making and drive change Improve the educational outcomes 
for looked after children; closing the gap between looked after children and 
other children in the county. 

1.4.6 Ensure that looked after children are protected from the risk of child sexual 
exploitation and reduce the frequency with which some looked after children 
and care leavers currently go missing. 

1.4.7 Ensure that looked after children and care leavers have timely and easy 
access to mental health services. 

 
1.5 The Panel will appoint a Chairperson on an annual basis. 

 
1.6 To ensure that strategic oversight and critical challenge is effective, each Panel 

Membersmember of board will have a lead role in relation to delivery of one the  
strategic prioritiesy. 
 

2. Quorum 
 

2.1 The quorum of the Corporate Parenting Panel will be 50% 75% (46) Members, 70% 
(7) Associate Members in attendance. Where the meeting is not quorate, the 
Chairperson will adjourn the meeting. 
 

3. Frequency of meetings 
 

3.1 The Corporate Parenting Panel will meet bi-monthly with a minimum of 5 meetings 
times a year. 
 

4. Reporting 
 

4.1 The Panel will ould report its work through the Children’s Select Committee. 
Following each meeting the Panel Clerk Chairperson will send a copy of the Panel 
minutes and action log to the Chairpersonman of Children’s Select Committee.  
 

4.2 On an annual six-monthly basis the Panel Chairperson will prepare a report for 
Chairpersonman of the Children’s Select Committee, addressing progress against 
each of the seven five strategic priorities. 
 

4.3 In addition to this the Chairperson of the Corporate Parenting Panel will present an 
annual report to Full Council which will be shared with the Children’s Select 
Committee prior to submission. 
 

5. Terms of Reference 
 
  The Corporate Parenting Panel will: 

Page 92



5 
Part 11A   
Last Updated 16 October 2018  17 October 202321 May 2024 

5.1 Make a commitment to prioritising the needs of looked after children looked after 
care experienced and young people and their carers and ensure demand that all 
departments within the Council prioritise the needs of this group; 

5.2 Receive reports from the Children in Care Council and act on their views; 
5.3 Provide clear strategic and political direction in relation to corporate parenting; 
5.4 Show ambition and aspirations for all our children looked after and looked after 

children and care experienced young people and adultsleavers; 
5.5 Ensure that all Members and Wiltshire Council departments are fulfilling their roles 

and responsibilities as corporate parents proactively. This may involve, for 
example, the Corporate Parenting Panel organising specific education and training 
events for all members to ensure they are equipped with the knowledge and skills 
to be corporate parents; 

5.6 Investigate on behalf of all Members ways in which the role of Corporate Parenting 
can be improved, using examples of research and effective practice from other 
local authorities; 

5.7 Listen to the views of children, young people and their carers to involve them in the 
assessment and development of services; 

5.8 Engage with children and young people who are looked after, or have left care, by 
inviting them to act as advisers to the Panel; 

5.9 Monitor the performance, quality and outcomes of the Council’s services in relation 
to children and young people in public care and identify any areas for improvement; 

5.10 Scrutinise key performance indicators in relation to children and young people in 
the care of Wiltshire Council; 

5.11 Meet with government inspectors, where appropriate, for their input into 
inspections; 

5.12 Participate as members of the adoption and fostering panels; 
5.13 Agree a work plan, review progress, membership of the panel and attainment of its 

role and terms of reference and report to the Cabinet and Children’s Services 
Select Committee as appropriate, and in any case to the Full Council annually. 

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
Part 5 
Last Updated March 201921 May 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wiltshire Council 
Constitution  

Part 5 
Access to Information 

Procedure Rules 

Page 95



2 

 
Part 5 
Last Updated March 201921 May 2024 

Contents 

4. Scope           3 
5. Additional rights to information       3 
6. Rights to attend meetings        3 
7. Notice of public meetings        4 
8. Notice of private meetings        4 
9. Access to agenda and reports before a public meeting    4 
10. Supply of copies         5 
11. Access to minutes etc. after the meeting      5 
12. Background papers         5 
13. Summary of public’s rights to attend meetings     6 
14. Exclusion of access by the public to meetings     6 
15. Application of rules to the Cabinet       7 
16. Procedure before taking key decisions      7 
17. The forward plan         7 
18. General Exception         8 
19. Special Urgency         9 
20. Reports to Council         9 
21. Record of decisions         10 
22. Cabinet meetings relating to matters which are not key decisions  10 
23. Notice of private meetings of the Cabinet      10 
24. Attendance at private meetings of the Cabinet     10 
25. Decisions made by individual members of the Cabinet    11 
26. Overview and Scrutiny Committees’ access to documents   12 
27. Additional rights of access for Members      12 
28. Nature of rights          13 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 96



3 

 
Part 5 
Last Updated March 201921 May 2024 

PART 5 
ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

PROCEDURE RULES 
 

1. Wiltshire Council believes in public access to information in order to ensure that 

members of the public can exercise their rights to have a say about decisions and can 

understand what decisions have been taken and why. Although some information has 

to remain private, for example to respect personal privacy, commercial confidentiality or 

for legal reasons, the Council has adopted a presumption of openness that information 

will be available unless there is a substantial lawful reason why not. 
 

2. This Part 5 reflects the current statutory requirements set out in Section 100 Local 

Government Act 1972 and the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 

and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. These rules apply except 

where proceedings of the body concerned are governed by other specific legislation. 
 

3. Definitions 

3.1 Cabinet  means Cabinet or a committee of Cabinet. 

3.2 Full Council  means Full Council or a committee of Full Council, including sub-

committees.   

3.3 Offices  means the Council’s three hub offices at County Hall, Trowbridge, 

Monkton Park, Chippenham and Bourne Hill, Salisbury. 

3.4 Private Meeting means a meeting, or part of a meeting, of the decision-making 

body during which the public are excluded in accordance with 

relevant statutory provisions by virtue of paragraphs 14.1 or 14.3 

below. 

3.5 Proper Officer For this part means the Director of, Legal and Governance, or such 

other officer as designated from time to time by the Chief 

Executive. 

3.6  Days Unless where stated otherwise, days refers to working days 

4. Scope 
 

4.1 These rules apply to all meetings of Full Council or Cabinet unless stated otherwise. 

4.14.2 They also apply to all meetings of a joint committee, where all the members of 

the joint committee are members of a local authority Executive/Cabinet, which is 

authorized to discharge the function to which an Executive decision relates. 
 

5. Additional rights to information 
 

5.1 These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere in 

Commented [KE1]: From 2012 regs on what is a decision 
making body 

Page 97



4 

 
Part 5 
Last Updated March 201921 May 2024 

this Constitution or the law. 
 

6. Rights to attend meetings 
 

6.1 Members of the public may attend all Full Council or Cabinet meetings subject only to 

the exceptions set out in these rules. Task groups and other informal gatherings of 

Members are not covered by these rules. 

7. Notice of public meetings 

 
7.1 The Council will give at least five clear working days’ notice of any the time and place of 

a public meeting by posting details of the meeting at its Offices and on its website, or if 

a meeting is convened at less than five clear working days' notice, as soon as it is 

convened.  
 

8. Notice of private meetings 
 

8.1 The Council will give at least 28 clear calendar days’ notice of its intention to hold a 

meeting of the Executive in private by posting a noticemaking a notice available at its 

Offices and publishing that notice on its website. The notice must include a statement 

of the reasons for the meeting to be held in private. 

 

8.2 At least five clear working days before a private meeting the Council will post a further 

notice of its intention to hold a meeting in private  and make this available at its Offices 

and publish it on its website. The notice must include a statement of the reasons for the 

meeting to be held in private and details of any representations received about why the 

meeting should be open to the public and a statement of its responses to any such 

representations. 

 

8.3 Where a meeting to be held in private is convened at less than 28 clear calendar days’ 

notice the meeting may only be held in private with the agreement of: 

 

8.3.1 the chairman Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee; or 

8.3.2 if there is no such person or the chairman Chairman of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Committee is unable to act, the chairman Chairman 
of Full Council; or 

8.3.3 where there is no chairman Chairman of either the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee or of Full Council, the viceVice-chairman 
Chairman of Full Council. 

 
8.4 As soon as reasonably practicable after agreement has been given under this 

paragraph, the Council must postmust make available at its Offices and publish on its 

website a notice setting out the reasons why the meeting is urgent and cannot be 

reasonable deferred. 

 

9. Access to agenda and reports before a public meeting 
 

9.1 The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public available for 

Commented [EK2]: As defined above (eg includes committees) 
For avoidance of doubt, eg not anything called a meeting, only 
formal committee meetings 

Commented [KE3]: More precisely matching S100A (6)(a) LGA 
1972 

Commented [MJ4]: 28 days reflects requirements of para 5 
2012 Regulations 

Commented [EK5]: Wording reflects the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 Para 5(2)(a).  
 
Decision making body in those relate to exec meeting 

Commented [EK6]: Wording reflects the 2012 Regs Para 5(4)(a) 

Commented [EK7]: Wording reflects the 2012 Regs Para 5(7)(a) 

Page 98



5 

 
Part 5 
Last Updated March 201921 May 2024 

inspection at its Offices and on its website at least five clear working days before the 

public meeting. If an item is added to the agenda later, the revised agenda will be open 

to inspection from the time the item was added to the agenda. Where reports are 

prepared after the summons has been sent out, the Proper Officer shall make each 

such report available to inspection toby the public as soon as the report is completed 

and sent to Members. 

 

9.2 If the Proper Officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the public to reports 

which in his or her opinion relate to items during which, in accordance with these rules, 

the meeting is likely not to be open to the public. Such reports will be marked "not for 

publication" and state that they contain confidential or exempt information as defined in 

paragraphs 14.2 and 14.4 below. 

 

10. Supply of copies 

 
10.1 The council will supply copies of: 

 
10.1.1 any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
10.1.2 any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of 

the items in the agenda and; 
10.1.3 if the Proper Officer thinks fit, copies of any other documents supplied to 

Members in connection with an item, 
 

to any person any news outlet on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs. 

 

10.2 Where a meeting is open to the public during the proceedings or any part of them, 

there shall be made available for the use of members of the public present at the 

meeting a reasonable number of copies of the agenda and of the reports for the 

meeting.and make a reasonable number of copies available at the public meeting 

(except in relation to any part of the meeting not open to the public).  
 

11. Access to minutes etc. after the meeting 
 

11.1 The Council will make available copies of the following for six years after a meeting: 

 
11.1.1 the minutes of the meeting or records of decisions taken, together with 

reasons, for all meetings of the Cabinet, Council and its committees, 
excluding any part of the minutes of proceedings when the meeting was 
not open to the public or which disclose exempt or confidential information; 

11.1.2 a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the minutes 
open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent record 

11.1.3 the agenda for the meeting; and 
11.1.4 reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public.  

 
12. Background papers 

 
12.1 The relevant Director or otherwise the lead officer listed for a report will set out in every 

report a list of those documents (called background papers) relating to the subject 

Commented [EK8]: LGA 100B (7) says on request and payment 
of charge for benefit of any 'newspaper', not as a general 
requirement for the public. The exec regs define newspaper  to 
include any organisation collecting news, for use on the internet etc 

Commented [EK9]: Suggest putting this in its own section, as it 
is from 100B(6) and 10.1 is 100B(7) 

Commented [EK10]: To cover CDs or if a report is from a Head 
of Service etc 

Page 99



6 

 
Part 5 
Last Updated March 201921 May 2024 

matter of the report which in his/her their opinion: 

 
12.1.1 disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

report is based and; 
12.1.2 which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report; 
12.1.3 but does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or 

confidential information (as defined in paragraphs 14.2 and 14.4) and in 
respect of cabinet reports, the advice of a political assistant. 

Public inspection of background papers 
 

12.2 The Council will make available for public inspection at its Offices and on its website for 

six years after the date of the meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of 

background papers.  

 

13. Summary of public’s rights to attend meetings 

 
13.1 A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect and copy 

documents will be kept at and be made available to the public at the Offices. 

 

14. Exclusion of access by the public to meetings 

 

13.214.1 The following section is without prejudice to any power of exclusion to suppress 

or prevent disorderly conduct or other misbehaviour at a meeting. 

 
Confidential information – requirement to exclude public 

13.314.2 The public shall be excluded from meetings during an item of business 

whenever it is likely in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature 

of the proceedings that confidential information would be disclosed.  

 

13.414.3 Confidential information means information given to the Council by a government 

department on terms which forbid its public disclosure or information which cannot be 

publicly disclosed by court order or under any enactment.  

Exempt information – discretion to exclude public 

13.514.4 The public may be excluded from meetings during an item of business whenever 

it is likely in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 

proceedings that exempt information would be disclosed. 

 

13.614.5 Exempt information means information falling within the following seven 

categories (subject to any condition), as defined within Part I of Schedule 12A of the 

Local Government Act 1972: 

 

13.6.114.5.1 information relating to any individual; 
13.6.214.5.2 information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual; 
13.6.314.5.3 information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

Commented [KE11]: general right to exclude 2012 Regs section 
4 (5):  (5) Without prejudice to any power of exclusion to suppress or 
prevent disorderly conduct or other misbehaviour at a meeting, the 
decision-making body is not to have the power to exclude members 
of the public from a meeting while it is open to the public.  

Page 100



7 

 
Part 5 
Last Updated March 201921 May 2024 

particular person (including the authority holding that information); 
13.6.414.5.4 information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or 

contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour 
relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and 
employees of, or office holders under, the authority; 

13.6.514.5.5 information in respect of which a claim to legal professional 
privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings; 

13.6.614.5.6 information which reveals that the authority proposes: 
(a) to give under any enactment a notice by virtue of which requirements are 
imposed on a person, or 
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

13.6.714.5.7 information relating to any action taken or to be taken in 
connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime   

 
13.714.6 Information which falls into paragraphs 14.4.1 to 14.4.7 above is only exempt if 

and so long as in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining 

the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 

13.814.7 Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for 

which the local planning authority can grant itself planning permission pursuant to 

Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992. 

 
13.914.8 Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or 

adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Convention for the Protection of 

Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, as incorporated in the Human Rights Act 

1998 establishes a presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private 

hearing is necessary for one of the reasons specified in Article 6. 

 

14.15. Application of rules to the Cabinet 

 
14.1 15. 1 Paragraphs 8, and 16 to 27.5 only apply to the Cabinet. If the Cabinet meets to 

take a key Key decision it must also comply with paragraphs 4-14.4 7 to unless 

paragraphs 17.1 to 17.3 and 18.1 to 18.3 (general exception) or 19.1(special urgency) 

apply. A key decision is defined in Part 1 of this Constitution. 

 

15.2 If the Cabinet meets has a formal meeting to discuss a key Key decision to be 

taken collectively, with an officer other than a political assistant present, within 28 clear 

calendar days of the date according to the forward plan by which it is to be decided, 

then it must also comply with paragraphs 4-14.4 unless paragraphs 17.1 to 17.3 and 

18.1 to 18.3 (general exception) or paragraph 19.1(special urgency) apply. This 

requirement does not include meetings, whose sole purpose is for officers to brief 

Members / co-opted members. 

 

15.16. Procedure before taking key Key decisions 

 
16.1 A Key decision is defined at Article 13(7) of Part 2 of this Constitution. 

15.116.2 Subject to paragraphs 18.1 to 18.3 (general exception) and paragraph 

Commented [MJ12]: Schedule 12A Part 2 Para 9 

Page 101



8 

 
Part 5 
Last Updated March 201921 May 2024 

19.1(special urgency), a key Key decision may not be taken unless: 

 
15.1.116.2.1 a notice (called here a forward plan) has been published in 

connection with the matter in question and made available to the public at 
its Offices and on its website; 

15.1.216.2.2 at least 28 clear calendar days have elapsed since the 
publication of the forward plan; and 

15.1.316.2.3 where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet, 
notice of the meeting has been given in accordance with paragraph 7.1 
(notice of public meetings). 
 
 

16.17. The Fforward P planPlan 

 
16.117.1 Forward plans will be prepared by the Leader to cover a period of four months, 

beginning with the first day of any month. They will be prepared on a monthly basis and 

subsequent plans will cover a period beginning with the first day of the second month 

covered in the preceding plan. 

 

16.217.2 The forward plan will contain matters which the Leader Proper Officer has 

reason to believe will be subject of a key Key decision (as defined in Part 1 of this 

Constitution) to be taken by the Cabinet, Individual Members of the Cabinet, officers, or 

under joint arrangements in the course of the discharge of a cabinet function during the 

period covered by the plan. It will describe the following particulars in so far as the 

information is available or might reasonably be obtained: 

 
16.2.117.2.1 the matter in respect of which a decision is to be made; 
16.2.217.2.2 where the decision taker is an individual, his/hertheir name and 

title, if any, and, where the decision taker is a body, its name and details of 
membership; 

16.2.317.2.3 the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will be 
taken; 

16.2.417.2.4 the identity of the principal groups whom the decision taker 
proposes to consult before taking the decision; 

16.2.517.2.5 the means by which any such consultation is proposed to be 
undertaken; 

16.2.617.2.6 the steps any person might take who wishes to make 
representations to the cabinet or decision taker about the matter in respect 
of which the decision is to be made, and the date by which those steps 
must be taken; 

16.2.717.2.7 a list of the documents submitted to the decision taker for 
consideration in relation to the matter; 

16.2.817.2.8 the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction 
on their disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed in the 
forward plan are available; 

16.2.917.2.9 that other documents relevant to the matter may be submitted to 
the decision taker; and 

16.2.1017.2.10 the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) 
as they become available.  

Page 102



9 

 
Part 5 
Last Updated March 201921 May 2024 

 
16.317.3 Where in relation to any matter where the public may be excluded from a public 

meeting under paragraphs 14.1 or 14.3Paragraph 14, or where documents relating to 

the decision need not be disclosed to the public, the forward plan must contain the 

particulars of the matter, but may not contain any confidential information, exempt 

information or particulars of the advice of a political adviser or assistant.  

 

17.18. General exception 

 
17.118.1 If a matter which is likely to be a key Key decision has not been included in the 

forward plan, then subject to paragraph 19.1(special urgency), the decision may still be 

taken if: 

 
17.1.118.1.1  the decision must be taken by such a date that it is 

impracticable to defer the decision until it has been included in the next 
forward plan and until the start of the first month to which the next forward 
plan relates; 

17.1.218.1.2  the Proper Officer has informed the chair Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee, or if there is no such 
person, each member of that committee in writing, by notice, of the matter 
to which the decision is to be made; 

17.1.318.1.3  the Proper Officer has made copies of that notice 
available to the public at the Offices and on the Council’s website; and 

17.1.418.1.4  at least five clear working days have elapsed since the 
Proper Officer complied with the requirements of paragraph 18.1.3. 

 
17.218.2 As soon as reasonably practicable after the Proper Officer has complied with the 

above they must make available at the Offices and on the Council’s website a notice 

setting out the reasons why compliance with 17.16.2.2 above is impracticable. 

  

17.318.3 Where such a decision under paragraph 18.1 is taken collectively, it must be 

taken in public subject to the requirements of paragraph 14. 

 

18.19. Special urgency 

 
18.119.1 If, by virtue of the date by which a decision must be taken, paragraph 18.1 to 

18.3 (general exception) cannot be followed then the decision can only be taken if the 

decision taker (if an individual) or the chair of the body making the decision, obtains the 

agreement of; 

 
18.1.119.1.1 the chairman Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Management 

Committee; or 
18.1.219.1.2 if there is no such person, or if the chairman Chairman of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Management Committee is unable to act, the chairman 
Chairman of Full Council; or 

18.1.319.1.3 where there is no chairman Chairman of either the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Committee or of Full Council, the viceVice-chairman of 
Full Council. 

Commented [EK13]: Internal reference, relates to 4(2) and 
20(3) of 2012 regs 
 
This para encompasses 9(3) of the regs 

Page 103



10 

 
Part 5 
Last Updated March 201921 May 2024 

 
that the taking of the decision is urgent and cannot be reasonably deferred.  

 
19.20. Reports to Council 

  
19.120.1 If the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee thinks that a key Key 

decision has been taken which was not: 

 
19.1.120.1.1 included in the forward plan; or 
19.1.220.1.2 the subject of the general exception procedure under paragraph 18.1 

to 18.3; or 
19.1.320.1.3 the subject of an agreement under paragraph 19.1 (special urgency). 

 

the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee may require the Cabinet to submit 

a report to Full Council within such reasonable time as the Committee specifies.  

 

19.220.2 The power to require a report rests with the Overview and Scrutiny Management 

Committee, but is also delegated to the Proper Officer, who shall require such a report 

on behalf of the Committee when so requested by the Chairman or any five members of 

the Committee. Alternatively, the requirement may be raised by resolution passed at a 

meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee. 

Cabinet’s report to Full Council 

 
20.3 Where a report is required under Para 20.1, Tthe Cabinet will prepare a report for 

submission to the next available meeting of Full Council.  

20.4 However, if the next meeting of the Council is within seven days of receipt of the written 

notice, or the a resolution of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee, then 

the report may be submitted to the meeting after that.  

19.320.5 The report to Full Council will set out particulars of the decision, the individual or 

body making the decision, and, if the Leader Cabinet is of the opinion that it was not a 

key Key decision, the reasons for that opinion. 

Reports on special urgency decisions 

 
19.420.6 The Leader shall report any decision taken under paragraph 19.1 (special 

urgency) to the next available meeting of Full Council.  In any event the Leader will 

submit an annual reportreport annually to Full Council on the Cabinet decisions taken 

under paragraph 19.1 (special urgency) in the preceding twelve months. The report will 

include the number of decisions so taken and a summary of the matters in respect of 

which those decisions were taken, if any. 

 

20.21. Record of decisions 

 
20.121.1 After any meeting of the Cabinet, whether held in public or private, the Proper 

Officer or their nominee or, where no officer was present, the person presiding at the 

Commented [EK14]: Wording used in regs is Executive not 
specific to Leader 

Commented [EK15]: The number is usually 0 - it is reported and 
minuted, but not necessarily requiring a written report in that 
circumstance 

Page 104



11 

 
Part 5 
Last Updated March 201921 May 2024 

meeting, will produce a record of every decision taken at that meeting as soon as 

practicable. The record will include: 

 
20.1.121.1.1 A record of the decision including the date it was made; 
20.1.221.1.2 A record of the reasons for the decision; 
20.1.321.1.3 Details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the 

decision taker; 
20.1.421.1.4 A record of any conflict of interest relating to the matter decided which 

is declared by any member of the decision taker; and   
20.1.521.1.5 In respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of any 

dispensation granted by the Standards Dispensation Sub-Committee or 
Monitoring Officer.  

 
20.221.2 In relation to decisions made by officers, the officer will produce a record of their 

decision in accordance with Part 3 of this Constitution as soon as reasonably 

practicable after the decision is made.  

 

 

 

21.22. Cabinet meetings relating to matters which are not Kkey decisions 

 
21.122.1 The Cabinet will decide whether meetings relating to matters which are not Kkey 

decisions will be held in public or private. 
 

22.23. Notice of private meetings of the Cabinet 

 
22.123.1 Members of the Cabinet will be entitled to receive five clear working days’ notice 

of a meeting to which they are summoned, unless the meeting is convened at shorter 

notice as a matter of urgency. 

 

23.24. Attendance at private meetings of the Cabinet 

 
23.124.1 All members of the Cabinet will be served notice of all private meetings of 

Committees of the Cabinet, whether or not they are Members of that Committee. 
 

23.224.2 All members of the Cabinet are entitled to attend a private meeting of any 

Committee of the Cabinet. 
 

24.3 Notice of private meetings of the Cabinet will be served on the chairs Chairs of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee and any other sub-committees 

Overview and Scrutiny Select Committee, at the same time as notice is served on 

members of the Cabinet. Where the a Overview and Scrutiny Committee does not have 

a Cchairman, the notice will be served on all the members of that Committee. 

 

23.324.4 Where a matter under consideration at a private meeting of the Cabinet is within 

the remit of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee or any other Scrutiny 

Select/sub- committee Committeee, the chair Chairman of that Committee or in his/her 

their absence the vice Vice-Cchairman may attend that private meeting with the 

Page 105



12 

 
Part 5 
Last Updated March 201921 May 2024 

consent of the person presiding, and speak. 

 

23.424.5 The Executive DirectorsChief Executive, Corporate Directors, the Chief Finance 

Officer andDirectors and the Monitoring Officer and their nominees are entitled to 

attend any meeting of the Cabinet. The Cabinet may not meet unless the Proper Officer 

has been given reasonable notice that a meeting is to take place. 

 

23.524.6 A private meeting may only take place in the presence of the Proper Officer or 

his/hertheir nominee who will beare responsible for recording and 

publicisingpublicizingpublicizing the decisions. 

 

23.624.7 The provisions of 21.1 to 21.2 will apply where meetings of the Cabinet are held 

in private. 

 

 

 

 

24.25. Decisions made by individual members of the Cabinet 

 
Reports intended to be taken into account 

24.125.1 Where an individual member of the Cabinet receives a report which he/shethey 

intends to take into account in making any key Key decision, then he/shethey will not 

make the decision until at least five clear working days after receipt of that report. 

Provision of copies of reports to Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

 
24.225.2 On giving of such a report to an individual decision maker, the person who 

prepared the report will give a copy of itprovide a copy  to the chair Chairman of an the 

relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee as soon as reasonably practicable, and 

make it publicly available at the same time. 

Record of individual decision 

 
24.325.3 As soon as reasonably practicable after an executive decision has been taken by 

an individual member of the Cabinet, a written record of the decision must be produced 

which must include the following:  

 

24.3.125.3.1 record of the decision including the date it was made; 
24.3.225.3.2 A record of the reasons for the decision; 
24.3.325.3.3 Details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the 

member; 
24.3.425.3.4 A record of any conflict of interest relating to the matter decided which 

is declared by any member of the Cabinet who is consulted by the member 
which relates to the decision; and   

24.3.525.3.5 In respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of any 
dispensation granted by the Standards Dispensation Sub-Committee or 

Commented [EK16]: Protocol 5 makes this the process for non-
key decisions too, which is nearly all of them 

Page 106



13 

 
Part 5 
Last Updated March 201921 May 2024 

Monitoring Officer. 
 
 

24.425.4 The provisions of paragraphs 11.1 to 12.2 (access to minutes and background 

papers after meetings) will also apply to the making of decisions by individual members 

of the Cabinet. This does not require the disclosure of exempt or confidential 

information or advice from a political or mayor’s assistant. 

 

25.26. Overview and scrutiny committees’ aAccess to documents for 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

 
Rights to copies 

25.126.1 Subject to paragraph 26.4 to 26.5 (limit on rights) below, any member of an 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee (including its sub-committees) is entitled to copies of 

any document which is in the possession or control of the Leaderthe Cabinet and which 

contains material relating to: 

 
25.1.126.1.1 any business transacted at a public or private meeting of the Cabinet; 

or 
25.1.226.1.2 any decision taken by an individual member of the Cabinet; or 
25.1.326.1.3 any executive decisions that have been made by an officer in 

accordance with Part 3D of this Constitution. 
 

25.226.2 Where a member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee (including its sub-

committees) requests a document which falls within the above, the Leader Cabinet 

must provide that document as soon as reasonably practicable and in any case no 

later than ten clear working days after the LeaderCabinet  receives the request.  

 

25.326.3 Subject to paragraph 26.4 to 26.5, the chair Chairman of the any Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee will be entitled to foresight of papers in relation to private decisions 

of the Cabinet before the decision is made. 

Limit on rights 

25.426.4 A member of the any Overview and Scrutiny Committee will not be entitled to: 

 
25.4.126.4.1 any document that is in draft form; 
25.4.226.4.2 any document or part of it that contains exempt or confidential 

information, unless that information is relevant to an action or decision they 
are reviewing or scrutinising or intend to scrutinise or any review contained in 
any programme of work of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees; or 

25.4.326.4.3 the advice of a political adviser [or assistant]. 
 

25.526.5 Where the Leader Cabinet determines that a member of the any Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee is not entitled to a copy of a document, or part of any such 

document, for the reasons set out above the Leader Cabinet must provide the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee with a written statement setting out their reasons for 

Commented [EK17]: Regs say 'of the executive of that 
authority' 

Page 107



14 

 
Part 5 
Last Updated March 201921 May 2024 

that decision.  

 
26.27. Additional rights of access for Members 

 
26.127.1 Any document which is in the possession or under the control of the Leader and 

contains material relating to: 

 

26.1.127.1.1 any business to be transacted at a public meeting; 
26.1.227.1.2 any business transacted at a private meeting; 
26.1.327.1.3 any decision made by an individual member; or 
26.1.427.1.4 an executive decision made by an officer 

 
26.227.2 must be available for inspection by any Member unless: 

 
26.2.127.2.1 it contains confidential information, or exempt information falling within 

paragraphs 14.4.1, 14.4.2, 14.4.3 (but only to the extent that the information 
relates to any terms proposed or to be proposed by or to the Council in the 
course of negotiations for a contract), 14.4.4, 14.4.5, and 14.4.7 of the 
categories of exempt information; or 

26.2.227.2.2 it contains the advice of a political adviser.  
 

27.3 Guidance to Members on requesting access to exempt information is provided at 

Schedule 1 of Protocol 1 of the Constitution. 

 

26.327.4 In relation to public meetings, where a document is required to be available for 

inspection it must be available for at least five clear working days before the meeting 

except where the meeting is convened at shorter notice or an item is added to an 

agenda at shorter notice in which case the document must be available for inspection 

when the meeting is convened or the item is added to the agenda.   

 

26.427.5 In relation to private meetings, decisions made by an individual member, or 

executive decisions made by an officer, where a document is required to be available 

for inspection it must be available within 24 hours of the meeting concluding or, where 

an executive decision is made by an individual member or an officer, within 24 hours 

of the decision being made.  

Material relating to key Key decisions 

26.527.6 All Members will be entitled to inspect any document (except those available 

only in draft form) in the possession or under the control of the Leader Executive which 

relates to any key Key decision unless the exceptions in paragraph 27.1 to 27.2 above 

apply. 

 

27.28. Nature of rights 

 
27.128.1 These rights of Members are additional to any other right he/shethey may have. 

Page 108



Part 7   1 
Last Updated 01 December 201021 May 2024   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wiltshire Council 
Constitution  

Part 7 

Cabinet Procedure Rules 

Page 109



Part 7   2 
Last Updated 01 December 201021 May 2024   

 

Contents 

1. Who may make Cabinet decisions?       3 
2. Delegation by the Leader        3 
3. Sub-delegation of cabinet functions       4 
4. The Council’s scheme of delegation and cabinet functions   4 
5. Conflicts of interest         4 
6. Location and frequency of cabinet meetings     5 
7. Public and private meetings of the cabinet      5 
8. Public and Member participation at cabinet meetings    5 
9. Quorum           5 
10. Procedure for cabinet decision making      5 
11. Conduct of cabinet meetings        5 
12. Business of cabinet meetings        6 
13. Consultation          6 
14. Setting Cabinet agendas        6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



Part 7   3 
Last Updated 01 December 201021 May 2024   

PART 7 
CABINET PROCEDURE RULES 

Who may make Cabinet decisions? 

1. The Leader will decide how arrangements for the discharge of cabinet functions 
are to be exercised, except insofar as they are already set out in the Cabinet 
arrangements adopted by the Council.  

2. As set out in Part 3C (Delegation of Executive Functions), Aarrangements for 
the discharge of Cabinet functions may provide for cabinet functions to be 
discharged by:  

1.1 Wiltshire Council’s Cabinet as a whole 
1.2 a committee of the Cabinet 
1.3 an individual member of the Cabinet 
1.4 an officer 
1.5 an Area Board 
1.6 joint arrangements or 
1.7 another local authority. 

Delegation by the Leader  

3. In accordance with Article 7 of Part 2 of this Constitution the Leader will decide 
who is to discharge cabinet functions. 

4. At the first available meeting of the Full Council, tThe Leader will present to the 
councilprovide a written record of delegations made by him/herthey have made 
for inclusion in the council’s scheme of delegation at Part 3C to this constitution. 
The document presented by the Leader will contain the following information 
about Cabinet functions in relation to the coming year: 

4.1 the names, addresses and electoral divisions of the people 
appointed to the Cabinet by the Leader; 

4.2 the extent of any authority delegated to Cabinet Members 
individually, including any details of the limitation on their 
authority; 

4.3 the terms of reference and constitution of such Cabinet 
committees as the Leader appoints and the names of Cabinet 
Mmembers appointed to them; 

4.4 the nature and extent of any delegation of Cabinet functions to 
area committees, any other authority or any joint arrangements 
and the names of those Cabinet Members appointed to any joint 
committee for the coming year; and 

4.5 the nature and extent of any delegation to officers with details of 
any limitation on that delegation, and the title of the officer to 
whom the delegation is made. 

5. The record will be updated by the Monitoring Officer from time to time to reflect 
the appointments by, and allocation of responsibilities from, the Leader. 

Commented [KE1]: Per Part 3C this may be updated from time 

to time, so does not need to wait for Full council 

Commented [EK2]: Unnecessary, and addresses might be 

restricted as a sensitive interest 

Commented [EK3]: Process laid out in Part 3C 

Page 111



Part 7   4 
Last Updated 01 December 201021 May 2024   

Sub-delegation of Cabinet functions 

6. Where the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or an individual member of the 
Cabinet is responsible for any Cabinet function, they may delegate further to an 
area committee, joint arrangements or an officer. 

7. Unless the Council directs otherwise, if the Leader delegates functions to the 
Cabinet, then the Cabinet may delegate further to a committee of the Cabinet or 
to an officer. 

8. Unless the Leader directs otherwise, a committee of the cabinet to whom 
functions have been delegated by the Leader may delegate further to an officer. 

9. Even where Cabinet functions have been delegated, that does not prevent the 
discharge of delegated functions by the person or body who delegated them. 

The Council’s scheme of delegation and cabinet functions 

10. Subject to Paragraph 11 below the Council’s scheme of delegation will be 
subject to adoption by the Council and may only be amended by the Council. It 
will contain the details required in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

11. The Leader may amend the scheme of delegation relating to Ccabinet functions 
at any time during the year.  

12. To do so, the Leader must give written notice to the Pproper Oofficer and to the 
person, body or committee concerned.  

11.13. The notice must set out the extent of the amendment to the scheme of 
delegation, and whether it entails the withdrawal of delegation from any person, 
body, committee or the Cabinet as a whole.  

12.14. The Proper Officer will present a report to the next ordinary meeting of 
the councilFull Council setting out the changes made by the Leader. 

13.15. Where the Leader seeks to withdraw delegation from a committee, notice 
will be deemed to be served on that committee when he/she has served on it as 
its chairthe decision is provided to the chair of that committee. 

Conflicts of interest 

14.16. Where the Leader has a conflict of interest in any matter this shall be 
dealt with as set out in the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members in Part 12 of 
this Constitution. 

15.17. If every Member of the Cabinet has a conflict of interest this shall be 
dealt with as set out in the council’s Code of conduct for Members in Part 12 of 
this constitution. 

16.18. If the exercise of a cabinet function has been delegated to a committee 
of the cabinet, an individual member or an officer, and should a conflict of 
interest arise, then the function will be exercised in the first instance by the 
person or body by whom the delegation was made and otherwise as set out in 
the council’s Code of Conduct for Members in Part 12 of this constitution. 

Commented [EK4]: redundant 

Page 112



Part 7   5 
Last Updated 01 December 201021 May 2024   

Location and frequency of Cabinet meetings 

19. The Cabinet will meet schedule at least 11 meetings at least 11 times per year 
at times to be agreed by the Leader. 

17.20.  The Cabinet shall meet at the Council’s main offices, or another location 
to be agreed by the Leader. 

Public and private meetings of the Cabinet 

21. The access to information rules in Part 5 of this constitution set out the 
requirements covering public and private meetings of Cabinet and any Cabinet 
Committees.  

18.22. Other than the legal requirements, consideration should also be given to 
any principles of decision-making set out in Article 13 of Part 2 of this 
constitution. 

Public and Member participation at Cabinet meetings 

23. The Ccabinet welcomes questions or statements from members of the public.   

24. However, the sSpecific arrangements for public and Member participation at 
Cabinet or Cabinet Committee meetings are a matter for determination by the 
Leader. 

25.  and will as such be kept under review.The Leader will keep arrangements 
under review. 

Quorum 

19.26. The quorum for a meeting of the Ccabinet, or a committee of it, shall be 
one quarter of the total number of members of the Ccabinet (including the 
Leader), or three including the Leader, whichever is the larger, unless otherwise 
specified in a Cabinet committee term of reference. 

Procedure for cabinet decision making 

20.27. Cabinet decisions which have been delegated to the Cabinet as a whole 
will be taken at a meeting convened in accordance with the access to 
information rules in Part 5 of the Constitution. 

21.28. Where Cabinet decisions are delegated to a committee of the Cabinet, 
the rules applying to cabinet decisions taken by them shall be the same as 
those applying to those taken by the Cabinet as a whole.  

Conduct of Cabinet meetings 

22.29. The Leader will preside at any meeting of the Cabinet or its committees 
at which he/shethey is are present, or may appoint another person to do so. 

23.30. If the Leader is absent and has not appointed another person to preside 
in his/hertheir place, a person appointed to do so by those present shall 
preside. 

Commented [EK5]: To ensure sufficient meetings are scheduled 

as normal, such as monthly, but not to require meetings where there 

is insufficient business to transact 

Commented [EK6]: Shareholder group says Quorum is 2. 

Page 113



Part 7   6 
Last Updated 01 December 201021 May 2024   

24.31. Details of who may attend Cabinet meetings are set out in the access to 
information rules in Part 5 of this Constitution. It is a matter for the Cabinet to 
determine if these rules should be widened, for example to enable members of 
the public to attend meetings that would otherwise be private. 

25.32. Members of the Council who are not Cabinet Members may attend 
meetings of the Cabinet and may speak with the consent of the Leader. Chairs 
of the Standards Committee and the scrutiny committees will be invited to 
attend the Cabinet to present their reports or provide updates as appropriate. 

Business of Cabinet meetings 

26.33. At each ordinary meeting of the Ccabinet the following business will be 
conducted: 

30.1consideration of the minutes of the last meeting 

30.2 declarations of interest, if any 

30.3 matters referred to the Cabinet (whether by an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or by the Council) for reconsideration by the Cabinet in 
accordance with the provisions contained at in the overview and scrutiny 
procedure rules set out in Part 8 of this constitution or the budget and policy 
framework procedure rules set out in Part 6 of this constitutionPart 6 and 
Part 8 of the Constitution (Budget and Policy Framework, and Overview 
and Scrutiny Procedure Rules). 

30.4 matters that individual the Leader cabinet members determines shall be 
brought before Cabinet following consultation with advisory panelsany 
necessary or appropriate consultations 

30.5 consideration of any reports from overview and scrutiny committees where 
appropriate, and 

30.6 Other matters set out in the agenda for the meeting, and which shall 
indicate which are key decisions and which are not in accordance with the 
access to information procedure rules set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

Consultation 

34. All reports to the Cabinet from any Member of the Cabinet or an officer on 
proposals relating to the Budget and Policy Framework must contain details of 
the nature and extent of consultation with stakeholders and relevant overview 
and scrutiny committees, and the outcome of that consultation.  

27.35. Reports about other matters will set out the details and outcome of 
consultation as appropriate. The level of consultation required will be 
appropriate to the nature of the matter under consideration. 

28.36. Reports must state that consultation has been carried out in accordance 
with the council’s consultation guidance or explain the reason for any 
divergence from that guidance. 

 

Commented [EK7]: In case something other than an advisory 

panel 

Page 114



Part 7   7 
Last Updated 01 December 201021 May 2024   

Setting Cabinet agendas 

29.37. The Leader will decide upon the schedule for the meetings of the 
Cabinet. He/sheThey may put on the agenda of any Cabinet meeting any 
matter which he/shethey wishes, whether or not authority has been delegated to 
the Cabinet, a committee of it or any member or officer in respect of that matter. 
The Proper Officer will comply with the Leader’s requests in this respect. 

a. Any member of the cabinet may require the Proper Officer to make sure that an 
item is placed on the agenda of the next available meeting of the cabinet for 
consideration. If he/she makes such a request the Proper Officer will comply. 

30.38. The Proper Officer will make sure that an item is placed on the agenda of 
the next available meeting of the Cabinet where a relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, or the Full Council, has resolved that an item be 
considered or re-considered by the Cabinet. However, there may be only up to 
two such items on any one agenda. 

39. The Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Financial Officer may include an item for 
consideration on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting and may require the director 
of resourcesProper Officer to call such a meeting in pursuance of their statutory 
duties. 

40.  In other circumstances, where any two of the Head of Paid Service, Chief 
Financial OfficerS.151 Officer and Mmonitoring Oofficer are of the opinion that a 
meeting of the Cabinet needs to be called to consider a matter that requires a 
decision, they may jointly include an item on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting. 

31.41.  If there is no meeting of the Cabinet soon enough to deal with the issue 
in question, then the person(s)those listed above entitled to include an item on 
the agenda may also require that a meeting be convened by the Proper Officer 
at which the matter will be considered. 

Commented [KE8]: Eg following a call-in being upheld 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 8 
Last Updated 21 May 2024  1 
 

 

Wiltshire Council 

Constitution 

Part 8 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Procedure Rules 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 117



Part 8 
Last Updated 21 May 2024  2 
 

Contents 

1. Numbers and arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny Committees   3 

2. Limitations on Membership of Overview and Scrutiny Committees   3 

3. Co-optees           3 

4. Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees     3 

5. Role of Overview and Scrutiny Committees      4 

6. Meetings           4 
 
Frequency 
Quorum 
Agenda Items 
Work Programme 
Reference of matters to an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

7. Member Call for Action         6 

8. Area Boards           7 

9. Scrutiny of crime and disorder partnerships      7 

10. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committees     7 

11. Members and officers giving account       7 

12. Attendance by others and evidence gathering      8 

13. Call-in            9 

14. Call-in and Urgency          11 
 

 

  

Page 118



Part 8 
Last Updated 21 May 2024  3 
 

PART 8 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

PROCEDURE RULES 
1. Numbers of and arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

1.1 Full Council will appoint such numbers of Overview and Scrutiny Committees in 
accordance with Article 6(4) of Part 2 of this Constitution. 

1.2 The Terms of Reference and arrangements of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees are also set out in Article 6 of Part 2 of this Constitution. 

2. Limitations on Membership of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

2.1 No member of the Cabinet may be appointed as a member of an Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, Task Group, Rapid Scrutiny Exercise, or other scrutiny activity.  

2.2 As members of the Executive administration supporting the Cabinet in formulating 
and developing policy, Paragraph 2.1 shall also apply to Portfolio Holders as defined 
at Article 7(9) of Part 2 of the Constitution. 

2.3 No Member may take part in scrutinising a decision in which they have been directly 
involved. 

3. Co-Optees 

3.1 All Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall be entitled to appoint non-voting Co-
Optees subject to ratification by Full Council.  

3.2 They may also select key partners or stakeholders as informal non-voting members 
of their committee. 

Education representatives 

3.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee dealing with education matters shall 
additionally include in its membership the following voting representatives: 

3.3.1 One Church of England diocese representative 

3.3.2 One Roman Catholic diocese representative 

3.3.3 Three Parent Governor representatives from local authority maintained 
schools 

3.4 The representatives above may participate fully in any matter but may only vote 
where the relevant committee’s functions relate wholly or in part to any education 
functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet, such as any scrutiny of the 
council in its role as a local education authority.  

4. Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

4.1 Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for electing its Chairman 
at their first meeting following the annual meeting of Full Council. The Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees shall use the same procedure as that used to elect Chairmen of 
Area Boards as set out at Paragraphs 4.9-4.15 of Part 3B of the Constitution 

Page 119



Part 8 
Last Updated 21 May 2024  4 
 

4.2 Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen must be drawn from the voting members of a 
committee. 

5. Role of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

Scrutiny Role 

5.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees may: 

5.1.1 Review and scrutinise the decisions made by, and the performance of, the 
cabinet and officers both in relation to individual decisions and over time; 

5.1.2 Review and scrutinise the performance of the council in relation to its policy 
objectives, performance targets and/or particular service areas; 

5.1.3 Question members of the Cabinet and first and second tier officers about their 
decisions and performance, whether generally in comparison with service 
plans and targets over a period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, 
initiatives or projects; 

5.1.4 Make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or Full Council arising from the 
outcome of the scrutiny process; 

5.1.5 For the avoidance of doubt, the scrutiny role does not extend to individual 
regulatory decisions such as development control and licensing, although 
reviews of general regulatory policy and service performance can be 
undertaken if felt necessary or invited to do so;  

5.1.6 Review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and 
invite reports from them by requesting them to address the relevant overview 
and scrutiny body and local people about their activities and performance. 

Policy review and development role 

5.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees may:  

5.2.1 assist Full Council and the Cabinet in the development of the council’s budget 
and policy framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues; 

5.2.2 hold enquiries, conduct research, undertake consultation and encourage 
community participation in the development options; 

5.2.3 liaise with other external organisations operating in the County to ensure that 
the interests of local people are enhanced by collaborative working; 

5.2.4  In relation to the development of the council’s approach to other matters not 
forming part of its policy and budget framework, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees may make proposals to the Cabinet for developments in so far as 
they relate to matters within their terms of reference as set out in Article 6 of 
this Constitution. 

5.2.5 Access such documents and receive notice of such meetings as set out in 
Part 5 of the Constitution, Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

6. Meetings 

Frequency 

6.1 The frequency and timing of meetings should reflect the demands placed on the 
committees from the overall work programme agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee (“The Management Committee”). 

Page 120



Part 8 
Last Updated 21 May 2024  5 
 

6.2 However, there shall be at least six ordinary meetings of each Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee scheduled each year.  

6.3 Additional meetings may be scheduled from time to time where considered 
appropriate by the Proper Officer.  

6.4 An extraordinary Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting may also be called by: 

6.4.1 the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 

6.4.2 any three members of that committee 

6.5 The Proper Officer, if they consider it necessary or appropriate.  The notice for any 
extraordinary meeting must specify the business proposed to be transacted at the 
meeting, with no consideration of previous minutes or reports from Committees. 

Quorum 

6.6 The quorum for a meeting of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be one 
quarter of the number of voting members of that committee, subject to a minimum of 
three. 

6.7 Non-voting Members shall count towards that quorum, subject to a minimum of two 
voting members being present. 

Agenda Items  

6.8 Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall consider the following business: 

6.8.1 Minutes of the last meeting 

6.8.2 Declarations of interest 

6.8.3 Chairman’s Announcements 

6.8.4 Consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for a review in relation 
to call in of a decision 

6.8.5 Responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6.8.6 The Forward Work Plan for the committee; and 

6.8.7  Such business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 

Work Programme 

6.9 The Management Committee will be responsible for approving the overall work 
programme in order to ensure the most effective allocation of resources across all 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

6.10 The Management Committee will work co-operatively with all other Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees, also known as Select Committees, and with all political groups, 
in preparing its overall work programme.  

6.11 The Management Committee will be mindful of the council’s priorities set out in the 
Business Plan and the benefit of establishing an effective working relationship with 
the Cabinet, also known as the Executive, and the Audit & Governance Committee in 
setting its work programme. It will also have regard to Protocol 10 of the Constitution, 
Governance Reporting Arrangements. 

Page 121



Part 8 
Last Updated 21 May 2024  6 
 

6.12 The Management Committee and other Overview and Scrutiny Committees may 
also liaise as appropriate with the Cabinet, Chief Executive, Corporate Directors, and 
Directors, as part of determining the work programme. 

Reference of matters to overview and scrutiny committee 

Referrals by an Individual Member 

6.13 Any Member of the Council may inform the Designated Scrutiny Officer that they 
wish to refer to an Overview and Scrutiny Committee any matter which is relevant to 
the functions of that committee and is not an excluded matter (insert legislative 
reference). 

6.14 Following such notice, the item will be listed on the agenda at the next ordinary 
meeting of the appropriate committee as a referred matter. The Member referring the 
matter will be invited to attend the meeting and set out what Overview and Scrutiny 
activity or action they consider would be appropriate. The Committee will then 
determine what if any action should be taken in response to the discussion. If the 
Committee considers that no further work or action is appropriate the matter should 
not be debated further, and they will provide reasons to the requesting Member.  

Referrals by Area Boards or through Member Call for Action  

6.15 The Management Committee shall include on its agenda any referral from a Member 
Call for Action or an Area Board which has followed the proper processes set out at 
sections 7 and 8 below. 

Referrals by Full Council or Cabinet 

6.16 The Management Committee shall also respond, as soon as its work programme 
permits, to referrals from Full Council and, if it considers it appropriate, the Cabinet, 
to review particular areas of council activity. 

6.17 Where it does so, the Management Committee shall report its findings and any 
recommendations back to Full Council and/or Cabinet.  

7. Member Call for Action (MCfA) 

7.1 MCfA is a process that enables Members to deal with issues of concern in their local 
communities. When concerns arise – either as a result of information from 
individuals, community groups, or the Member's own observations – they are able to 
trigger a response from service providers and ensure the concerns are dealt with. 
What makes the MCfA different from a more general request for scrutiny is the focus 
of the MCfA is on neighbourhood or locality issues, and specifically the quality of 
public service provision at a local level. 

7.2 Any Member may submit a MCfA using the appropriate form available from the 
Designated Scrutiny Officer. The MCfA is intended to be a process of last resort and 
therefore a Member must demonstrate that reasonable steps have been taken to 
resolve the matter including a response from the relevant Cabinet Member and 
Director.  

7.3 In the first instance the relevant Area Board will consider the MCfA and will then be 
placed on the agenda of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee should 
the Member remain dissatisfied. 

Page 122



Part 8 
Last Updated 21 May 2024  7 
 

7.4 It is for the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee to determine how it 
wishes to respond to the MCfA and in the case of refusal to undertake a review then 
reasons must be provided.  

8. Area Boards 

8.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee will consider referrals from Area 
Boards on issues which have been the subject of local review and are multi-
boundary, or have budget, policy or contractual implications for the council which 
have first been debated at an Area Board.  

8.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee will have full discretion in how it 
wishes to respond to such referrals. This does not preclude Overview and Scrutiny 
initiating its own review of a local issue, however in general reviews will focus on 
broader strategic and policy matters. 

9. Scrutiny of crime and disorder reduction partnerships 

9.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee will be the responsible 
committee for scrutiny of performance of the partnerships under the provisions of the 
Police and Criminal Justice Act 2006.  

10. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

10.1 Once recommendations have been formed on a matter, an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may submit a formal report for consideration as appropriate by: 

15.1.1 the Cabinet as a whole, or 

15.1.2 a Cabinet Member, if the proposals relate to an executive function and are 
consistent with the existing budgetary and policy framework or 

15.1.3 to Full Council  if the recommendation would require a departure from or a 
change to the agreed budget and policy framework,.  

10.2 If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on one single final report to the 
Full Council or Cabinet as appropriate, minority report(s) may be prepared and 
submitted for consideration by Full Council or Cabinet alongside the majority report.  

10.3 Full Council, Cabinet, or a Cabinet Member, shall consider a report submitted by an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee within two months (or next available meeting in 
the case of Full Council) of it being submitted. 

10.4 Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee submits a report for consideration by 
the Cabinet in relation to a matter where the Leader has delegated decision-making 
power to another individual member of the Cabinet, the report will be submitted to 
them for consideration. The Member with delegated decision-making power must 
consider the report and respond in writing to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
committee within two months of receiving it. The Cabinet Member will also attend a 
future meeting of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee to present their 
response. 

11. Members and officers giving account 

11.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committees may scrutinise and review decisions made or 
actions taken in connection with the discharge of any council functions. A standing 

Page 123



Part 8 
Last Updated 21 May 2024  8 
 

invitation exists for Cabinet Members and officers to attend Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees to give account for any decision, action, or proposed action. 

11.2 As well as reviewing documentation Overview and Scrutiny Committees may require 
any Cabinet Member, the Chief Executive, Corporate Director, or Director to attend a 
meeting to explain  any decision or answer questions about a matter within their 
remit, including proposed actions. 

11.3 Where an Overview and Scrutiny committee makes a resolution requiring the 
attendance of any Cabinet Member or Officer detailed above at a meeting, it is the 
duty of those persons to attend. This requirement extends to Task Groups and Rapid 
Scrutiny Exercises established by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

11.4 Where any Cabinet Member or officer is required to attend an Overview and Scrutiny 
body, the Designated Scrutiny Officer shall inform the Member or officer in writing 
giving at least 10 working days’ notice.  

11.5 The notice will state the nature of the topic on which they are required to give an 
account and whether any written evidence needs to be produced for the meeting. 
Sufficient notice should be given to allow reasonable time to produce the written 
evidence. 

11.6 The Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall determine the 
reasonableness of the notice to produce any written evidence if this is disputed, or 
whether it is appropriate for another Member or Officer of equivalent or greater 
seniority to attend in place of the requested person(s), or rearrange the attendance 
date.   

12. Attendance by others and evidence gathering 

12.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committees may go on site visits, conduct public surveys, 
hold public meetings, commission research and do all other things that they 
reasonably consider necessary to inform their deliberations.  

12.2 They may appoint advisers to assist them in this process and ask witnesses to 
attend to address them on any matter under consideration and may pay a 
reasonable fee and expenses for doing so subject to agreement of the Designated 
Scrutiny Officer in consultation with the Chairman of the relevant committee and the 
Management Committee that it is reasonable and proportionate.  

12.3 They may invite any person to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or 
answer questions. It may for example wish to hear from residents, stakeholders. 
Members and officers in other parts of the public sector  

12.4 Where witnesses have been called then the meeting should be conducted in 
accordance with the following principles: 

12.4.1 The investigation be conducted fairly and all Members of the committee be 
given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and 
speak; 

12.4.2 Those assisting the committee by giving evidence to be treated with respect 
and courtesy; 

12.4.3 The investigation be conducted  to maximise the efficiency of the investigation 
or analysis; and 

Page 124



Part 8 
Last Updated 21 May 2024  9 
 

12.4.4 The committee to make its report and findings public, subject to the 
requirements of confidentiality and exempt information provisions. 

13. Call-in 

Purpose of Call-in 

13.1 Call-in should only be used in exceptional circumstances. This is where members of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee are provided evidence which 
suggests that a decision maker as set out in Paragraph 18.2 did not take a decision 
in accordance with the principles of decision making as set out in Article 13(2) of Part 
2 and Paragraph 2.2 of Part 3D(1) of the Constitution. 

Which decisions can be called in 

13.2 When an Executive decision is made by: 

13.2.1 the Cabinet 

13.2.2 an individual Member of the Cabinet 

13.2.3 a committee of the Cabinet 

13.2.4 an officer with delegated authority from the Cabinet in respect of a Key 
decision  

13.2.5 an area committee, when making a decision with delegated authority from 
the Cabinet  

13.2.6 or under joint arrangements 

13.3 the decision shall be published, including where possible by electronic means, and 
shall be available at the main offices of the normally within three days of being made. 
The Chairman of the Management Committee will be sent copies of the records of all 
such decisions within the same timescale, by the person responsible for publishing 
the decision.  

Notice of Decision 

13.4 That notice will bear the date on which it is published and will specify that the 
decision will come into force, and may then be implemented, on the expiry of five 
clear working days after the publication of the decision, unless in the decision is 
called in to the Management Committee. 

13.5 During that five clear working day period, the Designated Scrutiny Officer shall call in 
a decision to the Management Committee where a request is received from any ten 
non-executive members of the council, setting forth the grounds by which they 
believe the decision has not been taken in accordance with the principles of decision 
making. 

13.6 If a request is received by the requisite number of Members setting forth the grounds 
for their request, the Designated Scrutiny Officer shall then notify the decision-maker 
of the call-in. 

13.7  If there is an ordinary Management Committee meeting scheduled within that 
period, the call-in may be considered at that meeting, if the Chairman of the 
Management Committee agrees there is sufficient notice to consider the call-in 

Page 125



Part 8 
Last Updated 21 May 2024  10 
 

appropriately. Otherwise, the Proper Officer will then call an extraordinary meeting of 
the Management Committee in consultation with the Designated Scrutiny Officer, 
and the Chairman of the Management Committee, within seven working  days of the 
call-in.  

Committee procedure to consider call-in request 

13.8 The Designated Scrutiny Officer shall prepare a report for the Management 
Committee, listing the reasons those requesting call-in consider the decision does 
not accord with the principles of decision-making, and any other relevant facts or 
details. 

13.9 A representative from those submitting the call-in request will be invited to present 
their request in full. This may be followed by officers and Members involved in the 
decision as appropriate, or contributions by other non-committee Members. All 
parties may be questioned for further detail by Members of the Management 
Committee.  

13.10 Following final summation from the lead representative of those requesting call-in 
and then the decision maker, the Committee will debate whether to confirm the 
request. 

Committee decision on call-in 

13.11 If the Management Committee resolves that they have concerns the decision was 
not carried out fully in accordance with the principles of decision making then it may 
refer it back to the decision-making person or body for reconsideration, setting out in 
writing the nature of its concerns.  

13.12 Alternatively, they may refer the matter to Full Council for consideration. In that 
circumstance the Proper Officer in consultation with the Chairman of Council will 
determine whether to call an extraordinary meeting.  

13.13 Matters should only be referred to Full Council if the Management Committee 
considers that the decision is contrary to the policy framework or contrary to or not 
wholly in accordance with the budget. 

13.14 If referred to the decision-maker that person or body shall then reconsider the 
decision within a further seven working days, amending the decision or not, before 
adopting a final decision.  The decision-maker must set out the reasons for their 
decision with reference to the reasoning and resolution of the Management 
Committee. 

13.15 If, following a call in, the Management Committee does not meet in the period set out 
above, or does meet but does not refer the matter back to the decision-making 
person or body, the decision shall take effect on the date of the Overview and 
Scrutiny meeting, or the expiry of that further seven clear working day period, 
whichever is the earlier. 

Committee referral to Full Council 

13.16 If the matter was referred to Full Council and it considers that the principles of 
decision making were followed and/or  that the decision was made in accordance 
with the policy framework and the budget , then no further action is necessary and 
the decision will be effective in accordance with the provisions below.  

Page 126



Part 8 
Last Updated 21 May 2024  11 
 

13.17 Where Full Council considers that the decision was contrary to the policy framework 
or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget, or otherwise not in 
accordance with the principles of decision making, it will refer the decision back to 
the decision-making person or body, together with its views on the decision. That 
decision-making body or person shall choose whether to amend the decision or not 
before reaching a final decision and implementing it. The decision-maker must set 
out the reasons for their decision with reference to the reasoning and resolution of 
Full Council. 

13.18 Where the decision was taken by the Cabinet as a whole or a committee of it, a 
meeting will be convened to reconsider the decision within seven working days of the 
Full Council decision.  

13.19 Where the decision was made by an individual Member of Cabinet or officer taking a 
Key decision delegated from Cabinet, the individual will reconsider the decision 
within seven working days of the Full Council decision, using the procedure for 
individual decisions as set out in Protocol 5 of the Constitution or for an officer in 
accordance with the Scheme of Delegation, Part 3D of the Constitution.  

13.20 If Full Council does not meet to consider a referral, or if it does but does not refer the 
decision back to the decision-making body or person, the decision will become 
effective on the date of the Full Council meeting  

14. Call-in and urgency 

14.1 The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being taken is 
urgent. A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process 
would seriously prejudice the council’s or the public’s interests.  

14.2 The record of the decision, and notice by which it is made public, shall state whether 
in the opinion of the decision-making person or body, the decision is an urgent one, 
and therefore not subject to call-in.  

14.3 The Chairman of the Council must agree both that the decision proposed is 
reasonable in all the circumstances and to it being treated as a matter of urgency. In 
the absence of the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman’s consent shall be required. 

14.4 In the absence of both, the Proper Officer’s consent shall be required following 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer.  

14.5 Any such urgent decisions taken shall be reported at the next available meeting of 
Full Council together with the reasons for the urgency, and also reported annually..  

14.6 The call-in procedure shall also not apply where a decision maker has responded to 
an existing call-in request and reconsidered their decision accordingly. 

 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 8 
Last Updated 4 February 201421 May 2024  
 1 
 

 

Wiltshire Council 

Constitution 

Part 8 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Procedure Rules 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 129



Part 8 
Last Updated 4 February 201421 May 2024  
 2 
 

Contents 

1. Numbers and arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny Committees   3 

2. Limit on membership of Overview and Scrutiny Committees    3 

3. Co-optees           3 

4. Education representatives         3 

5. Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees     3 

6. Quorum           4 

7. Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committees      4 

8. Work programme          4 

9. Scrutiny role           4 

10. Policy review and development role       4 

11. Agenda items          5 

12. Member Call for Action         5 

13. Area Boards           6 

14. Scrutiny of crime and disorder partnerships      6 

15. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committees     6 

16. Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents  6 

17. Members and officers giving account       6 

18. Attendance by others and evidence gathering      7 

19. Call-in            7 

20. Call-in and Urgency          9 

21. Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings    9 
 

 

  

Commented [KE1]: Items will be re-ordered based on 
other changes in the document, once it is approved 

Page 130



Part 8 
Last Updated 4 February 201421 May 2024  
 3 
 

PART 8 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

PROCEDURE RULES 
1. Numbers of and arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

1.1 The Full Council will appoint such numbers of Overview and Scrutiny Committees in 
accordance with Article 6(4) of Part 2 of this Constitution. 

1.2 The Terms of Reference and arrangements of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees are as also set out in Article 6 of Part 2 of this Constitution. 

2. Limitations on Membership of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

2.1 No member of the Cabinet may be appointed as a member of an Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, Task Group, Rapid Scrutiny Exercise, or other scrutiny activity.  

2.2 As members of the Executive administration supporting the Cabinet in formulating 
and developing policy, Paragraph 2.1 shall also apply to Portfolio Holders as defined 
at Article 7(9) of Part 2 of the Constitution. 

2.12.3 No Member may take part in scrutinise scrutinising a decision in which he/she 
hasthey have been directly involved. 

3. Co-Optees 

3.1 The All Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall be entitled to appoint people as 
non-voting Co-Optees subject to ratification by Full Council.  

3.13.2 They may also select key partners or stakeholders as informal non-voting 
members of their committee. 

Education representatives 

3.23.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee dealing with education matters shall 
additionally  include in its membership the following voting representatives: 

3.2.13.3.1 One Church of England diocese representative 

3.2.23.3.2 One Roman Catholic diocese representative 

3.2.33.3.3 Three Parent Governor representatives from local authority maintained 
schools 

3.33.4 The representatives above may participate fully in any matter but may only 
vote where the relevant committee’s functions relate wholly or in part to any 
education functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet, such as any scrutiny 
of the council in its role as a local education authority. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in this paragraph is an Overview and Scrutiny Committee of a local 
education authority, where the committee’s functions relate wholly or in part to any 
education functions which are the responsibility of the authority’s cabinet. If the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee deals with other matters, these representatives 
shall not vote on those other matters, though they may stay in the meeting and 
speak. 

Commented [EK2]: Adapted from Part 3C relating to 
Portfolio Holders for greater clarity 

Commented [PH3]: Also… 
 
Paragraph 7 of Schedule A1, of the Local Government Act 
2000 makes provision 
for overview and scrutiny committees to have church 
representatives. The 
Council must have a Church of England co-opted member on 
its overview and 
scrutiny committee whose functions relate wholly or partly 
to education if the 
Council maintains one or more Church of England Schools. 
Similarly, the Council 
must have a Roman Catholic representative on its Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee if the same conditions apply in relation to Roman 
Catholic Schools. 

Page 131



Part 8 
Last Updated 4 February 201421 May 2024  
 4 
 

 

 

4. Role of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

Scrutiny Role 

4.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees may: 

4.1.1 Review and scrutinise the decisions made by, and the performance of, the 
cabinet and officers both in relation to individual decisions and over time; 

4.1.2 Review and scrutinise the performance of the council in relation to its policy 
objectives, performance targets and/or particular service areas; 

4.1.3 Question members of the Cabinet and first and second tier officers about their 
decisions and performance, whether generally in comparison with service 
plans and targets over a period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, 
initiatives or projects; 

4.1.4 Make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or Full Council arising from the 
outcome of the scrutiny process; 

4.1.5 For the avoidance of doubt, the scrutiny role does not extend to individual 
regulatory decisions such as development control and licensing, although 
reviews of general regulatory policy and service performance can be 
undertaken if felt necessary or invited to do so;  

4.1.6 Review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and 
invite reports from them by requesting them to address the relevant overview 
and scrutiny body and local people about their activities and performance. 

Policy review and development role 

4.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees may:  

4.2.1 assist Full Council and the Cabinet in the development of the council’s budget 
and policy framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues; 

4.2.2 hold enquiries, conduct research, undertake consultation and encourage 
community participation in the development options; 

4.2.3 liaise with other external organisations operating in the County to ensure that 
the interests of local people are enhanced by collaborative working; 

4.2.4  In relation to the development of the council’s approach to other matters not 
forming part of its policy and budget framework, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees may make proposals to the Cabinet for developments in so far as 
they relate to matters within their terms of reference as set out in Article 6 of 
this Constitution. 

4.2.5 Access such documents and receive notice of such meetings as set out in 
Part 5 of the Constitution, Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

4.5. Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees  

Frequency 

5.1 The frequency and timing of meetings should reflect the demands placed on the 
committees from the overall work programme agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee (“The Management Committee”). 

Commented [EK4]: Unchanged apart from 4.2.5 - rest is 
just moved from further down 

Commented [EK5]: To emphasise access rights of scrutiny 
members as set out in Part 5 

Commented [EK6]: Moved from below 

Page 132



Part 8 
Last Updated 4 February 201421 May 2024  
 5 
 

5.2 However, Tthere shall be at least six ordinary meetings of each of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees scheduled in the Council’s diary in each year.  

5.3 In addition, eAdditionalxtraordinary meetings may be called scheduled from time to 
time as and when appropriate where considered appropriate by the Proper Officer.  

5.4 An extraordinary Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting may also be  called by:  

5.4.1 the chair Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee,; 

5.4.2  by any two three members of that committee 

4.1.1  or by Tthe Director of Legal and GovernanceProper Officer, if he/shethey 
considers it necessary or appropriate. 

4.25.5 However, the frequency and timing of meetings should reflect the demands 
placed on the committees from the overall work programme agreed by the 
management committee.  The notice for any extraordinary meeting must specify the 
business proposed to be transacted at the meeting, with no consideration of previous 
minutes or reports from Committees. 

Quorum 

5.6 The quorum for a meeting of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be one 
quarter of the whole number of voting  members of that committee, subject to a 
minimum of three. 

4.35.7 Non-voting Members shall count towards that quorum, subject to a minimum 
of two voting members being present. 

Agenda Items  

5.8 Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall consider the following business: 

5.8.1 Minutes of the last meeting 

5.8.2 Declarations of interest 

5.8.3 Chairman’s Announcements 

5.8.4 Consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for a review in relation 
to call in of a decision 

5.8.5 Responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

5.8.6 The Forward Work Plan for the committee; and 

5.8.7  Such business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 

 

5.6. Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

5.1 Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for electing its Chairman 
at their first meeting following the annual meeting of Full Council. Chairs of Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees will be drawn from among the Members sitting on the 
committee, and subject to this requirement the committee may appoint such a 
person as it considers appropriate as chair.  

Commented [EK7]: To reflect that when this was first 
written the committee sizes were smaller, at 11 and 13 as 
opposed to 13 and 15 

Commented [EK8]: This mirrors wording for the calling of 
extraordinary meetings in Part 4 (Full Council only) - simply 
meaning the meeting must be called for a purpose and 
agenda must include details of the items of business. 

Commented [EK9]: That is, you could in theory have two 
voting members and one non-voting member as a minimum 
quorum. 

Commented [EK10]: Moved from end of section as more 
relevant here 
Added announcements and forward work programme 
renamed as agenda items rather than procedure 

Commented [EK11]: Move to after Section 3 

Commented [EK12]: "Will" rather than "may" to make 
stronger 

Page 133



Part 8 
Last Updated 4 February 201421 May 2024  
 6 
 

6.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall use the same procedure as that used 
to elect Chairmen of Area Boards as set out at Paragraphs 4.9-4.15 of Part 3B of the 
Constitution 

6.2 Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen must be drawn from the voting members of a 
Committee. 

6.7. Work Programme 

7.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee will be responsible for setting 
approving the overall work programme in order to ensure the most effective 
allocation of resources across all the Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

7.2 The Management Committee will work co-operatively with all other Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees, also known as Select Committees, and with all political groups, 
in preparing its overall work programme. and in doing so it shall take into account 
wishes of members on that committee who are not members of the largest political 
group on the council.  

7.3 However, the committeeThe Management Committee will be mindful of the council’s 
priorities set out in the Council’s Business Plan and the benefit of establishing an 
effective working relationship with the Cabinet, also known as the Executive, and 
Council’s the Audit & Governance Committee in setting its work programme. The 
Overview and Scrutiny Management CommitteeIt will also wil l have regard to the 
Protocol 10 of the Constitution on , Governance Reporting Arrangements. 

6.17.4 The Management Committee and other Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
may also liaiseon as appropriate with the Cabinet, Chief Executive, Corporate 
Directors, and Directors, as part of determining itsthe work programme. 

7.8. Referral of Agenda items 

Referrals by an Individual Member 

8.1 Any member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to give notice 
to the designated scrutiny officer that he/she wishes an item relevant to the functions 
of the committee to be included on the agenda for the next available meeting of the 
committee. On receipt of such a request the designated scrutiny officer will ensure 
that it is included on the next available agenda, subject to agreement by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee.Any Member of the Council may 
inform the Designated Scrutiny Officer that they wish to refer to an Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee any matter which is relevant to the functions of that committee 
and is not an excluded matter (insert legislative reference). 

7.18.2 Following such notice, the item will be listed on the agenda at the next 
ordinary meeting of the appropriate committee as a referred matter. The Member 
referring the matter will be invited to attend the meeting and set out what Overview 
and Scrutiny activity or action they consider would be appropriate. The Committee 
will then determine what if any action should be taken in response to the discussion. 
If the Committee considers that no further work or action is appropriate / the matter 
should not be debated further, and they will provide reasons to the requesting 
Member.  

7.2 The leader of the opposition may on up to four occasions per year require the 
designated scrutiny officer to include an item on the agenda of the Overview and 

Commented [EK13]: To formalise the procedures currently 
used already. 
 
Referencing in this way reduces duplication - covers off 
details like must be present unless providing written consent 
to be elected chair in absence, how to break ties etc. 

Commented [EK14]: Move above to section about 
meetings as a subheading, under title 'Reference of matters 
to overview and scrutiny committee' 

Commented [EK15]: LGA 2000 enables any member to 
'refer' a matter' 

Commented [MJ16R15]: Reference to refer any matter 
which is not an "excluded matter". 
 
(5)In subsection (1)(c) “excluded matter” means any matter 
which is— 
(a)a local crime and disorder matter within the meaning of 
section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 2006 (local authority 
scrutiny of crime and disorder matters), or 
(b)a matter of any description specified in an order made by 
the Secretary of State for the purposes of this section. 

Commented [HP17R15]: The Overview and Scrutiny 
(Reference by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) 
Order 2012: 
Excluded matters 
3.  Subject to article 4, the descriptions of matters specified 
as excluded matters for the purposes of section 9FC of the 
Local Government Act 2000 are— 
(a)any matter relating to a planning decision; 
(b)any matter relating to a licensing decision; 
(c)any matter relating to a person in respect of which that 
person has a right of recourse to a review or right of appeal 
conferred by or under any enactment; 
(d)any matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or not 
reasonable to be included in the agenda for, or to be 
discussed at, a meeting of the overview and scrutiny 
committee or at a meeting of a sub-committee of that 
committee. 

Commented [EK18]: This means any member has a 
process to refer a matter of concern to the relevant 
committee 
 
LGA Act 2000 
 
(2)For the purposes of subsection (1), provision enables a 
person to refer a matter to a committee or sub-committee if 
it enables him to ensure that the matter is included in the 
agenda for, and discussed at, a meeting of the committee or 
sub-committee. 
 
Inclusion in the agenda could be read to be under another 
item, but a more ordinary use of words would be that it 
means as an agenda item 

Page 134



Part 8 
Last Updated 4 February 201421 May 2024  
 7 
 

Scrutiny Management Committee for consideration. The designated scrutiny officer 
shall inform the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee of the 
request at the earliest opportunity, and make arrangements for the matter to be 
included on the agenda at the next available meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee. 

7.3 Any Five Members of the Council may give written notice to the Designated Scrutiny 
Officer that they wish an item to be included on the agenda of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Committee. If the designated scrutiny officer receives such a 
notification, then he/she will include the item on the first available agenda of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee for consideration by the committee. 

Referrals by Area Boards or through Member Call for Action  

7.48.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee shall include on its 
agenda any referral from an Area Board and aor formal Member Call for Action which 
has followed the proper processes set out at sections xx and xy below.. 

Referrals by Full Council or Cabinet 

8.4 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee shall also respond, as soon as 
its work programme permits, to requests referrals from the Full Council and, if it 
considers it appropriate, the Cabinet, to review particular areas of council activity. 

7.58.5  Where it does so, the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee shall 
report its findings and any recommendations back to the Full Council and/or Cabinet.  

8.9. Member Call for Action (MCfA) 

9.1 MCfA is a process that enables Members to deal with issues of concern in their local 
communities. When concerns arise -– either as a result of information from 
individuals, community groups, or the Member's own observations -– they are able to 
trigger a response from service providers and ensure the concerns are dealt with. 
What makes the MCfA different from a more general request for scrutiny is the focus 
of the MCfA is on neighbourhood or locality issues, and specifically the quality of 
public service provision at a local level. 

8.19.2 Any elected memberMember may submit a MCfA using the appropriate form. 
available from the Designated Scrutiny Officer. The MCfA is intended to be a process 
of last resort and therefore a member Member must demonstrate that reasonable 
steps have been taken to resolve the matter including a response from the relevant 
Cabinet Member and Director.  

8.29.3 In the first instance the relevant Area Board will consider the MCfA and will 
then be placed on the agenda of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 
should the Mmember remain dissatisfied. 

8.39.4 It is for the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee to determine how 
it wishes to respond to the MCfA and in the case of refusal to undertake a review 
then reasons must be provided. (Further guidance on the operation of MCfA is 
available on the intranet and from the designated scrutiny officer.)  

 

9.10. Area Boards 

Commented [EK19]: Unnecessary, given procedure for any 
member to refer a matter 

Commented [EK20]: Revisions make unnecessary as any 
member may refer a matter 

Commented [KE21]: Insert for final version, once 
approved, once all sections in their proper place 

Commented [EK22]: Redundant 

Page 135



Part 8 
Last Updated 4 February 201421 May 2024  
 8 
 

10.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee will consider referrals from Area 
Boards on issues which have been the subject of local review or and are multi-
boundary, or have budget, policy or contractual implications for the council which 
have first been debated at an area Area boardBoard.  

9.110.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee will have full discretion in 
how it wishes to respond to such referrals. Further information on local challenge 
referrals is contained in the area boards’ handbook. This does not preclude overview 
Overview and scrutiny Scrutiny initiating its own review of a local issue, however in 
general reviews will focus on broader strategic and policy matters. 

10.11. Scrutiny of crime and disorder reduction partnerships 

10.111.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee will facilitate be the 
responsible committee for scrutiny of performance of the partnerships under the 
provisions of the Police and Criminal Justice Act 2006.  

11.12. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

12.1 Once recommendations have been formed on a matter, the an Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee will may submit a formal report for consideration as appropriate 
by: 

15.1.1  the cabinet Cabinet as a whole, or 

or cabinet 15.1.2 a Cabinet member Member, (if the proposals relate to an executive 
function and are consistent with the existing budgetary and policy framework), or 

 or15.1.3  to the councilFull Council as appropriate (if the recommendation would 
require a departure from or a change to the agreed budget and policy framework),.  

11.112.2 If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on one single final 
report to the council Full Council or cabinet Cabinet as appropriate, one minority 
report(s) may be prepared and submitted for consideration by the Full Council or 
Cabinet with alongside the majority report.  

11.212.3 The Full Council,  or Cabinet, or a Cabinet Member, shall consider the a 
report of submitted by the an Overview and Scrutiny Committee within two months 
(or next available meeting in the case of Full Council) of it being submitted. 

11.312.4 Where the an Overview and Scrutiny Committee submits a report for 
consideration by the cabinet Cabinet in relation to a matter where the Leader has 
delegated decision-making power to another individual member of the Cabinet, the 
report will be submitted to him/herthem for consideration. The member Member with 
delegated decision-making power must consider the report and respond in writing to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny committee within two months of receiving it. The Cabinet Member will also 
attend a future meeting of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee to present 
their response. 

12. Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents 

12.1 In addition to their rights as Members, members performing overview and scrutiny 
duties have the additional right to documents and to notice of meetings as set out in 
the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

Commented [EK23]: 19Local authority scrutiny of crime 
and disorder matters 
(1)Every local authority shall ensure that it has a committee 
(the “crime and disorder committee”) with power— 
(a)to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action 
taken, in connection with the discharge by the responsible 
authorities of their crime and disorder functions; 
(b)to make reports or recommendations to the local 
authority with respect to the discharge of those functions. 
“The responsible authorities” means the bodies and persons 
who are responsible authorities within the meaning given by 
section 5 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (c. 37) 
(authorities responsible for crime and disorder strategies) in 
relation to the local authority's area. 

Page 136



Part 8 
Last Updated 4 February 201421 May 2024  
 9 
 

12.212.5 Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the cabinet 
and Overview and Scrutiny Committees as appropriate depending on the particular 
matter under consideration.  

13. Members and officers giving account 

13.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committees may scrutinise and review decisions made or 
actions taken in connection with the discharge of any council functions. A standing 
invitation exists for Cabinet Members and officers to attend Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees to give account for any decision, action, or proposed action. 

13.113.2 As well as reviewing documentation Overview and Scrutiny Committees they 
may require any cabinet Cabinet memberMember, the Head of Paid Service or any 
Directorthe Chief Executive, Corporate Director, or Director  to attend a meeting to 
explain in relation to any decision or answer questions about a matter within their 
remit, including proposed actions. 

13.213.3 Where a specific request has been madeWhere an Overview and Scrutiny 
committee makes a resolution requiring the attendance of any Cabinet Member or 
Officer detailed above at a meeting, it is the duty of those persons to attend if so 
required. This requirement extends to Task Groups and Rapid Scrutiny Exercises 
established by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee. In addition, a standing 
invitation exists for cabinet members to attend Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

13.4 Where any Cabinet Member or officer is required to attend an Overview and Scrutiny 
body under this provision, the Designated Scrutiny Officer shall inform the Member 
or officer in writing giving at least 10 working days’ notice.  

13.313.5 The notice will state the nature of the topic on which he/shethey are is 
required to give an account and whether any written evidence needs to be produced 
for the meeting. Sufficient notice should be given to allow reasonable time to 
produce the written evidence. 

13.413.6 The Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall 
determine the reasonableness of the notice to produce any written evidence if this is 
disputed, or whether it is appropriate for another Member or Officer of equivalent or 
greater seniority to attend in place of the requested person(s), or rearrange the 
attendance date.   

14. Attendance by others and evidence gathering 

14.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committees may go on site visits, conduct public surveys, 
hold public meetings, commission research and do all other things that they 
reasonably consider necessary to inform their deliberations.  

14.2 They may appoint advisers to assist them in this process and ask witnesses to 
attend to address them on any matter under consideration and may pay a 
reasonable fee and expenses for doing so subject to agreement of the Designated 
Scrutiny Officer in consultation with the Chairman of the relevant committee and the 
Management Committee that it is reasonable and proportionate.  

14.114.3 They may invite any person to address it, discuss issues of local concern 
and/or answer questions. It may for example wish to hear from residents, 
stakeholders and. members Members and officers in other parts of the public sector 
and shall invite such people to attend.   

Commented [EK24]: Reference included elsewhere 

Commented [EK25]: Moved from below, and added 
officers - sets out the more collegial expectations and 
practice at Wiltshire 

Commented [EK26]: The LG Act 2000 says:  
(8)An overview and scrutiny committee of a local authority or 
a sub-committee of such a committee— 
(a)may require members of the executive, and officers of the 
authority, to attend before it to answer questions, 
 
Not just about decisions 

Commented [EK27]: At present the requirement says it is 
to explain decisions, but the statute is broader.  
 
It also says the 'committee' may require it. A resolution, to 
indicate formal view of the committee 

Commented [EK28]: To clarify attending is a requirement 
not to be disputed, but if more time is needed for material to 
be produced the Chairman will determine if they accept that 
explanation. 

Commented [EK29]: To provide flexibility  - people on 
holiday etc - but ensure senior people still attend 

Commented [EK30]: Simply to clarify the procedural step 
to agree payment of expenses or fee for such 
advisers/witnesses 

Page 137



Part 8 
Last Updated 4 February 201421 May 2024  
 10 
 

14.214.4 Where witnesses have been called then the meeting should be conducted in 
accordance with the following principles: 

14.2.114.4.1 The investigation be conducted fairly and all members Members of the 
committee be given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to 
contribute and speak; 

14.2.214.4.2 Those assisting the committee by giving evidence to be treated with 
respect and courtesy; 

14.2.314.4.3 The investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the 
investigation or analysis; and 

14.2.414.4.4 The committee to make its report and findings public, subject to the 
requirements of confidentiality and exempt information provisions. 

15. Call-in 

Purpose of Call-i In 

15.1 Call-in should only be used in exceptional circumstances. This is where members of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee have are provided evidence 
which suggests that a decision maker as set out in Paragraph 18.2 the Cabinet did 
not take the a decision in accordance with the principles of decision making in the 
Constitutionas set out in Article 13(2) of Part 2 and Paragraph 2.2 of Part 3D(1) of 
the Constitution. 

Which decisions can be called -in 

15.2 When an Executive decision is made by: 

15.2.1  the Cabinet 

15.2.2 , an individual Member of the Cabinet 

15.2.3 a committee of the Cabinet 

15.2.4 , or a Key decision is made by an officer with delegated authority from the 
Cabinet in respect of a Key decision  

15.2.5 , or an area committee, when making a decision with delegated authority 
from the Cabinet  

15.2.6 or under joint arrangements 

, the decision shall be published, including where possible by electronic means, 
and shall be available at the main offices of the normally within two three days of 
being made. The chair Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee will be sent copies of the records of all such decisions within the same 
timescale, by the person responsible for publishing the decision.  

Notice of Decision 

14.315.3 That notice will bear the date on which it is published and will specify that the 
decision will come into force, and may then be implemented, on the expiry of five 
clear working days after the publication of the decision, unless the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Committee objects to it and calls it inin the decision is called in 
to the Management Committee. 

Commented [EK31]: Eg. Can be a delegated decision 

Commented [EK32]: Includes ABs below, but this is just 
when using the executive authority 

Commented [KE33]: Suggested due to turnaround for 
Cabinet meetings 
 
Call-in runs from the day of publication of the decision, so 
making this three instead of two would not reduce call-in 
time. 

Page 138



Part 8 
Last Updated 4 February 201421 May 2024  
 11 
 

15.4 During that five clear working day period, the designated Designated scrutiny 
Scrutiny officer Officer shall call -in a decision for scrutiny by the management 
committeeto the Management Committee where if so requesteda request is  
byreceived from any ten non-executive members of the council, setting forth the 
grounds by which they believe the decision has not been taken in accordance with 
the principles of decision making. .. 

15.5 If a request is received by the requisite number of Members and setting forth the 
grounds for their request, the Designated Scrutiny Officer and shall then notify the 
decision-maker of the call-in. 

15.6  If there is an ordinary Management Committee meeting scheduled within that 
period, the call-in may be considered at that meeting, if the Chairman of the 
Management Committee agrees there is sufficient notice to consider the call-in 
appropriately. He/she shallOtherwise, the Proper Officer will then call an 
extraordinary meeting of the Management Committee on such date as he/she may 
determinein consultation with the Designated Scrutiny Officer, where possible after 
consultation with and the chair Chairman of the Management Committee, and in any 
case within five seven working  days of the decision to call-in.  

Committee procedure to consider call-in request 

15.7 The Designated Scrutiny Officer shall prepare a report for the Management 
Committee, listing the reasons those requesting call-in consider the decision does 
not accord with the principles of decision-making, and any other relevant facts or 
details. 

15.8 A representative from those submitting the call-in request will be invited to present 
their request in full. This may be followed by officers and Members involved in the 
decision as appropriate, or contributions by other non-committee Members. All 
parties may be questioned for further detail by Members of the Management 
Committee.  

15.9 Following final summation from the lead representative of those requesting call-in 
and then the decision maker, the Committee will debate whether to confirm the 
request. 

 

Committee decision on call-in 

15.10 If, the  having considered the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee is still concerned about it,resolves that they have concerns 
the decision was not carried out fully in accordance with the principles of decision 
making then it may refer it back to the decision-making person or body for 
reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns, or.  

15.11 Alternatively, they may refer the matter to Full Council for consideration. In 
that circumstance the Proper Officer in consultation with the Chairman of Council will 
determine whether to call an extraordinary meeting.  

15.12 Matters should only be referred to Full Council if the Management Committee 
considers that the decision is contrary to the policy framework or contrary to or not 
wholly in accordance with the budget. 

Commented [EK34]: That is, ensuring they have included 
at least one grounds - not that the Designated Scrutiny 
Officer will assess whether that ground is reasonable, which 
will be for committee to assess 

Commented [EK35]: To ensure agendas for the 
extraordinary meeting are able to be published in line with 
legal requirements of 5 clear working days, with some time 
to arrange the meeting before publication 

Commented [EK36]: So if there is a scheduled meeting in 
a week and a day when the call-in comes in, the call-in could 
go to that not an extraordinary meeting, but if comes in with 
only 2 days to the meeting the Chairman may say no, and an 
extraordinary meeting is arranged to give appropriate time to 
prepare 

Commented [EK37]: Presently nothing about whether 
requesters get to speak, who responds etc 

Commented [EK38]: So that whatever questioning and 
contributions have taken place, the lead requester and then 
the decision maker will have final say before debate 

Commented [EK39]: S21(3)(b) LGA 2000 provides for a 
scrutiny committee to be able to arrange for its function to 
be exercised by the authority, ie Council 
 
Guidance is that clear timescales should be set out in the 
constitution for the debate to avoid decisions being 
unnecessarily delayed. 
 
So if a meeting is coming up it may go to that, but if a delay 
would cause significant issues and a meeting is not 
scheduled for some time, an extraordinary meeting may be 
necessary 

Commented [KE40]: To give proper officer authority to 
determine if referral to next meeting or an extraordinary 
meeting, depending on impact of a delay - eg if a delay of 1-2 
months would be problematic or harmful 

Commented [KE41]: Add that they do not have to do so 
even then? A referral would pause the decision potentially 
for months, or see extraordinary meetings of full council to 
determine the matter. 

Commented [EK42]: This is from guidance from the then 
Department for Environment, Transport, and the Regions, 
and still in effect.  
 
Current procedure mentions the same restriction, but further 
down. 

Page 139



Part 8 
Last Updated 4 February 201421 May 2024  
 12 
 

14.415.13 If referred to the decision-maker they that person or body shall then 
reconsider the decision within a further five seven working days, amending the 
decision or not, before adopting a final decision.  The decision-maker must set out 
the reasons for their decision with reference to the reasoning and resolution of the 
Management Committee. 

15.14 If, following an objection to the decisiona call in, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee does not meet in the period set out above, or does meet 
but does not refer the matter back to the decision-making person or body, the 
decision shall take effect on the date of the Overview and Scrutiny meeting, or the 
expiry of that further five seven clear working day period, whichever is the earlier. 

Committee referral to Full Council 

15.15 If the matter was referred to Full Council and the council does not object to a 
decision which has been madeit considers that the principles of decision making 
were followed and/or  that the decision was made in accordance with the policy 
framework and the budget , then no further action is necessary and the decision will 
be effective in accordance with the provisions below.  

15.16 The council will refer any decision to which it objectsWhere Full Council 
considers that the decision was contrary to the policy framework or contrary to or not 
wholly in accordance with the budget, or otherwise not in accordance with the 
principles of decision making, it will refer the decision back to the decision-making 
person or body, together with the council’s viewsits views on the decision. That 
decision-making body or person shall choose whether to amend the decision or not 
before reaching a final decision and implementing it. The decision-maker must set 
out the reasons for their decision with reference to the reasoning and resolution of 
Full Council. 

15.17 Where the decision was taken by the Cabinet as a whole or a committee of it, 
a meeting will be convened to reconsider the decision within five seven working days 
of the Full Council requestdecision.  

14.515.18 Where the decision was made by an individual Member of Cabinet or officer 
taking a Key decision delegated from Cabinet, the individual will reconsider the 
decision within five seven working days of the Full cCouncil requestdecision, using 
the procedure for individual decisions as set out in Protocol 5 of the Constitution or 
for an officer in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation, Part 3D of the 
Constitution. The Council cannot make decisions in respect of a Cabinet decision 
unless it is contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly consistent 
with the budget. 

14.615.19 If the councilFull Council does not meet to consider a referral, or if it does, but 
does not refer the decision back to the decision-making body or person, the decision 
will become effective on the date of the council Full Council meeting or expiry of the 
period in which the council meeting should have been held, whichever is the earlier. 

14.7 Where a cabinet decision has been taken by an area committee then the right of call-
in shall extend to any other area committee which resolves to refer a decision which 
has been made but not implemented to the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee for consideration in accordance with these provisions.  

Commented [EK43]: As above, to enable compliance with 
regular committee publication requirements 

Commented [EK44]: To ensure any concerns are 
addressed even if not agreed with 

Commented [EK45]: To ensure any concerns are 
addressed even if not agreed with 

Commented [EK46]: An intention period, then 
confirmation 

Commented [EK47]: Point covered here now made 
further up 

Commented [KE48]: Per 15.11 a referral will be taken to 
full council on a scheduled meeting, or as an extraordinary 
one. So no set expiry period, it will always take effect from 
the meeting of full council, but that may for example  be 1 
week or 3 months etc 

Commented [EK49]: This implies an area committee (the 
smallest is 4 members) can call in a decision made by 
another area board. It also is not practical in any case, since 
it says a decision not implemented, which would be within 5 
days of the decision, but another AB would not be able to 
meet in that time unless already scheduled to be within it. 

Page 140



Part 8 
Last Updated 4 February 201421 May 2024  
 13 
 

14.8 An area committee may request the designated scrutiny officer to call-in the decision 
only if it is of the opinion that the decision will have an adverse effect on the area to 
which it relates. All other provisions relating to call-in shall apply as if the call-in had 
been exercised by members of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee. 

15.16. Call-in and urgency 

15.116.1 The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being 
taken by Cabinet is urgent. A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused 
by the call-in process would seriously prejudice the council’s or the public’s interests.  

15.216.2 The record of the decision, and notice by which it is made public, shall state 
whether in the opinion of the decision-making person or body, the decision is an 
urgent one, and therefore not subject to call-in.  

15.316.3 The Chairman of the Council must agree both that the decision proposed is 
reasonable in all the circumstances and to it being treated as a matter of urgency. In 
the absence of the Chairman, the vice-chair’sVice-Chairman’s consent shall be 
required. 

15.416.4 In the absence of both, the head of paid service or his/her nominee’sProper 
Officer’s consent shall be required following consultation with the Monitoring Officer. 
Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to the next available 
meeting of the council, together with the reasons for urgency. 

16.5 submittedAny such urgent decisions taken  shall be reported at the next available 
meeting of Full Council together with the reasons for the urgency, and also reported 
annually.The operation of the provisions relating to call-in and urgency shall be 
monitored annually, and a report submitted to council with proposals for review if 
necessary.  

15.516.6 The call-in procedure shall also not apply where a decision maker has 
responded to an existing call-in request and reconsidered their decision accordingly. 

16. Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings 

16.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall consider the following business: 

16.1.1 Minutes of the last meeting 

16.1.2 Declarations of interest 

16.1.3 Consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for a review in relation 
to call in of a decision 

16.1.4 Responses of the cabinet to reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and 

16.1.5  The business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 

 

Commented [EK50]: As above can include Cabinet 
Member decisions 

Commented [EK51]: To be clear that a decision to proceed 
after a call-in is not itself call-in able. 

Commented [EK52]: Move to info about meetings 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Wiltshire Council 
 
Standards Committee 
 
18 April 2024 

 
Annual Update to Council 

  
Purpose of Report 
 

1. To request that the Standards Committee delegate authority to the Director, Legal and 
Governance, in consultation with the Chairman, to prepare an annual update of the 
activity of the Standards Committee and the Standards Sub-Committees, for 
consideration by Full Council on 21 May 2024. 
 
Background 

 
2. The Standards Committee’s responsibilities as set out at Paragraph 2.5.7 of Part 3B of 

the Constitution include, but is not limited to: 
 

 promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by elected and co- opted 
Members and officers; 

 monitoring and advising the Council about the operation of its code of conduct in 
the light of best practice and any changes in the law; 

 granting dispensations to elected and co-opted Members from requirements 
relating to interests; 

 overseeing the operation of the Council’s arrangements for dealing with Code of 
Conduct complaints against Members and Co-opted Members of Wiltshire 
Council, and Members of City, Town, and Parish councils; 

 overview of corporate complaints handling and Ombudsman investigations; 

 oversight of the Council’s constitution and making recommendations to Council. 
 

3. The Committee has established the Constitution Focus Group to review sections of the 
Constitution and present it with proposals to consider, and has or may convene the 
Assessment Sub-Committee, Hearing Sub-Committee, and Dispensation Sub-
Committee, in order to carry out its role. 

 
Main Considerations  
 

4. In accordance with the Constitution Full Council has established many committees to be 
responsible for the discharge or oversight of many of the council’s non-executive 
functions 
 

5. Examples of these committees include planning and licensing committees, Audit & 
Governance, and the Standards Committee. 

 
6. In order to highlight the functions of and work of various committees which otherwise 

may work in relative isolation from other aspects of the council, it is proposed that an 
annual update be prepared of the operations of various committees, including 
Standards Committee, for consideration by Full Council at its annual meeting on 21 May 
2024. 

Page 143

Agenda Item 9



 

 

 

7. It is proposed this would be a short update taken on an annual basis similar to the 
annual report on Overview and Scrutiny. This would briefly set out the role and purpose 
of the committee, its level of activity, issues which had been discussed or investigated, 
as well as significant developments relevant to the remit of the committee, for example 
changes to legislation. 
 

8. As there remains five weeks of the municipal year at the time of the writing of this 
report, it is proposed that the Director, Legal and Governance, be given delegated 
authority to prepare the annual update, after consultation from the Chairman. 

 
Safeguarding Implications 
 

9. There are no safeguarding implications arising from this report. 
 
Public Health Implications 
 

10. There are no public health implications arising from this report. 
 
Procurement Implications 
 

11. There are no procurement implications arising from this report. 
 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal  

 
12. There are no equalities implications arising from this report. 

 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations  
 

13. There are no environmental or climate change implications arising from this report. 
 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is not taken 
 

14. No risks have been identified arising from this report. 
 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken  
 

15. No risks have been identified arising from this report. 
 
Finance Implications  
 

16. There are no financial implications arising from this report.  
 
Legal Implications 
 

17. There are no legal implications arising from this report.  
 

Workforce Implications 
 

18. There are no workforce implications arising from this report. 
 
 

Page 144



 

 

 

Conclusions 
 

19. Providing annual updates to Full Council on committee activity will highlight the role of 
council committees and sub-committees and draw attention to any significant 
developments or issues within the remit of the committee. 
 
Proposal 
 

20. To delegate authority to the Director, Legal and Governance, after consultation with the 
Chairman, to prepare an annual update to Full Council. 
 
Perry Holmes - Director, Legal and Governance 

Report Author: Kieran Elliott, Democracy Manager (Democratic Services)  
 

Appendices 
 
None 
 
Background Papers 
 
None 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Status Report on Code of Conduct Complaints
	7 New Complaint Handling Codes from the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) and Housing Ombudsman (HO)
	New LGSCO and HO Complaint Handling Codes 2024 - Appendix 1 LGSCO Code
	Introduction
	The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s powers and approach
	The Complaint Handling Code
	1.	Definition of a service request and complaint
	2.	Exclusions
	3.	Accessibility and awareness 
	4.	Complaint handling resources
	5.	The complaint handling process
	6.	Complaints stages
	Stage 1
	Stage 2 



	7.	Putting things right 
	8.	Performance reporting and self-assessment
	9.	Scrutiny & oversight: continuous learning and improvement 


	Appendix A: Self-assessment

	New LGSCO and HO Complaint Handling Codes 2024 - Appendix 2 HO Code
	Foreword
	Introduction
	Statutory powers
	Compliance with the Code
	Monitoring compliance with the Code

	The Complaint Handling Code
	1. Definition of a complaint
	2. Exclusions
	3. Accessibility and awareness
	4. Complaint handling staff
	5. The complaint handling process
	6. Complaints stages
	Stage 1
	Stage 2

	7. Putting things right
	8. Self-assessment, reporting and compliance
	9. Scrutiny & oversight: continuous learning and improvement

	Appendix A: Self-assessment form
	Section 1: Definition of a complaint
	Section 2: Exclusions
	Section 3: Accessibility and Awareness
	Section 4: Complaint Handling Staff
	Section 5: The Complaint Handling Process
	Section 6: Complaints Stages
	Section 7: Putting things right
	Section 8: Putting things right
	Section 9: Scrutiny & oversight: continuous learning and improvement
	Appendix B – Service request or complaint – flow charts

	New LGSCO and HO Complaint Handling Codes 2024 - Appendix 3

	8 Constitutional Changes
	ConstitutionReport_AppendixA
	ConstitutionReport_AppendixB
	ConstitutionReport_AppendixC
	ConstitutionReport_AppendixD1
	ConstitutionReport_AppendixD2

	9 Annual Update

	Section 1: Do we follow the Code?: 
	Section 2: Do we follow the Code?: 
	Section 3: Do we follow the Code?: 
	Section 4: Do we follow the code: 
	Section 5: Do we follow the code: 
	Section 6: 
	1: Do we follow the code: 
	2: Do we follow the code: 
	1: Explanations and commentary: 
	2: Explanations and commentary: 

	Section 7: Do we follow the code: 
	Section 8: Do we follow the code: 
	Section 9: Do we follow the code: 
	Section 1: Explanations and commentary: 
	Section 2: Explanations and commentary: 
	Section 3: Explanations and commentary: 
	Section 4: Explanations and commentary: 
	Section 5: Explanations and commentary: 
	Section 7: Explanations and commentary: 
	Section 8: Explanations and commentary: 
	Section 9: Explanations and commentary: 


